¥i¥ Shropshire

Council

Shropshire Council

Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall

Abbey Foregate

Shrewsbury

SY2 6ND

Date: Tuesday, 13 September 2016

Committee:
Pensions Committee

Date: Friday, 17 March 2017
Time: 10.00 am

Venue: Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2

6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting.
The Agenda is attached.

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of the Committee:
Thomas Biggins

Anne Chebsey

Andrew Davies

Malcolm Pate

Co-opted Members (Voting):
Malcolm Smith
David Wright

Co-opted Members (Non-Voting):
Jean Smith (Pensioner Representative)
Nigel Neat (Employee Representative)
Vacancy (Employee Representative)

www.shropshire.gov.uk
General Enquiries: 0845 678 9000

Printed on recycled paper



Substitute Members of the Committee:
Joyce Barrow (SC)

Roger Evans (SC)

Stuart West (SC)

Michael Wood (SC)

Lee Carter (T&W)

Adrian Lawrence (T&W)

Vacancy (Pensioner Rep)

Vacancy (Employee Rep)

Your Committee Officer is:

Tim Ward Committee Officer
Tel: 01743 257713
Email: tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk




AGENDA

Apologies for Absence and Substitutions

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

Members are reminded that they must not participate in the discussion and
voting on any matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and
should leave the room prior to the commencement of the debate

Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 8)

The minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2016 are attached for
confirmation marked 3.

Contact Tim Ward (01743 257713)

Public Questions

To receive any public questions or petitions from the public, notice of which has
been given in accordance with Procedure Rule 14.

The deadline for this meeting is 5.00pm on Tuesday 14 March 2017

Investec (Global Equities)

To receive a presentation from Steven Lee and lan Vose

Aon Hewitt (Investment Strategy Review)

To receive a presentation from Louis-Paul Hill and John Belgrove

Pimco (llliquid and Opportunistic Credit Market)

To receive a presentation from Ed Berry

Grant Thornton - Shropshire County Pension Fund Audit Plan 2016/17 and
Audit Risk Assessment for the Shropshire County Pension Fund 2016/17
(Pages 9 - 42)

The report of Grant Thornton is attached marked 8



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

Funding Strategy Statement (Pages 43 - 76)

The report of the Head of Treasury & Pensions is attached marked 9

Investment Strategy Statement (Pages 77 - 96)

The report of the Head of Treasury and Pensions is attached marked 10

Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017-18 (Pages 97 - 106)

The report of the Head of Treasury & Pensions is attached marked 11

Schedule of Committee and Other Meetings 2017/18 (Pages 107 - 112)

The report of the Head of Treasury & Pensions is attached marked 12

Corporate Governance Monitoring (Pages 113 - 172)

The report of the Investment Officer is attached marked 13

Pensions Administration Monitoring report (Pages 173 - 256)

The report of the Pension Administration Manager is attached marked 14

Exclusion of Press and Public

To consider a resolution under paragraph 10.2 of the Council's Access to
Information Procedure Rules that the proceedings of the Committee in relation
to Agenda Items 16 to 18 shall not be conducted in public on the grounds that

they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by the
categories specified against them

Exempt Minutes (Exempted by Categories 2 and 3) (Pages 257 - 260)

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2016 are attached for
confirmation marked 3.

Contact Tim Ward (01743 257713)

Investment Monitoring Report (Exempted by Category 3) (Pages 261 - 308)

The Exempt Report of the Head of Treasury and Pensions is attached marked
17



18 Record of Breaches (Exempted by Category 3) (Pages 309 - 312)

The exempt report of the Pensions Administration Manager is attached Marked
18



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item| 3

[ Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 25 November 2016

Pensions Committee

¥a¥ Shropshire

= Council 21 September 2016

10.00 am

MINUTES OF THE PENSIONS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 25 NOVEMBER 2016
10.00 AM - 12.25 PM

Responsible Officer: Tim Ward
Email: tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel: 01743 257713

Present:

Members of the Committee:

Councillor Malcolm Pate (Chairman)

Councillors Thomas Biggins, Andrew Davies and Roger Evans (Substitute) (substitute for
Anne Chebsey)

Co-Opted Members (Voting):
Councillors David Wright

Co-Opted Members (Non-Voting):
Jean Smith

35 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions

35.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Anne Chebsey, Councillor
Malcolm Smith and Nigel Neat.

35.2 Councillor Roger Evans substituted for Councillor Chebsey

36 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

36.2 Members were reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting
on any matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave
the room prior to the commencement of the debate.

37 Minutes of the last Meeting

37.1 RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2016 be approved as a true
record and signed by the Chairman

Page 1



[ Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 25 November 2016

38 Public Questions

38.1

38.2

The following question had been received from Liz Evans: -

Given the increasing number of studies showing that fossil fuels are becoming
stranded assets, at what point, or under what conditions will you divest from fossil
fuels and invest only in sustainable investments to ensure that pension funds can
continue to meet its obligations to pension fund members?

Response: -

The Pension Committee has an overriding duty to consider its financial
responsibilities above any other considerations but it remains committed to these
important issues. It therefore does not restrict its investment managers in the
companies in which they can invest as this is contrary to the overriding financial
responsibility of the Pension Committee. Although the Fund does not restrict its
managers in the investments they make it takes corporate governance and
environmental and social responsibility seriously. The Pension Committee believe it
is more important to influence company behaviour from the inside as a shareholder.
The Shropshire Fund is addressing these responsibilities through a strategy of
responsible engagement with companies. Shropshire County Pension Fund is a
member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) which represents over
70 public sector pension funds in the UK. LAPFF recognises the issue of stranded
assets and continued fossil fuel extraction as a collective investment risk for all
asset owner funds and this is an engagement and policy priority. For companies
engaged in fossil fuel extraction, LAPFF’s approach is to undertake a robust
engagement on aligning their business models to limiting global average
temperature increases to a maximum of 2° C and to push for an orderly low carbon
transition. The Fund also employs BMO Global Asset Management to engage with
companies on the Fund’s behalf. BMO have been at the forefront of raising
concerns around potential asset stranding with a wide range of companies and the
concept has begun to resonate within these industries. BMO’s main engagement
objectives include ensuring companies’ stress test and disclose the range of
possible future energy scenarios used for their strategic planning and set clear
targets for mitigating these risks. In conclusion, the Fund takes seriously its
obligations to pension fund members through its engagement policies and LAPFF
membership but it does not restrict investment managers from investing in
companies which they feel will produce the best financial returns for the Fund.

By way of a supplementary question Ms Evans asked for further information and
examples on the engagement undertaken on behalf of the Shropshire Fund. The
Head of Treasury and Pensions agreed to forward this to her after the meeting.

39 Blackrock (Hedge Funds and Fixed Income)

30.1

Peter Hunt, John Ware and James Edwards from Blackrock gave a presentation
which set out the performance of the fund to date and future themes and strategies.
They then took questions from the Committee.

Page 2



[ Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 25 November 2016

40 Harbourvest (Private Equity)

40.1 Kathleen Bacon and Emily Archer from Harbourvest gave a presentation which
gave an overview of the company, an update on performance to date and a review
of the global market. They then took questions from the Committee

41 Mercer (Actuarial Valuation)

41.1 Mr John Livesey gave a presentation on the 2016 Actuarial Valuation. He advised
Members that the current valuation at 31 March 2016 showed a funding level of
84% which was in line with expectations.

42 Corporate Governance Monitoring

42.1 The meeting received the report of the Investment Officer which set out Corporate
Governance and socially responsible investment issues arising in the quarter 1st
July 2016 to 30t September 2016

42.2 RESOLVED:

That Members accept the position as set out in the report, Manager Voting Reports
at Appendix A and BMO Global Asset Management Responsible Engagement
Overlay Activity Report at Appendix B

43 Actuarial Valuation 2016

43.1 Members received the report of the Head of Finance, Governance & Assurance
which introduced the formal presentation of the 2016 Actuarial Valuation Report
from the Funds Actuary, Mercer.

43.2 The Head of Finance, Governance & Assurance reminded Members that there was
a requirement for funds within the pension scheme to be actuarially valued every
three years.

43.3 RESOLVED
That Members formally approve the Actuarial Valuation Report

44  Funding Strategy Statement

44.1 Members received the report of the Head of Treasury & Pensions which informed
Members of the requirement to publish an updated Funding Strategy Statement

44.2 RESOLVED:
That Members note the contents of the updated draft Funding Strategy Statement
That Members note that a further report will be brought to the next meeting of the

Pensions Committee following consultation with employers.

Page 3



[ Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 25 November 2016

45 LGPS Central Investment Pooling

451

45.2

45.3

The meeting received the report of the Head of Finance, Governance & Assurance
which outlined changes that would be required to the operational and governance
arrangements for the Shropshire County Pension Fund following the recent
amendment of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Investment
Regulations.

The Head of Finance, Governance & Assurance reminded members that the
revised regulations required all authorities to enter into joint (pooled) arrangements,
and that work had been ongoing with seven partner funds to establish a jointly
owned investment management company which would be known as ‘LGPS
Central’, he advised that following Ministerial consent to the setting up of the
company each participation council needed to formally approve the
recommendations set out in the report.

RESOLVED:

That the Pension Committee recommend that Council approve the following
recommendations:-

1.1 To enterinto an Inter Authority Agreement with Cheshire West & Chester
Council, Derbyshire County Council, Leicestershire County Council,
Nottinghamshire County Council, Staffordshire County Council,
Wolverhampton City Council and Worcestershire County Council to establish
a joint pension fund investment pool, in accordance with the requirements of
the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of
Funds) Regulations 2016 and pursuant to that Inter Authority Agreement set
up; and operate a Joint Committee under s102 of the Local Government Act
1972 to oversee the joint investment arrangements.

1.2  To agree that Cheshire West and Chester shall provide governance and
administrative support to the Joint Committee on behalf of the participating
Council’s, subject to the appropriate cost sharing arrangements in respect of
officer time and other expenses.

1.3  To become a joint shareholder of LGPS Central; a private company, limited
by shares, held solely by the participating funds named in recommendation
2.1, on a ‘one fund, one vote’ basis; incorporated for investment
management purposes and regulated under the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000.

1.4  To authorise the Shropshire Council Member who holds either the position of
Chair or Vice Chair of the Shropshire County Pension Fund, to appoint
themselves or other Shropshire Council Members of the Pension Committee
to undertake the following roles:

i) To act as the Council’s representative on the Joint Committee;

i) To exercise the Council’s voting rights as a shareholder of LGPS
Central, to be exercised in consultation with the Head of Finance
Governance & Assurance (s151 Officer) where the vote is in respect of a

Page 4



[ Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 25 November 2016

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Reserved Matter as set out in Schedule 1 of the Shareholders
agreement;

and each Member so appointed shall have delegated authority to undertake
such roles.

To agree that the Shropshire Council Members appointed under
recommendation 2.4 above shall be authorised to appoint a substitute,
provided that substitute is a Shropshire Council Member of the Pensions
Committee, and agree that, wherever possible, the Member (or their
substitute) appointed to the Joint Committee shall not be the same Member
as currently appointed to the Shareholder Forum, so as to avoid potential
conflicts of interest.

To agree that the signatory on behalf of the Council as Shareholder shall be
the Council’s Head of Legal & Democratic Services.

To appoint the Head of Finance Governance & Assurance (s151 Officer) and
Scheme Administrator of the Pension Fund or their nominated representative
to represent the Council on a Practitioner Advisory Forum, providing joint
officer support to the Joint Committee and Shareholder Forum.

To approve the revised terms of reference for the Shropshire County
Pension Fund Committee as set out in Appendix 3 to this report.

To delegate authority to the Head of Finance Governance & Assurance
(s151 Officer) in consultation with the Shropshire Council Chair or Vice Chair
of the Pension Committee to negotiate and agree all necessary legal
agreements to establish a joint asset pool and investment management
company as outlined in this report and to implement the recommendations
and to authorise their execution.

46 Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

46.1 The meeting received the report of the Pensions Administration Manager which
provided Members with monitoring information on the performance of and issues
affecting the Pensions Administration Team.

46.2 The Pensions Administration Manager advised the meeting that subsequent to the
report being written she had received a request that the Committee approve Dr
James William Boag as an Independent Registered Medical Practitioner as he
would be covering Dr Nightingale’s maternity leave.

46.3 RESOLVED:

1.

That Members accept the position as set out in the report.

2. That the Committee approve the appointment of Dr James William Boag as an

Independent Registered Medical Practitioner.

Page 5



[ Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 25 November 2016

47 Exclusion of Press and Public
471 RESOLVED:

That under paragraph 10.2 of the Council's Access to Information Procedure Rules
the proceedings of the Committee in relation to Agenda ltems 14 to 18 shall not be
conducted in public on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined by the categories specified against them

48 Exempt Minutes (Exempted by Categories 2 and 3)
48.1 RESOLVED:

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2016 be approved
as a true record and signed by the Chairman

49 Investment Monitoring Report (Exempted by Category 3)

49.1 The Committee received the exempt report of the Head of Treasury and Pensions
which provided Members with monitoring information on investment performance
and managers for the period to 30 September 2016, and reports on the technical
meetings held with managers since the quarter end.

49.2 RESOLVED:

That the position as set out in the exempt report be noted

50 New Admission Bodies (Exempted by Category 3)

50.1 The Committee received the exempt report of the Pension Administration Manager
(copy attached to the Exempt signed Minutes) which provided Members with details
regarding three new employer admissions to the Fund, all under Schedule 2 Part 3
Regulation 1(d)(i) of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013.

50.2 RESOLVED:

That the recommendations in the exempt report of the Pension Administration
Manager be approved

51 Appeals under the Internal Disputes Resolution Procedure (Exempted by
Category 3)

51.1 Members received the report of the Pensions Administration Manager which
updated them on stage 2 appeals to the Appointed Person under the Internal
Disputes Resolution Procedure

51.2 RESOLVED:

That Members note the contents of the report

Page 6



[ Minutes of Pensions Committee held on 25 November 2016

52 Record of Breaches (Exempted by Category 3)

52.1 Members received the report of the Pensions Administration Manager which In line
with the Reporting Breaches policy provided them with a report of all breaches

52.2 RESOLVED:
That Members note the content of Appendix B to the report.
(The full version of Minutes 48 to 52 constitutes exempt information under Categories

2 and 3 of Paragraph 10.4 of the Council’s Access to Information Rules and has
accordingly been withheld from publication).

Signed (Chairman)

Date:

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



o Grant Thornton

The Audit Plan
for Shropshire County Pension Fund

Ye% ended 31 March 2017
17&%arch 2017
[)

(o]

John Gregory

Director

T 07880 456 107

E john.gregory@uk.gt.com

Jim McLarnon

Manager

T 07827 876 040

E james.a.mclarnon@uk.gt.com

Dave Rowley

Executive

T 07798 561 062

E david.m.rowley@uk.gt.com




o Grant Thornton

Shropshire County Pension Fund

Grant Thornton UK LLP
The Colmore Building
20 Colmore Circus Queensway

Shirehall Birmingham
Abbey Foregate B4 6AT

T +44 (0) 121 212 4000
Shrewsbury www.grant-thornton.co.uk
SY2 6ND
17 March 2017

Dear Members of the Pensions Committee
Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund for the year ending 31 March 2017

Th-i@Audit Plan sets out for the benefit of those charged with governance (in the case of Shropshire County Pension Fund, the Pensions Committee), an overview of the
plfned scope and timing of the audit, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260. This document is to help you understand the consequences of
otgwork, discuss issues of risk and the concept of materiality with us, and identify any areas where you may request us to undertake additional procedures. It also helps us
gaima better understanding of the Fund and your environment. The contents of the Plan have been discussed with management.

Wgre required to perform our audit in line with Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and in accordance with the Code of Practice issued by the National Audit Office
(NAO) on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2015. Our responsibilities under the Code are to give an opinion on the Fund's financial statements.

As auditors we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland), which is directed towards forming and
expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial
statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view.

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process.
It is not a comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change. In particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks
which may affect the Fund or all weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit. We do not accept any responsibility for any
loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other
purpose.

We look forward to working with you during the course of the audit.

Yours sincerely

Chartered Accountants

John GngOry Grant Thomton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.
Alist of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

E L d Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and

ngagement ca its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further details

©2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17 2



Contents

Section

Understanding your business and key developments
Materiality

Significant risks identified

Other risks identified

Results of interim audit work

The audit cycle

Aud_ibfees

Ind%endence and non-audit services

Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance
—

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17

o &N Ut A

12
14
15
16
17



Understanding your business and key developments

Investment Regulations

The new investment regulations came into force on 1
November 2016 and require administering authorities to
publish new Investment Strategy Statements by 1st April
2017. The statement must be in accordance with guidance
issued by the Secretary of State and include a variety of
information. This will include the authority's assessment of
the suitability of particular investments and types of
investments, the authority's approach to risk, including the
ways in which risks are to be measured and managed and
the authority's approach to pooling investments, including
the use of collective investment vehicles and shared
services. These regulations also provide the Secretary of

te with the power to intervene in the investment function
2t a fund if he/she is satisfied that the authority is failing to

t in accordance with the regulations.

—

Niennial actuarial
valuation of the fund

The results of the triennial
review have now been
reported. Overall the
funding level has improved
from the date of the last
valuation. Members will
need to consider the
outcome of this review and
the impact this will have on
the fund in future
investment decisions.

Our response

Increased value of assets

The value of the fund's
assets has increased
significantly in the period
since 31 March 2016 in
response to global financial
developments.

Pooling Governance

Arrangements for pooling of investments continue to
develop, with DCLG expecting administering authorities to
be transferring liquid assets from April 2018. The structure
and governance of these arrangements will need to be
implemented before this date. These arrangements are likely
to have a significant impact on how the investments are
managed, who makes decisions and how investment
activities are actioned and monitored. Although much of this
operational responsibility will move to the investment pool
operator, it is key that administering authorities (through
Pension Committees and Pension Boards) continue to
operate strong governance arrangements, particularly during
the transition phase where funds are likely to have a mix of
investment management arrangements.

Local challenges

The direction of travel is for benefits payable to be greater
than contributions received for the foreseeable future. The
fund will need to adapt to this.

Key performance indicators

Net assets under management £1.67bn
Total membership 42,187
Number of employers 152

CIPFA Code of Practice 2016/17 (the Code)

The main change to the Code for Pension Funds is the
extension of the fair value disclosures required under the

Code from 2016/17.

The greatest impact is expected to be for those Funds
holding directly owned property and/or shares and Level 3
investments. These are reflected in CIPFA's pension fund
example accounts alongside further changes including an
analysis of Investment Management expenses in line with
CIPFA's Local Government Pension Scheme Management
Costs guidance, a realignment of investment classifications ,
and an additional disclosure note covering remuneration of
key management personnel which has been included in

related party transactions.

Earlier closedown

The Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015 require
councils to bring forward
the approval and audit of
financial statements to 31
July by the 2017/2018
financial year. This will
impact not only upon the
production of the Fund
accounts but also on earlier
requests for information
from employers within the
Fund.

Reliance on estimates

As the administering
authority brings forward its
year end timetable in
response to the legislative
changes, this has created
an increased reliance on
estimated year end
positions with regard to
valuation of investment
assets. This may well
present a challenge at year
end as the cumulative
impact increases the risk of
material misstatement.

We will discuss your progress in implementing revised governance structures, and share our experiences gained nationally.

e \We aim to complete all our substantive audit work of your financial statements by the end of June 2017.

As part of our opinion on your financial statements, we will consider whether your financial statements accurately reflect the changes in the 2016/17 Code

We will discuss with you your progress in implementing the requirements of the new investment regulations, highlighting any areas of good practice or concern which we have identified.

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17



Materiality

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) (ISA) 320: Materiality in planning and
performing an audit. The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but
also to disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. An item does not necessarily have to be large to be considered to have a material effect on
the financial statements. An item may be considered to be material by nature, for example, when greater precision is required (e.g. senior manager salaries and allowances).

We determine planning materiality (materiality for the financial statements as a whole determined at the planning stage of the audit) in order to estimate the tolerable level of misstatement in
the financial statements, assist in establishing the scope of our audit engagement and audit tests, calculate sample sizes and assist in evaluating the effect of known and likely misstatements in
the financial statements.

We have determined planning materiality based upon professional judgement in the context of our knowledge of the Fund. In line with previous years, we have calculated financial statements
materiality based on a proportion of net assets for the Fund. For purposes of planning the audit we have determined overall materiality to be £16,711k (being 1% of net assets). Our
assessment of materiality is kept under review throughout the audit process and we will advise you if we revise this during the audit.

Under ISA 450, auditors also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because
we would not expect that the accumulation of such amounts would have a material effect on the financial statements. "Trivial" matters are clearly inconsequential, whether taken individually
or in ageregate and whether judged by any criteria of size, nature or circumstances. We have defined the amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £8306k.

ISA$20 also requires auditors to determine separate, lower, materiality levels where there are 'particular classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures for which misstatements of
les% amounts than materiality for the financial statements as a whole could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users'. We have identified the following items
whetg separate materiality levels are appropriate:

w
Balance/transaction/disclosure Explanation Materiality level
Management expenses Due to public interest in these disclosures. 5% of the value of
expenses
Related party transactions Due to public interest in these disclosures and | 10% of the value of the

the statutory requirement for them to be made. | highest disclosure

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the financial statements; Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement,

or a combination of both; and Judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial statements are based on a consideration of the common financial information needs
of users as a group. The possible effect of misstatements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary widely, is not considered. (ISA (UK and Ireland) 320)

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17 5



Significant risks identified

An audit is focused on risks. Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK and Ireland) as risks that, in the judgment of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In
identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelthood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher

risk of material misstatement.

Significant risk

The revenue cycle
includes fraudulent
transactions

_QJ
MZRagement over-
ride of controls

—
S

Description

Under ISA (UK and Ireland) 240 there is a
presumed risk that revenue streams may be
misstated due to the improper recognition of
revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor
concludes that there is no risk of material
misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue
recognition.

Under ISA (UK and Ireland) 240 there is a non-
rebuttable presumed risk that the risk of
management over-ride of controls is present in all
entities.

Audit procedures

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at
Shropshire County Pension Fund, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue
recognition can be rebutted, because:

» there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition
+ opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

» the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Shropshire Council, mean that all
forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for Shropshire County Pension Fund.

Work planned:
Review of accounting estimates, judgments and decisions made by management

e Review of journal entry process and control environment and selection of large and unusual journal
entries for testing back to supporting documentation

¢ Review of unusual significant transactions

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, due to either size or nature,
and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." (ISA (UK

and Ireland) 315) . In making the review of unusual significant transactions "the auditor shall treat identified significant related party transactions outside the entity's normal course of
business as giving rise to significant risks." (ISA (UK and Ireland) 550)

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17



Significant risks identified (continued)

We have also identified the following significant risks of material misstatement from our understanding of the entity. We set out below the work we have completed to date

and the work we plan to address these risks.

Significant risk Description

Level 3 Investments = Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to

Valuation is significant non-routine transactions and

incorrect judgemental matters. Level 3 investments by
their very nature require a significant degree of
judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at
year end.

G| abed

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17

Audit procedures

Work completed to date:

e We have updated our understanding of your process for valuing level 3 investment through discussions
with relevant personnel from the Pension Fund during the interim audit.

e We have performed walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the process.
Further work planned:

e For a sample of investments, test valuations by obtaining and reviewing the audited accounts at latest
date for individual investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports at that date.
Reconciliation of those values to the values at 31st March with reference to known movements in the
intervening period.

e Review the qualifications of the fund managers as experts to value the level 3 investments at year end
and gain an understanding of how the valuation of these investments has been reached.

e To review the nature and basis of estimated values and consider what assurance management has
over the year end valuations provided for these types of investments.

* Review the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used.



Other risks identified

Reasonably possible risks (RPRs) are, in the auditor's judgment, other risk areas which the auditor has identified as an area where the likelihood of material misstatement
cannot be reduced to remote, without the need for gaining an understanding of the associated control environment, along with the performance of an appropriate level of
substantive work. The risk of misstatement for an RPR or other risk is lower than that for a significant risk, and they are not considered to be areas that are highly
judgmental, or unusual in relation to the day to day activities of the business.

Reasonably possible risks Description of risk Audit procedures
Investment Income Investment activity not valid. Work completed to date:
Investment income not accurate. o We have updated our understanding of your process for recognising investment income
(Accuracy) through discussion with relevant personnel from the Pension Fund during the interim
audit.
e We have performed walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the process.
U Further work planned:
8 e We will review the reconciliation of information provided by the fund managers, the
(0] custodian and the Pension Fund's own records and seek explanations for variances
—
»
Investment purchases and sales Investment activity not valid. Work completed to date:

Investment valuation not correct. o We have updated our understanding of your process for recording purchases and sales

of investment assets through discussion with relevant personnel from the Pension Fund
during the interim audit.

e We have performed walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the process.
Further work planned:

e We will review the reconciliation of information provided by the fund managers, the
custodian and the Pension Fund's own records and seek explanations for variances

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17



Other risks identified (continued)

Reasonably possible risks Description of risk
Investment values — Level 2 Valuation is incorrect. (Valuation net)
investments
Cotibutions Recorded contributions not correct. (Occurrence)
QO
(o]
D
—
N

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17

Audit procedures

Work completed to date:

We have updated our understanding of your process for valuing level 3 investment
through discussions with relevant personnel from the Pension Fund during the interim
audit.

We have performed walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the process.

Further work planned:

We will review the reconciliation of information provided by the fund managers, the
custodian and the Pension Fund's own records and seek explanations for variances.
Work completed to date:

We have selected of employee contributions (up to month 9) and requested supporting
documentation from member employer payroll departments.

We have performed walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the process.

Controls testing over occurrence, completeness and accuracy of contributions was
performed during the 2014/15 audit — ISA 330 permits us to place reliance upon the
results of these tests during the current period.

Further work planned:

Test a sample of contributions from months 10 - 12 to source data to gain assurance over
their accuracy and occurrence.

Rationalise contributions received with reference to changes in member body payrolls
and numbers of contributing pensioners to ensure that any unexpected trends are
satisfactorily explained.



Other risks identified (continued)

Reasonably possible risks Description of risk Audit procedures

Member Data Member data not correct. (Rights | Work completed to date:
and Obligations) = We have selected a sample of changes to member data during the year to month 9 and
tested to supporting documentation.
= We have performed walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the process.

= Controls testing relating to verifications with individual members was performed during the
2014/15 audit — ISA 330 permits us to place reliance upon the results of these tests
during the current period.

Further work planned:

e Sample testing of changes to member data made during the period months 10 - 12 to

. source documentation
B%efits payable Benefits improperly Work completed to date:
@ computed/claims liability = We have selected a sample of changes to member data during the year to month 9 and
i understated. (Completeness, tested to supporting documentation.
oo accuracy and occurrence)

=  We have performed walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the process.

= Controls testing over completeness, accuracy and occurrence of benefit payments was
performed during the 2014/15 audit — ISA 330 permits us to place reliance upon the
results of these tests during the current period.

Further work planned:

e Testa sample of individual pensions from the period months 10 - 12 in payment by
reference to member files.

e We will rationalise pensions paid with reference to changes in pensioner numbers and
increases applied in the year to ensure that any unusual trends are satisfactorily
explained.

"In respect of some risks, the auditor may judge that it is not possible or practicable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence only from substantive procedures. Such risks may
relate to the inaccurate or incomplete recording of routine and significant classes of transactions or account balances, the characteristics of which often permit highly automated

processing with little or no manual intervention. In such cases, the entity’s controls over such risks are relevant to the audit and the auditor shall obtain an understanding of them."
(ISA (UK and Ireland) 315)

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17 10



Other risks identified (continued)

Going concern

As auditors, we ate required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption
in the preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a
going concern” (ISA (UK and Ireland) 570). We will review the management's assessment of the going concern assumption and the disclosures in the financial
statements.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for
each material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures
will not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in the previous sections but will include:

* Administrative expenses
* Wash deposits
'gActuarial Valuation and Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits

()
R
©

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17 11



Results of interim audit work

The findings of our interim audit work, and the impact of our findings on the accounts audit approach, are summarised in the table below:

Work performed Conclusion

Internal audit We have completed a high level review of internal audit's overall Overall, we have concluded that the internal audit service
arrangements. Our work has not identified any issues which we wish | provides an independent and satisfactory service to the Fund
to bring to your attention. and that internal audit work contributes to an effective internal
We have also reviewed internal audit's work on the Fund's key control environment.
financial systems to date. We have not identified any significant Our review of internal audit work has not identified any
weaknesses impacting on our responsibilities. weaknesses which impact on our audit approach.

Entity level controls We have obtained an understanding of the overall control Our work has identified no material weaknesses which are
U environment relevant to the preparation of the financial statements likely to adversely impact on the Fund's financial statements
Q including:

8 « Communication and enforcement of integrity and ethical values
B «  Commitment to competence

» Participation by those charged with governance

* Management's philosophy and operating style

» Organisational structure

+ Assignment of authority and responsibility

* Human resource policies and practices

Review of information technology Our information systems specialist performed a high level review of | Our work has identified no material weaknesses which are

controls the general IT control environment, as part of the overall review of likely to adversely impact on the Fund's financial statements

the internal controls system.

IT (information technology) controls were observed to have been
implemented in accordance with our documented understanding.

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17 12



Results of interim audit work (continued)

Work performed

Walkthrough testing We have completed walkthrough tests of the Fund's controls
operating in areas where we consider that there is a risk of material
misstatement to the financial statements, namely investments,
benefits payable, scheme contributions and member data.

Our work has not identified any issues which we wish to bring to your
attention. Internal controls have been implemented by the Fund in
accordance with our documented understanding.

Controls testing We performed testing of the operating effectiveness of key controls
U on those information systems where we had identified a reasonably
8 possible risk of material misstatement to gain assurance about this
[0} and to reduce the amount of substantive testing performed on the
N financial statements. We tested these in 2014/15 and have rolled the
- results forward for 2016/17.

Early substantive testing Early substantive testing has been undertaken in the following areas:

Scheme contributions; a sample of contributions received for
months 1 — 9 has been selected and distributed to member
employers as required. Contributions will be agreed to supporting
documentation once received.

Member data; a sample of new starters, leavers and members
switching to deferred status during the year to month 9 has been
agreed to supporting documentation.

Benefits payable; a sample of new pensions and lump sums for
the period to month 9 has been tested by re-performing
calculations and reviewing supporting documentation to confirm
compliance with scheme rules and accuracy.

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17 13

Conclusion

Our work has not identified any weaknesses which impact on
our audit approach.

Our work identified that the key controls tested on Scheme
Contributions, Member Data and Benefits Payable systems
were operating effectively; this was achieved by observing
controls which were tested in 2014/15 to confirm that they
remained in operation during the current period. We are
therefore able to reduce the amount of substantive testing on
these areas as a result.

Our work to date has not identified any issues which we wish to
bring to your attention.



The audit cycle

The audit timeline

-5

Key dates:

Audit phases:

Planning

December 2016

Key elements

Planning meeting with management to
inform audit planning and agree audit
timetable

Issue audit working paper
requirements to management

Discussions with those charged with
governance and internal audit to
inform audit planning

Discuss draft Audit Plan with
management

Issue the Audit Plan to management
and Audit Committee

Meeting with Audit Committee to
discuss the Audit Plan

Year end:
31 Mar 2017

Interim
w/c 20/02/2017

Key elements

Document design effectiveness of key
accounting systems and processes

Review of key judgements and
estimates

Early substantive audit testing

Issue Progress report to management
and Audit Committee

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17

Close out:
23/06/2017

Final

w/c 12/06/2017
(VAVCELS))

Key elements

Audit teams onsite to
complete detailed audit testing

Audit committee:
September 2017

September 2017

Sign off:
September 2017

Debrief
October 2017

Completion

Key elements

Issue draft Audit Findings to
management

Meeting with management to discuss
Audit Findings

Issue draft Audit Findings to Audit
Committee

Audit Findings presentation to Audit
Committee

Finalise approval and signing of
financial statements and audit report



Audit Fees

Fees .
Fees for other services

Pension fund audit 23,427 Fees for other services are detailed on the following page, reflect those agreed at the
IAS 19 fee variation 1,979 time of issuing our Audit Plan. Any changes will be reported in our Audit Findings
Report and Annual Audit Letter.

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 25,406

What is included within our fees

® A reliable and risk-focused audit appropriate for your business
Our fee assumptions include: bprop ¥

® Invitations to events hosted by Grant Thornton in your sector, as well as the wider

® Supporting schedules to all figures in the accounts are supplied by the finance community

eed dates and in accordance with the agreed upon information

‘@quest list ® Ad-hoc telephone calls and queries
® e scope of the audit, and the Fund and its activities, have not ® Technical briefings and updates
GRanged significantly

® The Fund will make available management and accounting staff to
help us locate information and to provide explanations

® The accounts presented for audit are materially accurate, supporting
working papers and evidence agree to the accounts, and all audit
queries are resolved promptly.

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17



Independence and non-audit services

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have
complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and we confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial
statements.

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP individuals providing services to Shropshire County Pension Fund.

yZ abed

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17



Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance

International Standard on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISA) 260, as well as other ISAs (UK
and Ireland) prescribe matters which we are required to communicate with those
charged with governance, and which we set out in the table opposite.

This document, The Audit Plan, outlines our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit,
while The Audit Findings will be issued prior to approval of the financial statements and
will present key issues and other matters arising from the audit, together with an
explanation as to how these have been resolved.

We will communicate any adverse or unexpected findings affecting the audit on a timely
basis, either informally or via a report to the Fund.

Respective responsibilities

As &uditor we are responsible for performing the audit in accordance with ISAs (UK and
Irgignd), which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the financial
stggements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged
wifqgovernance.

Thglplan has been prepared in the context of the Statement of Responsibilities of
Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited
(http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/)

We have been appointed as the Fund's independent external auditors by the Audit
Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public bodies
in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a broad remit
covering finance and governance matters.

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice (‘the
Code') issued by the NAO and includes nationally prescribed and locally determined
work (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/). Our work considers the
Fund's key risks when reaching our conclusions under the Code.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with
governance of their responsibilities.

It is the responsibility of the Fund to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the
conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted
for. We have considered how the Fund is fulfilling these responsibilities.

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP | The Audit Plan for Shropshire County Pension Fund | 2016/17 17

Our communication plan

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those
charged with governance

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing
and expected general content of communications

Views about the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting and
financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising
during the audit and written representations that have been sought

Confirmation of independence and objectivity

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, relationships and other
matters which might be thought to bear on independence.

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and
network firms, together with fees charged.

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence
Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or
others which results in material misstatement of the financial
statements

Non compliance with laws and regulations

Expected modifications to the auditor's report, or emphasis of matter
Uncorrected misstatements

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties

Significant matters in relation to going concern

Audit
Plan

v

v

Audit
Findings

AR N NE NI



9oc abed

o GrantThornton

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited
liability partnership.

Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd
(Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are
to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate
and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires.
Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by
member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities
of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide
services to clients.

grant-thornton.co.uk

18



o Grant Thornton

Informing the audit risk assessment
for Shropshire County Pension Fund

Ye% ended 31 March 2017
17._8/Iarch 2017
(0]

N
~

John Gregory
Engagements Lead

T 07880 456 107

E john.gregory@uk.gt.com

Jim Mclarnon

Manager

T 07827876040

E james.a.mclarnon@uk.gt.com

07798 561 062
david.m.rowley@uk.gt.com



Contents

Section

Purpose

Fraud

Fraud Risk Assessment

Laws and Regulations

Impact of Laws and Regulations
Going Concern

Gogg Concern Considerations
Es%ates

Esta;ate considerations

Related Parties

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017

Page
3

4

5-6
7

8
10-11
12
13-17
18-19

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention,
which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process. Itis nota
comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and
in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which
may affect your business or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has
been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part
without our prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss
occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the
content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other
purpose.



Purpose

Shropshire County Pension Fund is required by law to administer the Pension Scheme within the geographical area of Shropshire and the responsibilities for both
administration and investments are met in-house.

The purpose of this report is to contribute towards the effective two-way communication between auditors and the Pension Fund Committee , as 'those charged
with governance'. The report covers some important areas of the auditor risk assessment where we are required to make inquities of the Pension Fund Committee
under auditing standards

Background
Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISA(UK&I)) auditors have specific responsibilities to communicate with the Pension Fund
Copmittee. ISA(UK&I) emphasise the importance of two-way communication between the auditor and the Pension Fund Committee and also specify matters
thg should be communicated.

)

TN two-way communication assists both the auditor and the Pension Fund Committee in understanding matters relating to the audit and developing a
constructive working relationship. It also enables the auditor to obtain information relevant to the audit from the Pension Fund Committee and supports the
Pension Fund Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to the financial reporting process.

Communication

As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to obtain an understanding of management processes and the Pension Fund Committee's oversight of
the following areas:

* fraud

* laws and regulations

* going concern

* accounting estimates

* related party transactions

This report includes a series of questions on each of these areas and the response we have received from the Council's management. The Audit Committee
should consider whether these responses are consistent with the its understanding and whether there are any further comments it wishes to make.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017



Fraud

Issue

Matters in relation to fraud

ISA (UK&I) 240 covers auditors responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial statements.

The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud rests with both the Pension Fund Committee and management. Management, with the oversight of
the Audit Committee, needs to ensure a strong emphasis on fraud prevention and deterrence and encourage a culture of honest and ethical behaviour. As
part of its oversight, the Pension Fund Committee should consider the potential for override of controls and inappropriate influence over the financial
regYrting process.

Q
ASCD uditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error.
Weire required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit, considering the potential for management override of controls. As part of our
audit risk assessment procedures we are required to consider risks of fraud. This includes considering the arrangements management has put in place with
regard to fraud risks including:

* assessment that the financial statements could be materially misstated due to fraud

* process for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, including any identified specific risks

* communication with the Pension Fund Committee regarding its processes for identifying and responding to risks of fraud
* communication to employees regarding business practices and ethical behaviour.

We need to understand how the Pension Fund Committee oversees the above processes. We are also required to make inquiries of both management and

the Pension Fund Committee as to their knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. These areas have been set out in the fraud risk assessment
questions below together with responses from the Council's management.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017



Fraud risk assessment

Question

Has the Pension Fund assessed the risk of material
misstatement in the financial statements due to
fraud?

What are the results of this process?

What processes does the Pension Fund have in
place to identify and respond to risks of fraud?

L€ abed

Have any specific fraud risks, or areas with a high
risk of fraud, been identified and what has been
done to mitigate these risks?

Are internal controls, including segregation of
duties, in place and operating effectively?

If not, where are the risk areas and what mitigating
actions have been taken?

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017

Management response

The Pension Fund completes its own Statement of Accounts and these accounts, including the notes to the
accounts and the Actuarial Statement, are also included within the Shropshire Council Statement of Accounts.
Fraud risks are identified by Internal Audit in their audit plan covering the council and the pension fund and all
fundamental systems which feed the statement including the pension fund accounts are reviewed annually to
ensure that controls in place are satisfactory.

The Pension Fund Accounts are also subject to an analytical review each year which considers any significant or
material changes to figures, to confirm that the accounts are presented without such misstatements.

Specific fraud risks are identified in the internal audit planning process noted above; in identifying key controls
to be assessed as part of an audit; in targeted fraud prevention work and by raising awareness of the potential
for fraud with staff, members and people working and involved with the Council and Pension Fund. This is
done through the Counter Fraud, Bribery and Anti-Corruption Strategy, Speaking up about Wrongdoing Policy,
online Meritec training package and supporting manual training packages.

In addition systems and processes are designed by managers and users to minimise the risk of fraud and
corruption.

In relation to pensioner payroll, the Fund takes part in the National Fraud Initiative scheme. Any queries
identified are investigated and resolved. Fund Managers and their appropriate Administrators are requested to
send their internal control reports to the Fund for review and exceptions noted. Internal Audit reviews the
report produced by the Treasury Team and the managers reports as part of their annual audit cycle. Quarterly
Pension Committee meeting is held to monitor the fund's investment managers and business risk including
fraud will be communicated to 'those charged with governance'.

No areas with a high risk of material fraud have been identified. If any risks are identified, recommendations for
mitigation are made to managers who then implement as necessary.

Internal controls, including whether segregation of duties exist, are reviewed by Internal Audit as part of their
routine and investigative work; exceptions are reported to managers and inform the Internal audit opinion.



Fraud risk assessment

Question

Are there any areas where there is a potential for
override of controls or inappropriate influence over
the financial reporting process (for example because
of undue pressure to achieve financial targets)?

Are there any areas where there is a potential for
misreporting override of controls or inappropriate
influence over the financial reporting process?

How does the Pension Fund Committee exercise

ovePght over management's processes for identifying

an%esponding to risks of fraud?

WHax arrangements are in place to report fraud issues

an%sks to the Audit Committee?

How does the Pension Fund communicate and
encourage ethical behaviour of its staff and
contractors?

How do you encourage staff to report their concerns
about fraud? Have any significant issues been
reported?

Are you aware of any related party relationships or
transactions that could give rise to risks of fraud?

Are you aware of any instances of actual, suspected or

alleged, Fraud within the Pension Fund as a whole
since 1 April 20167

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017

Management response

There is always the potential for an override of controls within systems however our control framework has
established secondary compensatory controls in place that would identify any such override taken place.
Financial reporting is produced and balanced from the financial system, and the reporting hierarchy allows
for checks to be performed throughout the process by the Head of Treasury and Pensions and the S151
Officer., and no areas where there is a potential for override of controls or inappropriate influence over the
financial reporting process have been identified.

No, as detailed above, there are compensatory controls in place to flag any overrides of controls.

The Internal Audit Risk Based Plan is approved by Audit Committee of the Council. Internal Audit
completes a robust review of internal controls on a risk basis and reports regularly to the Shropshire Council
Audit Committee. The Pension Fund Committee is informed of the audit opinions and seeck management
reassurance on the improvement of controls where the consequences are considered high risk. At each
meeting the Audit Committee of the Council receive an update on instances of actual, suspected or alleged
fraud investigations that have occurred since the last meeting and their outcomes. The Pensions Fund
members are informed at their meetings of any pension based issues.

The Pension Fund follows Shropshire Council’s Whistle Blowing policy and guidelines. The Pension Fund
shares the whistleblowing policy with the public and all contractors. The terms and conditions within Pension
Fund contracts also include ethical considerations for contractors and suppliers. The vision and values for the
Pension Fund identify the need for staff to act with integrity in all the undertakings we make and this is tested
and reviewed via team meetings and engagement surveys undertaken across the whole organisation.

Staff are encouraged to report their concerns about fraud as set out in the Speaking up about wrongdoing
(whistleblowing) policy and the Council’s Counter Fraud, Bribery and Anti-Corruption Strategy.

None identified.

None identified.



Laws and regulations

Issue

Matters in relation to laws and regulations

ISA (UK&I) 250 requires us to consider the impact of laws and regulations in an audit of the financial statements.

Management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee, is responsible for ensuring that the Council's operations are conducted in accordance with laws and
regulations including those that determine amounts in the financial statements.

Asanditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error,
talgyg into account the appropriate legal and regulatory framework. As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to make inquiries of
m"%agement and the Audit Committee as to whether the entity is in compliance with laws and regulations. Where we become aware of information of non-
coggpliance or suspected non-compliance we need to gain an understanding of the non-compliance and the possible effect on the financial statements.

w
Risk assessment questions have been set out below together with responses from management.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017



Impact of laws and regulations

Question

What arrangements does the Pension Fund have in place to prevent and
detect non-compliance with laws and regulations?

How does management gain assurance that all relevant laws and
regulations have been complied with?

€ abed

How is the Pension Fund Committee provided with assurance that all
relevant laws and regulations have been complied with?

Have there been any instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with law and regulation since 1 April 2016, or earlier with an
on-going impact on the 2016/17 financial statements?

What arrangements does the Pension Fund have in place to identify,
evaluate and account for litigation or claims?

Is there any actual or potential litigation or claims that would affect the
financial statements?

Have there been any reports from other regulatory bodies, such as HM
Revenues and Customs which indicate non-compliance?

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017

Management response

Each year the Council’s corporate governance arrangements and risk management
arrangements are reviewed and reported upon by Internal Audit and Risk Management
teams. This would include the Pension Fund if applicable. The Pension Fund has a
robust corporate governance and risk management process in place, which are based on
approved polices and procedures.

The Council has a Monitoring Officer and S151 Officer who provide assurance that all
relevant laws and regulations have been complied with.

The Pensions Fund has adopted the Local Government Pensions Scheme Regulations.
The Pension Committee receive regular reports of compliance from offers, who are
suitably qualified. Any non compliance would be reported to management via Internal
Audit reports and appropriate plans are put in place to remedy such issues. These would
cover the pension fund as applicable.

See above

The Section 151 Officer is not aware of any instances of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations in 2016-17. The Chair of the Pension Fund Committee is not aware
of any instances of non-compliance during 2016/17.

Risk management, insurance and legal work together to identify and evaluate any
potential litigation or claims against the Council. Any potential liabilities are highlighted
each year in the Council’s Statement of Accounts, which includes consideration of the
Pension Fund, which is consolidated into the Council's financial statements.

The Section 151 Officer is not aware of any actual or potential litigation or claims that
would affect the financial statements.

No such reports have been received.



Going concern

Issue

Matters in relation to going concern
ISA (UK&I) 570 covers auditor responsibilities in the audit of financial statements relating to management's use of the going concern assumption in the

financial statements.

The going concern assumption is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements. Under this assumption entities are viewed as continuing
in business for the foreseeable future. Assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis that the entity will be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities

in the normal course of business.

The code of practice on local authority accounting requires an authority’s financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis. Although the Pension
Fund is not subject to the same future trading uncertainties as private sector entities, consideration of the key features of the going concern provides an
ichation of the Council's financial resilience.

Q)

uditor, we are responsible for considering the appropriateness of use of the going concern assumption in preparing the financial statements and to
cepyider whether there are material uncertainties about the Council's ability to continue as a going concern that need to be disclosed in the financial
st@ftments. We discuss the going concern assumption with management and review the Council's financial and operating performance.

Going concern considerations have been set out below and management has provided its response.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017



Going concern considerations

Question

Are management or members of the Pensions Fund Committee
aware of the existence of events or circumstances that have or will
lead to the winding up of the scheme or an entry into a Pensions
Protection Fund assessment period.

Is management aware of the existence of other events or conditions
that may cast doubt on the Pension Fund's ability to continue as a
going concern?

o

Argﬁirrangements in place to report the going concern assessment to
theg@udit Committee and Pensions fund?

w
(©))

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017

Management response

No such events or circumstances are known of or considered likely in the foreseeable future.

No events or conditions have been identified.

The Pension Fund Committee consider a number of financial reports which provide them
with assurance that the Pension Fund can continue as a going concern. They also receive
reportts stating that all controls and risks have been managed appropriately and as Members
will have access to all reports produced across the Pension Fund whether public or exempt.



Estimates

Issue

Matters in relation to accounting estimates

ISA (UK&I) 540 covers auditor responsibilities relating to estimates in an audit of financial statements.

Local authorities use estimates in the preparation of their financial statements. We need to obtain an understanding of:

* how management identifies the transactions, events and conditions that give rise to the need for an accounting estimate.

* how management actually make the estimates, including the control procedures in place to minimise the risk of misstatement.

We need to be aware of all estimates that the Pension Fund use as part of their accounts preparation. These are set out overleaf.

,€ abed

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017



Estimate considerations

Underlying assumptions

- Assessment of degree of
uncertainty

- Consideration of
alternative estimates

Controls used to identify

Estimate Method estimates Use of an expert

Private Equity Private Equity investments are valued December valuation is received and cash Custodian and Fund
Manager Capital
Statement

at fair value in accordance with British [flow adjustments are used to roll
Venture Capital Association guidelines. forward the valuation to 31 March as
These investments are not publicly appropriate. Valuation is then compared
listed and as such there is a degree of  to the year end capital statement to
estimation involved in the valuation.  determine any significant fluctuations.

abed

w
He®@® Fund of The fund of funds is valued at the sum The values of the investment in hedge Fund audited accounts

Funds of the fair values provided by the funds are based on the net asset value  and control reports
Administrators of the underlying funds provided by the fund manager.
plus any adjustments deemed Assurance over the valuation are gained
necessary. These investments are not from the independent audit of the value.
publicly listed and as such there is a
degree of estimation involved in the
wvaluation.
Accruals Finance team collate accruals of Review financial systems to identified ~ No Accruals for income and

expenditure and income. Activityis ~ where goods have been received but not

accounted for in the financial year that paid for. values.
it takes place, not when money is paid Requests of service managers to identify

any other goods or services received or

Where accruals are estimated the
or received.
provided but not paid for.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017

expenditure often based on known

latest available information is used.

Change in accounting
method in year?

The Fund is currently considering
how to manage the eatlier closure
timetable for the Pension Fund
accounts and it is likely that actual
September valuations will be used
(updated for actual cashflows to
March 17) to value Private Equity
investments.

Due to the eatlier closedown of the
accounts it is also likely that the
valuations for both hedge fund
managers will be based on February
data updated for any March cashflow.
The updated monthly valuations are
usually received around the 20th
business day and this date preclude
the up to date valuation being
included in the 2016/17 custodian
tepotts.

No



Related parties

Issue

Matters in relation to related parties
ISA (UK&I) 550 covers auditor responsibilities relating to related party transactions.

Many related party transactions are in the normal course of business and may not carry a higher risk of material misstatement. However in some
circumstances the nature of the relationships and transaction may give rise to higher risks.

For local government bodies, the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) requires compliance with IAS 24:
related party disclosures. The Code identifies the following as related parties to local government bodies:

* entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by the Pension Fund (i.e. subsidiaries)

* associates

« jddht ventures in which the Pension Fund is a venturer

* an entity that has an interest in the Pension Fund that gives it significant influence over the Council

« Iy officers, and close members of the family of key officers

. I%t-employment benefit plan (pension fund) for the benefit of employees of the Council, or of any entity that is a related party of the Council.

The Code notes that, in considering materiality, regard should be had to the definition of materiality, which requires materiality to be judged from the
viewpoint of both the Pension Fund and the related party.

ISA (UK&I) 550 requires us to review your procedures for identifying related party transactions and obtain an understanding of the controls that you have

established to identify such transactions. We will also carry out testing to ensure the related party transaction disclosures you make in the financial statements
are complete and accurate.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017



Related party considerations

Question

Who are the Pension Fund's related parties?

What are the controls in place to identify, account for,
and disclose, related party transactions and

rela.tﬁnships?
Q

Ot @b

© Grant Thornton UK LLP | Informing the risk assessment | March 2017

Management response

The Pension Fund main related party is Shropshire Council., with some disclosure in relation to employee
who hold key responsibilities.

A number of arrangements are in place for identifying the nature of a related party and reported value

including:

* Maintenance of a Register of interests for Members, a register for pecuniary interests in contracts for
Officers and Senior Managers requiring disclosure of related party transactions.

* Annual return from senior managers/officers requiring confirmation that read and understood the
declaration requirements and stating details of any known related party interests.



o
Q
(@]

o)
D
a Grant Thornton

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited
liability partnership.

Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd
(Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are
to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate
and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires.
Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by
member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities
of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide
services to clients.

grant-thornton.co.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 9

¥ 3

@ S hrOpShi re Committee and Date tem

= Pensions Committee
Council

17 March 2017

10 am Public

FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

Responsible Officer Justin Bridges
e-mail:  justin.bridges@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel: (01743)
252072

1. Summary

1.1 The report informs Members of the requirement to publish an updated
Funding Strategy Statement. It sets out the Funding Strategy Statement which
forms the basis of the 2016 Actuarial Valuation.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members are asked to approve the Funding Strategy Statement at Appendix
A.

REPORT

Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal
3.1 The recommendations contained in this report are compatible with the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.

3.2  There are no direct environmental, equalities or climate change
consequences arising from this report.

3.3  Regular monitoring against published Funding Strategy Statement will give
early warning of areas of difficulty.

Financial Implications

4.1  There are no financial implications to consider in this report as the value of the
fund does not affect the resources of the Council.

Page 43


mailto:justin.bridges@shropshire.gov.uk

| Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

5.

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

6.2

7.1

7.2

Background

The requirement for LGPS administering authorities to prepare a Funding
Strategy Statement was brought in under the Local Government Pension
Scheme (England and Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2004.

The Shropshire Fund first produced a Funding Strategy Statement in 2004.
This Statement was revised in 2014 following the last actuarial valuation. The
Statement outlines the basis on which the actuarial valuation of the Fund is
conducted. It is now necessary to update the Funding Strategy Statement for
the 2016 actuarial valuation.

The Funding Strategy Statement has been prepared in accordance with
Regulation 58 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013
(as amended) and guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

Purpose of the Funding Strategy Statement
The Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) aims to;-

e establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will
identify how employers’ pension liabilities are best met going forward
by taking a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities;

e establish contributions at a level to “secure the solvency” of the pension
fund and the “long term cost efficiency”; and

e to have regard to the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a
primary rate of contribution as possible.

The FSS applies to the Fund as a whole whilst at the same time recognising
that there will be conflicting objectives which need to be reconciled. The FSS
is written and implemented by the administering authority. The position of
individual employers is reflected in the FSS but it is a single strategy for the
Fund as a whole. In recognising the position of individual employers in a
single strategy statement the FSS supports the long term sustainability of the
pension fund.

Consultation and Publication

The preparation of the Statement has run in parallel with the 2016 actuarial
valuation. In consultation with Mercer, officers have updated the FSS to
incorporate the latest valuation assumptions. A copy of the Funding Strategy
Statement (FSS) is attached at Appendix A.

In preparing the FSS the Administering Authority is required to consult with
participating employers. Employers were updated on the content of the draft
Funding Strategy Statement at the Employers Meeting on 10 November 2016.
All employers were sent a draft of the updated FSS and asked for comments

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072 FA(Q€ 44 2




Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

back by the 8 December 2016. No comments were received back during the
consultation process.

7.3  Members are asked to approve the updated FSS. Following approval copies
will be distributed electronically to employers, investment managers and
independent advisors. It will also be available on the website.

8. Monitoring and Review

8.1  The FSS must be reviewed formally at least every three years at the time of
the triennial valuation. The FSS will be monitored in the inter-valuation period.
It will be revised and published to reflect any material change in policy or to
the Investment Strategy Statement. Scheme employers will be consulted
regarding any changes.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
Pensions Committee, 25 November 2016, Draft Funding Strategy Statement.

Cabinet Member
N/A

Local Member
N/A

Appendices
A — Funding Strategy Statement

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072 Fage 4o 3




This page is intentionally left blank



FUNDING STRATEGY
STATEMENT

SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION
FUND

MARCH 2017

Shropshire Council

This Funding Strategy Statement has been prepared by Shropshire Council (the Administering
Authority) to set out the funding strategy for the Shropshire County Pension Fund (the “Fund”), in
accordance with Regulation 58 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as
amended) and guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
(CIPFA).

Page 47



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Ensuring that the Shropshire County Pension Fund (the “Fund”) has sufficient assets to meet its
pension liabilities in the long term is the fiduciary responsibility of the Administering Authority
(Shropshire Council). The Funding Strategy adopted by the Shropshire County Pension Fund will
therefore be critical in achieving this.

The purpose of this Funding Strategy Statement (“FSS”) is to set out a clear and transparent
funding strategy that will identify how each Fund employer’s pension liabilities are to be met going
forward.

The details contained in this Funding Strategy Statement will have a financial
and operational impact on all participating employers in the Shropshire
County Pension Fund.

It is imperative therefore that each existing or potential employer is aware of
the details contained in this statement.

Given this, and in accordance with governing legislation, all interested parties connected with the
Shropshire County Pension Fund have been consulted and given opportunity to comment prior to
this Funding Strategy Statement being finalised and adopted. This statement takes into
consideration all comments and feedback received.

THE FUND’S OBJECTIVE

The Administering Authority’s long term objective is for the Fund to achieve a 100%
solvency level over a reasonable time period and then maintain sufficient assets in order
for it to pay all benefits arising as they fall due. This objective will be considered on an
employer specific level where appropriate.

The general principle adopted by the Fund is that the assumptions used, taken as a whole, will be
chosen sufficiently prudently for pensions already in payment to continue to be paid, and to reflect
the commitments that will arise from members’ accrued pension rights.

The funding strategy set out in this document has been developed alongside the Fund’s
investment strategy on an integrated basis taking into account the overall financial and
demographic risks inherent in the Fund. The funding strategy includes appropriate margins to
allow for the possibility of events turning out worse than expected. Individual employer results will
also have regard to their covenant strength and the investment strategy applied to the asset shares
of those employers.

SOLVENCY AND LONG TERM COST EFFICIENCY

Each employer’s contributions are set at such a level to achieve full solvency in a
reasonable timeframe. Solvency is defined as a level where the Fund’s liabilities i.e.

benefit payments can be reasonably met as they arise.

Employer contributions are also set in order to achieve long term cost efficiency. Long term cost-
efficiency implies that contributions must not be set at a level that is likely to give rise to additional
costs in the future. For example, deferring costs to the future would be likely to result in those costs

Page 48 i




SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

being greater overall than if they were provided for at the appropriate time. Equally, the FSS must
have regard to the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a primary rate of contribution as
possible.

When formulating the funding strategy, the Administering Authority has taken into account these
key objectives and also considered the implications of the requirements under Section 13(4)(c) of
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. As part of these requirements the Government Actuary’s
Department (GAD) must, following an actuarial valuation, report on whether the rate of employer
contributions to the Fund is set at an appropriate level to ensure the “solvency” of the pension fund
and “long term cost efficiency" of the Local Government Pension Scheme (the “LGPS”) so far as
relating to the Fund.

DEFICIT RECOVERY PLAN AND CONTRIBUTIONS
£ As the solvency level of the Fund is 84% at the valuation date i.e. the assets of the Fund
Eﬁ% are less than the liabilities, a deficit recovery plan needs to be implemented such that
additional contributions are paid into the Fund to meet the shortfall.

Deficit contributions paid to the Fund by each employer will be expressed as £s amounts (flat or
increasing year on year) and it is the Fund’s objective that any funding deficit is eliminated as
quickly as the participating employers can reasonably afford given other competing cost pressures.
This may result in some flexibility in recovery periods by employer which would be at the sole
discretion of the Administering Authority. The recovery periods will be set by the Fund, although
employers will be free to select any shorter deficit recovery period if they wish. Employers may, in
certain circumstances at the discretion of the Administering Authority, also elect to make
prepayments of contributions which could result in a cash saving over the valuation certificate
period.

The objective is to recover any deficit over a reasonable timeframe, and this will be periodically
reviewed. Subject to affordability considerations a key principle will be to maintain the contributions
at the expected monetary levels from the preceding valuation (including any indexation in deficit
payments over the recovery period). Full details are set out in this FSS.

The target recovery period for the Fund as a whole is 16 years at this valuation which is 3 years
shorter than the target recovery period from the previous valuation. Subject to affordability and
other considerations individual employer recovery periods would also be expected to reduce by 3
years at this valuation.

Where there is an increase in contributions required at this valuation the employer may, at the
Administering Authority’s discretion, be permitted to step-up their total contributions over a period
of 3 years.

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS
z The actuarial assumptions used for assessing the funding position of the Fund and the
Y:1=] individual employers, the “Primary” contribution rate, and any contribution variations due
to underlying surpluses or deficits (i.e. the “Secondary” rate) are set out in an Appendix
to this FSS.

The discount rate in excess of CPI inflation (the “real discount rate”) has been derived based on
the expected return on the Fund’s assets allowing for the long term strategy set out in its

Page 49 i



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

Investment Strategy Statement (ISS). When assessing the appropriate prudent discount rate,
consideration has been given to the level of expected asset returns in excess of CPI inflation (i.e.
the rate at which the benefits in the LGPS generally increase each year). It is proposed at this
valuation the real return over CPI inflation for determining the past service liabilities is 2.35% per
annum and for determining the future service (“Primary”) contribution rates is 2.75% per annum.

Where warranted by an employer’s circumstances, the Administering Authority retains the
discretion to apply a discount rate based on a lower risk investment strategy for that employer to
protect the Fund as a whole. Such cases will be determined by the Section 151 Officer and
reported to the Committee.

The demographic assumptions are based on the Fund Actuary’s bespoke analysis for the Fund,
also taking into account the experience of the wider LGPS where relevant.

EMPLOYER ASSET SHARES

The Fund is a multi-employer pension Fund that is not formally unitised and so

individual employer asset shares are calculated at each actuarial valuation. This

means it is necessary to make some approximations in the timing of cashflows and
allocation of investment returns when deriving each employer’s asset share.

At each review, cashflows into and out of the Fund relating to each employer, any movement of
members between employers within the Fund, along with investment return earned on the asset
share, are allowed for when calculating asset shares at each valuation.

Other adjustments are also made on account of the funding positions of orphan bodies which fall to
be met by all other active employers in the Fund.

FUND POLICIES
In addition to the information/approaches required by overarching guidance and
Regulation, this statement also summarises the Fund’s practice and policies in a
number of key areas:

1. Covenant assessment and monitoring

An employer’s financial covenant underpins its legal obligation and crucially the ability to meet its
financial responsibilities to the Fund now and in the future. The strength of covenant to the Fund
effectively underwrites the risks to which the Fund is exposed. These risks include underfunding,
longevity, investment and market forces.

The strength of employer covenant can be subject to substantial variation over relatively short
periods of time and, as such, regular monitoring and assessment is vital to the overall risk
management and governance of the Fund. The employers’ covenants will be assessed and
monitored objectively in a proportionate manner, and an employer’s ability to meet their obligations
in the short and long term will be considered when determining its funding strategy.

After the valuation, the Fund will continue to monitor employers’ covenants in conjunction with their
funding positions over the inter-valuation period. This will enable the Fund to anticipate and pre-
empt any material issues arising and thus adopt a proactive approach in partnership with the
employer.

Page 50 iii



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

2. Admitting employers to the Fund

Various types of employers are permitted to join the LGPS under certain circumstances, and the
conditions upon which their entry to the Fund is based and the approach taken is determined by
the Fund’s admission policy. Examples of new employers include:

— Fund Employers

— Designated bodies - those that are permitted to join if they pass a resolution

— Admission bodies - usually arising as a result of an outsourcing or a transfer to an entity that
provides some form of public service and their funding primarily derives from local or central
government.

Certain employers may be required to provide a guarantee or alternative security before entry will
be allowed, in accordance with the Regulations and Fund policies.

3. Termination policy for employers exiting the Fund

When an employer ceases to participate within the Fund, it becomes an exiting employer under the
Regulations. The Fund is then required to obtain an actuarial valuation of that employer’s
liabilities in respect of the benefits of the exiting employer’s current and former employees, along
with a termination contribution certificate.

Where there is no guarantor who would subsume the liabilities of the exiting employer, the Fund’s
policy is that a discount rate linked to government bond yields and a more prudent longevity
assumption is used for assessing liabilities on termination. Any exit payments due should be paid
immediately although instalment plans will be considered by the Administering Authority on a case
by case basis. The Administering Authority also reserves the right to modify this approach on a
case by case basis if circumstances warrant it.

4. Insurance arrangements

The Fund may consider whether ill health retirement costs can be insured either through a third
party insurer or by setting up an internal captive insurance arrangement which pools these risks for
eligible employers. If such an arrangement is implemented the relevant employer contribution
rates will be adjusted accordingly.

Page 51 v



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

CONTENTS

EXECULIVE SUMMEAIY ...ttt s mmmmnmmm e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeenneennnnns i
L o T LT o 1o o 6
Purpose of FSS in POlICY tErMS ... s mmmmmnnnn e 8
Aims and purpose of the FUNd ...........oooo oo e e 9
Responsibilities of the Key Parties ... e 10
Solvency funding target ... ————————————— 12
Link to investment policy and the Investment strategy statement (ISS)...........ccceeeeeeicnnnnn. 15
Identification of risks and counter-measures ..........ccccccviriiime e ——————————— 17
oY T o] g 4 Yo = T Lo I =TT 20

APPENDICES

A - ACTUARIAL METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS
B - EMPLOYER DEFICIT RECOVERY PLANS
C - GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Page 52



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

1

INTRODUCTION

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) (“the 2013
Regulations”) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and
Amendment) Regulations 2014 (“the 2014 Transitional Regulations”) (collectively; “the
Regulations”) provide the statutory framework from which the Administering Authority is required to
prepare a Funding Strategy Statement (FSS). The key requirements for preparing the FSS can be
summarised as follows:

e After consultation with all relevant interested parties involved with the Shropshire County
Pension Fund (the “Fund”), the Administering Authority will prepare and publish their funding
strategy;

e |n preparing the FSS, the Administering Authority must have regard to:

— the guidance issued by CIPFA for this purpose; and

— the Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) for the Fund published under Regulation 12 of the
Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations
2016 (as amended);

e The FSS must be revised and published whenever there is a material change in either the
policy set out in the FSS or the ISS.

BENEFITS

The benefits provided by the Fund are specified in the governing legislation contained in the
Regulations referred to above. Benefits payable under the Fund are guaranteed by statute and
thereby the pensions promise is secure for members. The FSS addresses the issue of managing
the need to fund those benefits over the long term, whilst at the same time facilitating scrutiny and
accountability through improved transparency and disclosure.

The Fund is a defined benefit arrangement with principally final salary related benefits from
contributing members up to 1 April 2014 and Career Average Revalued Earnings (“CARE”)
benefits earned thereafter. There is also a “50:50 Scheme Option”, where members can elect to
accrue 50% of the full Fund benefits in relation to the member only and pay 50% of the normal
member contribution.

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

The required levels of employee contributions are specified in the Regulations. Employer
contributions are determined in accordance with the Regulations (which require that an actuarial
valuation is completed every three years by the actuary, including a rates and adjustments
certificate specifying the “primary” and “secondary” rate of the employer’s contribution).

PRIMARY RATE

The “Primary rate” for an employer is the contribution rate required to meet the cost of the future
accrual of benefits, ignoring any past service surplus or deficit, but allowing for any employer-
specific circumstances, such as its membership profile, the funding strategy adopted for that
employer, the actuarial method used and/or the employer’s covenant.

Page 53



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

The Primary rate for the whole fund is the weighted average (by payroll) of the individual
employers’ Primary rates.

SECONDARY RATE

The “Secondary rate” is an adjustment to the Primary rate to arrive at the total rate of contribution
each employer is required to pay. The Secondary rate may be expressed as a percentage
adjustment to the Primary rate, and/or a cash adjustment in each of the three years beginning 1
April in the year following the actuarial valuation.

Secondary rates for the whole fund in each of the three years shall also be disclosed. These will

be the calculated weighted average based on the whole fund payroll in respect of percentage rates
and the total amount in respect of cash adjustments.

Page 54



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

2

PURPOSE OF FSS IN POLICY TERMS

Funding is the making of advance provision to meet the cost of accruing benefit promises.
Decisions taken regarding the approach to funding will therefore determine the rate or pace at
which this advance provision is made. Although the Regulations specify the fundamental principles
on which funding contributions should be assessed, implementation of the funding strategy is the
responsibility of the Administering Authority, acting on the professional advice provided by the
actuary.

The Administering Authority’s long term objective is for the Fund to achieve a 100% solvency level
over a reasonable time period and then maintain sufficient assets in order for it to pay all benefits
arising as they fall due.

The purpose of this Funding Strategy Statement is therefore:

¢ to establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify how employers’
pension liabilities are best met going forward by taking a prudent longer-term view of funding
those liabilities;

e to establish contributions at a level to “secure the solvency” of the pension fund and the “long
term cost efficiency”,

e to have regard to the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a primary rate of contribution
as possible.

The intention is for this strategy to be both cohesive and comprehensive for the Fund as a whole,
recognising that there will be conflicting objectives which need to be balanced and reconciled.
Whilst the position of individual employers must be reflected in the statement, it must remain a
single strategy for the Administering Authority to implement and maintain.

Page 55



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

3

AIMS AND PURPOSE OF THE FUND

THE AIMS OF THE FUND ARE TO:

e manage employers’ liabilities effectively and ensure that sufficient resources are available to
meet all liabilities as they fall due

e enable employer contribution rates to be kept at a reasonable and affordable cost to the
taxpayers, scheduled, resolution and admitted bodies, while achieving and maintaining fund
solvency and long term cost efficiency, which should be assessed in light of the profile of the
Fund now and in the future due to sector changes

e maximise the returns from investments within reasonable risk parameters taking into account
the above aims.

THE PURPOSE OF THE FUND IS TO:
e receive monies in respect of contributions, transfer values and investment income, and
e pay out monies in respect of Fund benefits, transfer values, costs, charges and expenses as

defined in the 2013 Regulations, the 2014 Transitional Regulations and the Local Government
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.

Page 56



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

4

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE KEY PARTIES

The efficient and effective management of the Fund can only be achieved if all parties exercise
their statutory duties and responsibilities conscientiously and diligently. The key parties for the
purposes of the FSS are the Administering Authority (and, in particular the Pensions Committee
the individual employers and the Fund Actuary and details of their roles are set out below. Other
parties required to play their part in the fund management process are bankers, custodians,
investment managers, auditors and legal, investment and governance advisors, along with the
Local Pensions Board created under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013.

KEY PARTIES TO THE FSS

The Administering Authority should:

e operate the pension fund

e collect employer and employee contributions, investment income and other amounts due to the
pension fund as stipulated in the Regulations

e pay from the pension fund the relevant entitlements as stipulated in the Regulations

e invest surplus monies in accordance the Regulations

e ensure that cash is available to meet liabilities as and when they fall due

e take measures as set out in the Regulations to safeguard the fund against the consequences of
employer default

e manage the valuation process in consultation with the Fund’s actuary

e prepare and maintain a FSS and an ISS, both after proper consultation with interested parties,
and

e monitor all aspects of the Fund’s performance and funding, amending the FSS/ISS as
necessary

o effectively manage any potential conflicts of interest arising from its dual role as both fund
administrator and a Fund employer, and

e establish, support and monitor a Local Pension Board (LPB) as required by the Public Service
Pensions Act 2013, the Regulations and the Pensions Regulator’s relevant Code of Practice.

The Individual Employer should:

e deduct contributions from employees’ pay correctly after determining the appropriate employee
contribution rate (in accordance with the Regulations)

e pay all contributions, including their own as determined by the actuary, promptly by the due date

e develop a policy on certain discretions and exercise those discretions as permitted within the
regulatory framework

e make additional contributions in accordance with agreed arrangements in respect of, for
example, augmentation of Fund benefits, early retirement strain, and

e have regard to the Pensions Regulator’s focus on data quality and comply with any requirement
set by the Administering Authority in this context, and

o notify the Administering Authority promptly of any changes to membership which may affect

future funding. P 57
age
10



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

The Fund Actuary should:

e prepare valuations including the setting of employers’ contribution rates at a level to ensure fund
solvency after agreeing assumptions with the Administering Authority and having regard to their
FSS and the Regulations

e prepare advice and calculations in connection with bulk transfers and individual benefit-related
matters such as pension strain costs, ill health retirement costs etc

e provide advice and valuations on the termination of admission agreements

e provide advice to the Administering Authority on bonds and other forms of security against the
financial effect on the Fund of employer default

e assist the Administering Authority in assessing whether employer contributions need to be
revised between valuations as required by the Regulations

e advise on funding strategy, the preparation of the FSS and the inter-relationship between the
FSS and the ISS, and

e ensure the Administering Authority is aware of any professional guidance or other professional
requirements which may be of relevance to the Fund Actuary’s role in advising the Fund.

Page 58
11



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

5

SOLVENCY FUNDING TARGET

Securing the “solvency” and “long term cost efficiency” is a regulatory requirement. To meet these
requirements the Administering Authority’s long term funding objective is for the Fund to achieve
and then maintain sufficient assets to cover 100% of projected accrued liabilities (the “funding
target”) assessed on an ongoing past service basis including allowance for projected final pay
where appropriate. In the long term, an employer’s total contribution rate would ultimately revert to
its Primary rate of contribution.

SOLVENCY AND LONG TERM EFFICIENCY

Each employer’s contributions are set at such a level to achieve full solvency in a reasonable
timeframe. Solvency is defined as a level where the Fund’s liabilities i.e. benefit payments can be
reasonably met as they arise.

Employer contributions are also set in order to achieve long term cost efficiency. Long term cost-
efficiency implies that contributions must not be set at a level that is likely to give rise to additional
costs in the future. For example, deferring costs to the future would be likely to result in those costs
being greater overall than if they were provided for at the appropriate time.

When formulating the funding strategy the Administering Authority has taken into account these
key objectives and also considered the implications of the requirements under Section 13(4)(c) of
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. As part of these requirements the Government Actuary’s
Department (GAD) must, following an actuarial valuation, report on whether the rate of employer
contributions to the Fund is set at an appropriate level to ensure the “solvency” of the pension fund
and “long term cost efficiency" of the LGPS so far as relating to the Fund.

DETERMINATION OF THE SOLVENCY FUNDING TARGET AND DEFICIT
RECOVERY PLAN

The principal method and assumptions to be used in the calculation of the funding target are set out
in Appendix A. The Employer Deficit Recovery Plans are set out in Appendix B.

Underlying these assumptions are the following two tenets:

e that the Fund is expected to continue for the foreseeable future; and
e favourable investment performance can play a valuable role in achieving adequate funding over
the longer term.

This allows the Fund to take a longer term view when assessing the contribution requirements for
certain employers.

In considering this the Administering Authority, based on the advice of the Actuary, will consider if
this results in a reasonable likelihood that the funding plan will be successful potentially taking into
account any changes in funding after the valuation date up to the finalisation of the valuation by 31
March 2017 at the latest.

Page 59
12



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

As part of each valuation separate employer contribution rates are assessed by the Fund Actuary
for each participating employer or group of employers. These rates are assessed taking into account
the experience and circumstances of each employer, following a principle of no cross-subsidy
between the distinct employers and employer groups in the Fund.

The Administering Authority, following consultation with the participating employers, has adopted the
following objectives for setting the individual employer contribution rates arising from the 2016
actuarial valuation:

e The Fund does not believe it appropriate for contribution reductions to apply compared to the
existing funding plan (allowing for indexation where applicable) where deficits remain unless
there is compelling reason to do so.

e Where warranted by an employer’s circumstances, the Administering Authority retains the
discretion to apply a discount rate based on a lower risk investment strategy for that
employer to protect the Fund as a whole. Such cases will be determined by the Section
151 Officer and reported to the Committee.

e Subject to consideration of affordability, as a general rule the deficit recovery period will
reduce by at least 3 years for employers at this valuation when compared to the preceding
valuation. This is to target full solvency over a similar (or shorter) time horizon. Employers
will have the freedom to adopt a recovery plan on the basis of a shorter period if they so wish.
Subiject to affordability considerations and other factors, a bespoke period may be applied in
respect of particular employers where the Administering Authority considers this to be
warranted (see Deficit Recovery Plan in Appendix B). These principles have resulted in an
target recovery period of 16 years being adopted across all Fund employers.

¢ Individual employer contributions will be expressed and certified as two separate elements:
o the Primary rate: a percentage of pensionable payroll in respect of the cost of the
future accrual of benefits
o the Secondary rate: a schedule of lump sum monetary amounts over 2017/20 in
respect of an employer’s surplus or deficit

For any employer, the total contributions they are actually required to pay in any one year
is the sum of the Primary and Secondary rates (subject to an overall minimum of zero).
Both elements are subject to further review from April 2020 based on the results of the
2019 actuarial valuation.

e Where increases in employer contributions are required from 1 April 2017, following
completion of the 2016 actuarial valuation, if the Administering Authority agrees then the
increase from the rates of contribution payable in the year 2017/18 may be implemented in
steps, over a maximum period of 3 years.

e On the cessation of an employer's participation in the Fund, in accordance with the
Regulations, the Fund Actuary will be asked to make a termination assessment. Any deficit
in the Fund in respect of the employer will be due to the Fund as a termination contribution,
unless it is agreed by the Administering Authority and the other parties involved that the
assets and liabilities relating to the employer will transfer within the Fund to another

participating employer.
Page 60

13



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

¢ In all cases the Administering Authority reserves the right to apply a different approach at its
sole discretion, taking into account the risk associated with an employer in proportion to the
Fund as a whole. Any employer affected will be notified separately.

FUNDING FOR NON-ILL HEALTH EARLY RETIREMENT COSTS
Employers are required to meet all costs of early retirement strain by immediate capital payments
into the Fund.

Page 61
14



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

7

LINK TO INVESTMENT POLICY AND THE
INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT (ISS)

The results of the 2016 valuation show the liabilities to be 84% covered by the current assets, with
the funding deficit of 16% being covered by future deficit contributions.

In assessing the value of the Fund’s liabilities in the valuation, allowance has been made for growth
asset out-performance as described below, taking into account the investment strategy adopted by
the Fund, as set out in the ISS.

It is not possible to construct a portfolio of investments which produces a stream of income exactly
matching the expected liability outgo. However, it is possible to construct a portfolio which
represents the “minimum risk” investment position which would deliver a very high certainty of real
returns above assumed CPl inflation. Such a portfolio would consist of a mixture of long-term index-
linked, fixed interest gilts and possible swaps.

Investment of the Fund’s assets in line with this portfolio would minimise fluctuations in the Fund’s
funding position between successive actuarial valuations.

If, at the valuation date, the Fund had been invested in this portfolio, then in carrying out this valuation
it would not be appropriate to make any allowance for growth assets out-performance or any
adjustment to market implied inflation assumption due to supply/demand distortions in the bond
markets. This would result in real return versus CPI inflation of nil per annum at the valuation date.
On this basis of assessment, the assessed value of the Fund’s liabilities at the valuation would have
been significantly higher, resulting in a funding level of 51%.

Departure from a minimum risk investment strategy, in particular to include growth assets such as
equities, gives a better prospect that the assets will, over time, deliver returns in excess of CPI
inflation and reduce the contribution requirements. The target solvency position of having sufficient
assets to meet the Fund’s pension obligations might in practice therefore be achieved by a range of
combinations of funding plan, investment strategy and investment performance.

The current strategy is:

Asset Class Allocation Control Ranges
Total Equity 52.0 47.0-57.0
Unconstrained Global Equity 240 20.0-28.0
UK Equity 8.0 55-10.5
Passive Equity (100% Hedged to GBP) 20.0 16.0-24.0
Total Alternatives 23.0 18.0 - 28.0
European (Incl UK) Property 5.0 n/a
Private Equity 5.0 n/a
Infrastructure 3.0 n/a
Fund of Hedge Funds 5.0 n/a
Multi-Strategy Hedge Funds 5.0 n/a
Total Bonds 25.0 20.0 - 30.0
Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 3.5 2.0-5.0
Unconstrained Bonds — e 215 17.5-25.5
Fage ok

15



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

The investment strategy and return expectations set out above equate to an overall best estimate
average expected return of around 3.25% per annum in excess of CPI inflation. For the purposes
of setting funding strategy however, the Administering Authority believes that it is appropriate to
take a margin for prudence on these return expectations.

Page 63
16



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

8

IDENTIFICATION OF RISKS AND COUNTER-
MEASURES

The funding of defined benefits is by its nature uncertain. Funding of the Fund is based on both
financial and demographic assumptions. These assumptions are specified in the actuarial valuation
report. When actual experience is not in line with the assumptions adopted a surplus or shortfall will
emerge at the next actuarial assessment and will require a subsequent contribution adjustment to
bring the funding back into line with the target.

The Administering Authority has been advised by the Fund Actuary that the greatest risk to the
funding level is the investment risk inherent in the predominantly equity based strategy, so that actual
asset out-performance between successive valuations could diverge significantly from that assumed
in the long term.

FINANCIAL
The financial risks are as follows:-

e Investment markets fail to perform in line with expectations

e Market outlook moves at variance with assumptions

¢ Investment Fund Managers fail to achieve performance targets over the longer term

e Asset re-allocations in volatile markets may lock in past losses

e Pay and price inflation significantly more or less than anticipated

e Future underperformance arising as a result of participating in the larger asset pooling vehicle.

Any increase in employer contribution rates (as a result of these risks), may in turn impact on the
service delivery of that employer and their financial position.

In practice the extent to which these risks can be reduced is limited. However, the Fund’s asset
allocation is kept under constant review and the performance of the investment managers is regularly
monitored.

DEMOGRAPHIC
The demographic risks are as follows:-

e Longevity horizon continues to expand
e Deteriorating pattern of early retirements (including those granted on the grounds of ill health)

¢ Unanticipated acceleration of the maturing of the Fund resulting in materially negative cashflows
and shortening of liability durations

e The level of take-up of the 50:50 option at a higher or lower level than built into the actuarial
assumptions.

Increasing longevity is something which government policies, both national and local, are designed
to promote. It does, however, result in a greater liability for pension funds.

Apart from the regulatory procedures in place to ensure that ill-health retirements are properly
controlled, employing bodies should bpdﬂ@merything in their power to minimise the

17



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

number of ill-health retirements. Early retirements for reasons of redundancy and efficiency do
not affect the solvency of the Fund because they are the subject of a direct charge.

With regards to increasing maturity (e.g. due to further cuts in workforce and/or restrictions on new
employees accessing the Fund), the Administering Authority regularly monitors the position in terms
of cashflow requirements and considers the impact on the investment strategy.

INSURANCE OF CERTAIN BENEFITS

The contributions for any employer may be varied as agreed by the Actuary and Administering
Authority to reflect any changes in contribution requirements as a result of any benefit costs being
insured with a third party or internally within the Fund.

REGULATORY
The key regulatory risks are as follows:-

¢ Changes to Regulations, e.g. changes to the benefits package, retirement age, potential new
entrants to Fund,

e Changes to national pension requirements and/or HMRC Rules

Membership of the LGPS is open to all local government staff and should be encouraged as a
valuable part of the contract of employment. However, increasing membership does result in higher
employer monetary costs.

GOVERNANCE

The Fund has done as much as it believes it reasonably can to enable employing bodies and Fund
members (via their representatives on the Local Pension Board) to make their views known to the
Fund and to participate in the decision-making process.

Governance risks are as follows:-

e The quality of membership data deteriorates materially due to breakdown in processes for
updating the information resulting in liabilities being under or overstated

e Administering Authority unaware of structural changes in employer's membership (e.g. large fall
in employee numbers, large number of retirements) with the result that contribution rates are set
at too low a level

¢ Administering Authority not advised of an employer closing to new entrants, something which
would normally require an increase in contribution rates

e An employer ceasing to exist with insufficient funding or adequacy of a bond. Where there is a
guarantor body in place, any outstanding funding deficit that is not recovered from the outgoing
employer / bond will need to be paid by the guarantor (or the assets and liabilities for the
outgoing employer will need to be subsumed by the guarantor). For cases where there is no
guarantor or bond in place, any outstanding funding deficit that is not recovered from the
outgoing employer will need to be subsumed by the Fund as a whole and spread across all
employers.

e Changes in the Committee membership.

For these risks to be minimised much depends on information being supplied to the Administering
Authority by the employing bodies. Arrangements are strictly controlled and monitored, but in most
cases the employer, rather than the Fund as a whole, bears the risk.

Page 65
18



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

9

MONITORING AND REVIEW

The Administering Authority has taken advice from the actuary in preparing this Statement, and has
consulted with the employers participating in the Fund.

A full review of this Statement will occur no less frequently than every three years, to coincide with
completion of a full actuarial valuation. Any review will take account of the current economic
conditions and will also reflect any legislative changes.

The Administering Authority will monitor the progress of the funding strategy between full actuarial
valuations. If considered appropriate, the funding strategy will be reviewed (other than as part of the
triennial valuation process), for example, if there:

¢ has been a significant change in market conditions, and/or deviation in the progress of the
funding strategy

¢ have been significant changes to the Fund membership, or LGPS benefits

e have been changes to the circumstances of any of the employing authorities to such an extent
that they impact on or warrant a change in the funding strategy

e have been any significant special contributions paid into the Fund.

When monitoring the funding strategy, if the Administering Authority considers that any action is
required, the relevant employing authorities will be contacted. In the case of admitted bodies, there
is statutory provision for rates to be amended between valuations but it is unlikely that this power
will be invoked other than in exceptional circumstances.

Page 66
19



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

APPENDIX A - ACTUARIAL
METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS

METHOD

The actuarial method to be used in the calculation of the solvency funding target is the Projected
Unit method, under which the salary increases assumed for each member are projected until that
member is assumed to leave active service by death, retirement or withdrawal from service. This
method implicitly allows for new entrants to the Fund on the basis that the overall age profile of the
active membership will remain stable. As a result, for those employers which are closed to new
entrants, an alternative method is adopted, which makes advance allowance for the anticipated
future ageing and decline of the current closed membership group potentially over the period of the
rates and adjustments certificate.

FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS — SOLVENCY FUNDING TARGET

Investment return (discount rate)

The discount rate has been derived based on the expected return on the Fund assets base on the
long term strategy set out in the Investment Strategy Statement (ISS). It includes appropriate
margins for prudence. When assessing the appropriate discount rate consideration has been given
to the returns in excess of CPI inflation (as derived below). The discount rate at the valuation has
been derived based on an assumed return of 2.35% per annum above CPI inflation i.e. a real return
of 2.35% per annum, equating to a total discount rate of 4.55% per annum. This real return will be
reviewed from time to time based on the investment strategy, market outlook and the Fund’s overall
risk metrics.

Where warranted by an employer’s circumstances, the Administering Authority retains the
discretion to apply a discount rate based on a lower risk investment strategy for that employer to
protect the Fund as a whole.

Inflation (Consumer Prices Index)

The inflation assumption will be taken to be the investment market’s expectation for RPI inflation as
indicated by the difference between yields derived from market instruments, principally conventional
and index-linked UK Government gilts as at the valuation date, reflecting the profile and duration of
the Fund’s accrued liabilities, but subject to the following two adjustments:

= an allowance for supply/demand distortions in the bond market is incorporated, and

= an adjustment due to retirement pensions being increased annually by the change in the
Consumer Price Index rather than the Retail Price Index

The overall reduction to RPI inflation at the valuation date is 1.0% per annum.

Salary increases

In relation to benefits earned prior to 1 April 2014, the assumption for real salary increases (salary
increases in excess of price inflation) will be determined by an allowance of 1.5% p.a. over the
inflation assumption as described above. This includes allowance for promotional increases. In the
shorter term, the long term salary increase assumption has been replaced by an assumption of 1.0%

Page 67
20



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

per annum for the period to 2019/20, reflecting expected short term pay restraint in the public sector
over this period.

Pension increases/Indexation of CARE benefits

Increases to pensions are assumed to be in line with the inflation (CPI) assumption described above.
This is modified appropriately to reflect any benefits which are not fully indexed in line with the CPI
(e.g. Guaranteed Minimum Pensions where the LGPS is not required to provide full indexation).

DEMOGRAPHIC ASSUMPTIONS

Mortality/Life Expectancy

The mortality in retirement assumptions will be based on the most up-to-date information in relation
to self-administered pension schemes published by the Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI),
making allowance for future improvements in longevity and the experience of the Fund. The mortality
tables used are set out below, with a loading reflecting Fund specific experience. The derivation of
the mortality assumption is set out in a separate paper as supplied by the Actuary. Current members
who retire on the grounds of ill health are assumed to exhibit average mortality equivalent to that for
a good health retiree at an age 4 years older whereas for existing ill health retirees we assume this
is at an age 3 years older. For all members, it is assumed that the accelerated trend in longevity
seen in recent years will continue in the longer term and as such, the assumptions build in a minimum
level of longevity ‘improvement’ year on year in the future in line with the CMI projections with a long-
term improvement trend of 1.5% per annum.

The mortality before retirement has also been adjusted based on LGPS wide experience.

Commutation

It has been assumed that, on average, 50% of retiring members will take the maximum tax-free cash
available at retirement and 50% will take the standard 3/80ths cash sum. The option which members
have to commute part of their pension at retirement in return for a lump sum is a rate of £12 cash for
each £1 p.a. of pension given up.

Other Demographics

Following an analysis of Fund experience carried out by the Actuary, the incidence of ill health
retirements, withdrawal rates and the proportions married/civil partnership assumption have been
modified from the last valuation. In addition, no allowance will be made for the future take-up of the
50:50 option (an allowance of 10% of current and future members (by payroll) for certain employers
was made at the last valuation). Where any member has actually opted for the 50:50 scheme, this
will be allowed for in the assessment of the rate for the next 3 years. Other assumptions are as per
the last valuation.

Expenses

Expenses are met out the Fund, in accordance with the Regulations. This is allowed for by adding
0.6% of pensionable pay to the contributions as required from participating employers. This addition
is reassessed at each valuation. Investment expenses have been allowed for implicitly in determining
the discount rates.

Discretionary Benefits
The costs of any discretion exercised by an employer in order to enhance benefits for a member
through the Fund will be subject to additional contributions from the employer as required by the

Page 68
21



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

Regulations as and when the event occurs. As a result, no allowance for such discretionary benefits
has been made in the valuation

METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATING THE COST OF
FUTURE ACCRUAL (OR PRIMARY RATE)

The future service liabilities are calculated using the same assumptions as the funding target except
that a different financial assumption for the discount rate is used. A critical aspect here is that the
Regulations state the desirability of keeping the “Primary Rate” (which is the future service rate) as
stable as possible so this needs to be taken into account when setting the assumptions.

As future service contributions are paid in respect of benefits built up in the future, the FSR should
take account of the market conditions applying at future dates, not just the date of the valuation, thus
it is justifiable to use a slightly higher expected return from the investment strategy. In addition the
future liabilities for which these contributions will be paid have a longer average duration than the
past service liabilities as they relate to active members only.

The financial assumptions in relation to future service (i.e. the normal cost) are not specifically linked
to investment conditions as at the valuation date itself, and are based on an overall assumed real
discount rate of 2.75% per annum above the long term average assumption for consumer price
inflation of 2.2% per annum, giving a total discount rate of 4.95% per annum.

EMPLOYER ASSET SHARES

The Fund is a multi-employer pension Fund that is not formally unitised and so individual employer
asset shares are calculated at each actuarial valuation. This means it is necessary to make some
approximations in the timing of cashflows and allocation of investment returns when deriving the
employer asset share.

In attributing the overall investment performance obtained on the assets of the Fund to each
employer a pro-rata principle is adopted. This approach is effectively one of applying a notional
individual employer investment strategy identical to that adopted for the Fund as a whole unless
agreed otherwise between the employer and the Fund at the sole discretion of the Administering
Authority.

At each review, cashflows into and out of the Fund relating to each employer, any movement of
members between employers within the Fund, along with investment return earned on the asset
share, are allowed for when calculating asset shares at each valuation.

Other adjustments are also made on account of the funding positions of orphan bodies which fall to
be met by all other active employers in the Fund.

Page 69
22



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND

SUMMARY OF KEY WHOLE FUND ASSUMPTIONS USED FOR
CALCULATING FUNDING TARGET AND COST OF FUTURE ACCRUAL (THE
‘PRIMARY RATE”) FOR THE 2016 ACTUARIAL VALUATION

FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

Long-term yields

Market implied RPI inflation 3.2% p.a.
Solvency Funding Target financial
assumptions
Investment return/Discount Rate 4.35% p.a.
CPI price inflation 2.2% p.a.
Long Term Salary increases 3.7% p.a.
Pension increases/indexation of CARE
. 2.2% p.a.
benefits
Future service accrual financial
assumptions
Investment return/Discount Rate 4.95% p.a.
CPI price inflation 2.2% p.a.
Long Term Salary increases 3.7% p.a.
Pension increases/indexation of CARE
2.2% p.a.

benefits

Life expectancy assumptions

The post retirement mortality tables adopted for this valuation, along with sample life expectancies,

are set out below:

Base Table

Improvements Adjustment (M / F)

Current pensioners:

Normal health S2PA CMI_2015 [1.5%)] 95% / 83%

lll-health S2PA CMI_2015 [1.5%] Normal health + 3 years
Dependants S2PMA / S2DFA  CMI_2015 [1.5%] 115% /1 93%

Future dependants S2PMA / S2DFA CMI_2015 [1.5%] 113% / 96

Current active / deferred:

Active normal health S2PA CMI_2015 [1.5%] 95% / 83%

Active ill-health S2PA CMI_2015 [1.5%] Normal health + 4 years
Deferred S2PA CMI_2015 [1.5%] 95% / 83%

Future dependants S2PMA / S2DFA CMI_2015 [1.5%] 113% / 96%

Other demographic assumptions are set out in the Actuary’s formal report.

Page 70

23



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

APPENDIX B - EMPLOYER
DEFICIT RECOVERY PLANS

As the assets of the Fund are less than the liabilities at the effective date, a deficit recovery plan
needs to be adopted such that additional contributions are paid into the Fund to meet the shortfall.

Deficit contributions paid to the Fund by each employer will be expressed as £s amounts and it is
the Fund’s objective that any funding deficit is eliminated as quickly as the participating employers
can reasonably afford based on the Administering Authority’s view of the employer’s covenant and
risk to the Fund.

Recovery periods will be set by the Fund on a consistent basis across employer categories where
possible and communicated as part of the discussions with employers. This will determine the
minimum contribution requirement and employers will be free to select any shorter deficit recovery
period and higher contributions if they wish, including the option of prepaying the deficit
contributions in one lump sum (either on annual basis or a one-off payment). This will be reflected
in the monetary amount requested via a reduction in overall £ deficit contributions payable.

The determination of the recovery periods is summarised in the table below:

Target Deficit Recovery o
Category

Fund Employers 16 years Determined by reducing the
recovery period from the preceding
valuation by at least 3 years and to
ensure contributions do not reduce
versus those expected from the
existing plan.

Open Admitted Bodies 16 years Determined by reducing the
recovery period from the preceding
valuation by at least 3 years and to
ensure contributions do not reduce
versus those expected from the
existing plan.

Determined by the future working
life of the membership, and to
ensure contributions do not reduce
versus those expected from the

Minimum of 16 years and the future

ez Emp By working lifetime of the membership

existing plan.
Employers with a limited Determined on a case by case Length of expected period of
participation in the Fund basis participation in the Fund

In determining the actual recovery period to apply for any particular employer or employer
grouping, the Administering Authority may take into account some or all of the following factors:

e The size of the funding shortfall;

e The business plans of the employer;

e The assessment of the financial covenant of the Employer, and security of future income
streams;

e Any contingent security available to the Fund or offered by the Employer such as guarantor
or bond arrangements, charge over assets, etc.

Page 71
24



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

The objective is to recover any deficit over a reasonable timeframe, and this will be periodically
reviewed. Subject to affordability considerations a key principle will be to maintain the contributions
at the expected monetary levels from the preceding valuation (allowing for any indexation in deficit
payments over the recovery period).

Other factors affecting the Employer Deficit Recovery Plans

As part of the process of agreeing funding plans with individual employers, the Administering
Authority will consider the use of contingent assets and other tools such as bonds or guarantees
that could assist employing bodies in managing the cost of their liabilities or could provide the Fund
with greater security against outstanding liabilities. All other things equal this could result in a
longer recovery period being acceptable to the Administering Authority, although employers will still
be expected to at least cover expected interest costs on the deficit.

It is acknowledged by the Administering Authority that, whilst posing a relatively low risk to the
Fund as a whole, a number of smaller employers may be faced with significant contribution
increases that could seriously affect their ability to function in the future. The Administering
Authority therefore would be willing to use its discretion to accept an evidenced based affordable
level of contributions for the organisation for the three years 2017/2020. Any application of this
option is at the ultimate discretion of the Fund officers and Section 151 officer in order to effectively
manage risk across the Fund. It will only be considered after the provision of the appropriate
evidence as part of the covenant assessment and also the appropriate professional advice.

For those bodies identified as having a weaker covenant, the Administering Authority will need to
balance the level of risk plus the solvency requirements of the Fund with the sustainability of the
organisation when agreeing funding plans. As a minimum, the annual deficit payment must meet
the on-going interest costs to ensure, everything else being equal, that the deficit does not increase
in monetary terms.

Notwithstanding the above, the Administering Authority, in consultation with the actuary, has also
had to consider whether any exceptional arrangements should apply in particular cases.

Page 72
25



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

APPENDIX C - GLOSSARY

Actuarial Valuation: an investigation by an actuary into the ability of the Fund to meet its
liabilities. For the LGPS the Fund Actuary will assess the funding level of each participating
employer and agree contribution rates with the administering authority to fund the cost of new
benefits and make good any existing deficits as set out in the separate Funding Strategy
Statement. The asset value is based on market values at the valuation date.

Administering Authority: the council with a statutory responsibility for running the Fund and
that is responsible for all aspects of its management and operation.

Admission bodies: A specific type of employer under the Local Government Pension Scheme
(the “LGPS”) who do not automatically qualify for participation in the Fund but are allowed to join if
they satisfy the relevant criteria set out in the Regulations.

Benchmark: a measure against which fund performance is to be judged.

Best Estimate Assumption: an assumption where the outcome has a 50/50 chance of being
achieved.

Bonds: loans made to an issuer (often a government or a company) which undertakes to repay
the loan at an agreed later date. The term refers generically to corporate bonds or government
bonds (gilts).

Career Average Revalued Earnings Scheme (CARE): with effect from 1 April 2014,
benefits accrued by members in the LGPS take the form of CARE benefits. Every year members
will accrue a pension benefit equivalent to 1/49th of their pensionable pay in that year. Each annual
pension accrued receives inflationary increases (in line with the annual change in the Consumer
Prices Index) over the period to retirement.

CPI: acronym standing for “Consumer Prices Index”. CPI is a measure of inflation with a basket of
goods that is assessed on an annual basis. The reference goods and services differ from those of
RPI. These goods are expected to provide lower, less volatile inflation increases. Pension
increases in the LGPS are linked to the annual change in CPI.

Covenant: the assessed financial strength of the employer. A strong covenant indicates a
greater ability (and willingness) to pay for pension obligations in the long run. A weaker covenant
means that it appears that the employer may have difficulties meeting its pension obligations in full
over the longer term or affordability constraints in the short term.

Deficit: the extent to which the value of the Fund’s past service liabilities exceeds the value of
the Fund’s assets. This relates to assets and liabilities built up to date, and ignores the future build-
up of pension (which in effect is assumed to be met by future contributions).

Deficit recovery period: the target length of time over which the current deficit is intended to
be paid off. A shorter period will give rise to a higher annual contribution, and vice versa.

Discount Rate: the rate of interest used to convert a cash amount e.g. future benefit payments
occurring in the future to a present value. Paqe 73

26



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

Employer's Future Service Contribution Rate: the contribution rate payable by an
employer, expressed as a % of pensionable pay, as being sufficient to meet the cost of new
benefits being accrued by active members in the future. The cost will be net of employee
contributions and will include an allowance for the expected level of administrative expenses.

Employing bodies: any organisation that participates in the LGPS, including admission bodies
and Fund employers.

Equities: shares in a company which are bought and sold on a stock exchange.

Fund / Scheme Employers: employers that have the statutory right to participate in the
LGPS. These organisations (set out in Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations) would not
need to designate eligibility, unlike the Part 2 Fund Employers.

Funding or solvency Level: the ratio of the value of the Fund’s assets and the value of the
Fund’s liabilities expressed as a percentage.

Funding Strategy Statement: this is a key governance document that outlines how the
administering authority will manage employer’s contributions and risks to the Fund.

Government Actuary's Department (GAD): the GAD is responsible for providing
actuarial advice to public sector clients. GAD is a non-ministerial department of HM Treasury.

Guarantee / guarantor: a formal promise by a third party (the guarantor) that it will meet any
pension obligations not met by a specified employer. The presence of a guarantor will mean, for
instance, that the Fund can consider the employer’s covenant to be as strong as its guarantor’s.

Investment Strategy: the long-term distribution of assets among various asset classes that
takes into account the Funds objectives and attitude to risk.

Letting employer: an employer that outsources part of its services/workforce to another
employer, usually a contractor. The contractor will pay towards the LGPS benefits accrued by the
transferring members, but ultimately the obligation to pay for these benefits will revert to the letting
employer.

Liabilities: the actuarially calculated present value of all benefit entittements i.e. Fund cashflows
of all members of the Fund, built up to date or in the future. The liabilities in relation to the benefit
entitlements earned up to the valuation date are compared with the present market value of Fund
assets to derive the deficit and funding/solvency level. Liabilities can be assessed on different set
of actuarial assumptions depending on the purpose of the valuation.

LGPS: the Local Government Pension Scheme, a public sector pension arrangement put in place
via Government Regulations, for workers in local government. These Regulations also dictate
eligibility (particularly for Scheduled Bodies), members’ contribution rates, benefit calculations and
certain governance requirements.

Maturity: a general term to describe a Fund (or an employer’s position within a Fund) where the
members are closer to retirement (or more of them already retired) and the investment time
horizon is shorter. This has implications for investment strategy and, consequently, funding
strategy.

Page 74
27



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

Members: The individuals who have built up (and may still be building up) entittement in the
Fund. They are divided into actives (current employee members), deferreds (ex-employees who
have not yet retired) and pensioners (ex-employees who have now retired, and dependants of
deceased ex-employees).

Minimum risk basis: an approach where the discount rate used to assess the liabilities is
determined based on the market yields of Government bond investments based on the appropriate
duration of the liabilities being assessed. This is usually adopted when an employer is exiting the
Fund.

Orphan liabilities: liabilities in the Fund for which there is no sponsoring employer within the
Fund. Ultimately orphan liabilities must be underwritten by all other employers in the Fund.

Percentiles: relative ranking (in hundredths) of a particular range. For example, in terms of
expected returns a percentile ranking of 75 indicates that in 25% of cases, the return achieved
would be greater than the figure, and in 75% cases the return would be lower.

Phasing/stepping of contributions: when there is an increase/decrease in an employer’s
long term contribution requirements, the increase in contributions can be gradually stepped or
phased in over an agreed period. The phasing/stepping can be in equal steps or on a bespoke
basis for each employer.

Pooling: employers may be grouped together for the purpose of calculating contribution rates,
(i.e. a single contribution rate applicable to all employers in the pool). A pool may still require each
individual employer to ultimately pay for its own share of deficit, or (if formally agreed) it may allow
deficits to be passed from one employer to another.

Prepayment: the payment by employers of contributions to the Fund earlier than that certified
by the Actuary. The amount paid will be reduced in monetary terms compared to the certified
amount to reflect the early payment.

Present Value: the value of projected benefit payments, discounted back to the valuation date.

Profile: the profile of an employer’'s membership or liability reflects various measurements of that
employer’s members, i.e. current and former employees. This includes: the proportions which are
active, deferred or pensioner; the average ages of each category; the varying salary or pension
levels; the lengths of service of active members vs their salary levels, etc.

Prudent Assumption: an assumption where the outcome has a greater than 50/50 chance of
being achieved i.e. the outcome is more likely to be overstated than understated. Legislation and
Guidance requires the assumptions adopted for an actuarial valuation to be prudent.

Rates and Adjustments Certificate: a formal document required by the LGPS
Regulations, which must be updated at least every three years at the conclusion of the formal
valuation. This is completed by the actuary and confirms the contributions to be paid by each
employer (or pool of employers) in the Fund for the three year period until the next valuation is
completed.

Real Return or Real Discount Rate: a rate of return or discount rate net of (CPI) inflation.

Page 75
28



SHROPSHIRE COUNTY PENSION FUND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT

Recovery Plan: a strategy by which an employer will make up a funding deficit over a specified
period of time (“the recovery period”), as set out in the Funding Strategy Statement.

Scheduled bodies: types of employer explicitly defined in the LGPS Regulations, whose
employers must be offered membership of their local LGPS Fund. These include Councils,
colleges, universities, police and fire authorities etc, other than employees who have entitlement to
a different public sector pension scheme (e.g. teachers, police and fire officers, university
lecturers).

Section 13 Valuation: in accordance with Section 13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2014,
the Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) have been commissioned to advise the Department
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) in connection with reviewing the 2016 LGPS
actuarial valuations. All LGPS Funds therefore will be assessed on a standardised set of
assumptions as part of this process.

Solvency Funding Target: an assessment of the present value of benefits to be paid in the
future. The desired funding target is to achieve a solvency level of a 100% i.e. assets equal to the
accrued liabilities at the valuation date assessed on the ongoing concern basis.

Valuation funding basis: the financial and demographic assumptions used to determine the
employer’s contribution requirements. The relevant discount rate used for valuing the present
value of liabilities is consistent with an expected rate of return of the Fund’s investments. This
includes an expected out-performance over gilts in the long-term from other asset classes, held by
the Fund.

50/50 Scheme: in the LGPS, active members are given the option of accruing a lower personal
benefit in the 50/50 Scheme, in return for paying a lower level of contribution.

Page 76
29



Agenda ltem 10

@ S hropshi re Committee and Date fom

= Pensions Committee
Council

17 March 2017

10 am Public

INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT

Responsible Officer Justin Bridges
e-mail:  justin.bridges@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel: (01743)
252072

1. Summary

1.1 The report informs Members of the requirement to publish an Investment
Strategy Statement. It sets out the Investment Strategy Statement which
requires approval prior to the 1 April 2017 as required by regulation 7 of the
Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members are asked approve the Investment Strategy Statement at Appendix
A.

REPORT

Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1  The recommendations contained in this report are compatible with the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.

3.2  There are no direct environmental, equalities or climate change
consequences arising from this report.

3.3  Regular monitoring against the published Investment Strategy Statement will
give early warning of areas of difficulty.

Financial Implications
4.1  There are no financial implications to consider in this report.

Page 77


mailto:justin.bridges@shropshire.gov.uk

| Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

6.1

6.2

Background

For many years Local Government Pension Funds have been required to
maintain a Statement of Investment Principles (SIPs). In broad terms this
document laid out the things that were considered by the Fund when making
investment decisions and included the types of investments that could be
held, how the various risks were taken into account and what the Fund’s
objectives were.

The requirement for LGPS administering authorities to prepare an Investment
Strategy Statement was brought in under the new Local Government Pension
Scheme (LGPS) Investment Regulations which became effective on 1
November 2016. These Regulations removed the restrictions on investments
that were formerly in place for the LGPS and, in effect, allowed individual
Funds complete discretion about where and how to invest.

The Regulations also introduced a requirement for administering authorities to
formulate, publish and maintain an Investment Strategy Statement and this
needs to be approved by 1 April 2017. The ISS is simply a more detailed
version of the SIPs, with the SIPs being no longer necessary.

The Investment Strategy Statement has been prepared in accordance with
Regulation 7 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.

Statutory Background

The Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) must include;-

e A requirement to invest money in a wide variety of investments;

e The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments
and types of investments;

e The authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are
to be measured and managed;

e The authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the use of
collective investment vehicles and shared services;

e The authority’s policy on how social, environmental or corporate
governance considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-
selection, retention and realisation of investments; and

e The authority’s policy on the exercise of rights (including voting rights)
attaching to investments.

The pension fund should have flexibility to be able to take into account
changes in the market in order to be able to enhance or protect returns.

™ -0
Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072 FA(QeE€ /0O 2




Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT

6.3

7.1

8.1

Within Shropshire there is clearly defined governance around the setting of
the strategic asset allocation for the Fund by the Pension Committee, with this
strategy being implemented based on decisions agreed at Pension
Committee. As aresult it is considered preferable that the ISS is written in
such a way that it does not require amendment unless there are fundamental
changes to the Fund’s approach.

Appendix A to this report is the Investment Strategy Statement which is based
on a template produced by Aon Hewitt, the Fund’s investment advisor, and
covers all the necessary areas. Members are asked to approve the
Investment Strategy Statement.

Publication

The Investment Strategy Statement will be published and distributed
electronically to investment advisors, investment managers and scheme
employers following approval. The ISS will also be available on the Fund
website.

Monitoring and Review

The ISS is subject to review if there are any material changes to any aspects
of the Fund.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
Pensions Committee, November 2015, Statement of Investment Principles.

Cabinet Member

N/A

Local Member

N/A

Appendices
A — Investment Strategy Statement

™ b X ¥
Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072 Fage 719 3




This page is intentionally left blank



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

1. Introduction

The Local Government Pension Scheme (“LGPS”), of which the Fund is a part, is
established under the Superannuation Act 1972 and is regulated by a series of Regulations
made under the 1972 Act.

All LGPS funds in England and Wales are required to have an Investment Strategy
Statement (“ISS” or “Statement”). Regulation 7 of The LGPS (Management and Investment
of Funds) Regulations 2016 governs the requirements of this Statement. The Shropshire
County Pension Fund (the “Fund”) has complied with these requirements.

Under the regulations the Secretary of State has the power to intervene in the investment
function of an administering authority if the administering authority does not have regard to
the Regulations, guidance or if other concerns are raised. This may include changing the
ISS and, in the extreme, the transfer of investment powers to the Secretary of State or
another nominated person.

Shropshire Council (the “Authority”) is the Administrating Authority for the Fund.

This ISS has been prepared by the Fund’s Pension Committee (the “Committee”), following
advice received from the Fund's consultant, Aon Hewitt.

The document takes account of the Fund's:

Approach to pooling

= the Authority’s approach to the pooling of investments, including the use of collective
investment vehicles and shared services.

Asset allocation and risk

» to ensure that asset allocation strategies are sufficiently diversified;
* toinclude the Authority’s assessment of the suitability of asset classes;

= set out the maximum percentage of the total value of all investments that it will invest in
in particular asset classes;

» to include the Authority’s approach to risk, the assessment of risks and how they are to
be managed.

Policies regarding investments

= the Authority’s policy on how social, environmental and corporate governance
considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and
realisation of investments;

= the Authority’s policy on the exercise of the rights (including voting rights) attaching to
investments.

The ISS will be reviewed every three years after the investment strategy has been reviewed
and is confirmed as fit for purpose. In addition the ISS will be reviewed following changes to
the investment strategy.

Page 81



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

A copy of this ISS will be made available on request to any interested party.

Pagex82



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

2. Governance

Shropshire Council has delegated responsibility for the management of the Fund to the
Pension Committee. The Pension Committee has responsibility for establishing investment
policy and ongoing implementation.

The Pension Committee is made up of nine members comprising both elected councillors
and a non-voting employee and pensioner representative.

Members of the Pension Committee recognise that they have a fiduciary duty to safeguard,
above all else, the financial interests of the Fund’s beneficiaries. Beneficiaries, in this
context, are considered to be the Fund Members (pensioners, employees and employers),
other stakeholders being local Council Tax Payers.

Decisions affecting the Fund’s investment strategy are taken with appropriate advice from
the Fund’s advisers. Only persons or organisations with the necessary skills, information
and resources take decisions affecting the Fund. The Members of the Pension Committee
will ensure they receive training as and when deemed appropriate, to enable them to
critically evaluate any advice they receive.

The Committee receives independent investment advice from the following sources:
» Roger Bartley - strategic and overall investment approach advice.

= Aon Hewitt (the Investment Consultant) - analysis and advice of a technical nature in
relation to all investment related aspects of the Fund.

The Fund's Scheme Administrator has responsibilities under S151 of the Local Government
Act 1972 and provides financial (non-investment) advice to the Committee, including advice
on financial management, issues of compliance with internal regulations and controls,
budgeting and accounting and liaison with independent advisers.

Local Pensions Board

The role of the Local Pensions Board is to assist in the good governance of the scheme
through the monitoring of adherence to statutory duties.

The Board consists of 2 employer and 2 member representatives.

The Pensions Board is not a decision-making body, nor does it hold a scrutiny function; its
role is to assist in the compliance with scheme rules.

Investment Principles
Details to the extent to which the Pension Committee complies with the six Myners
principles and the extent to which management and investment arrangements at

Shropshire comply (in accordance with the existing CIPFA guidance), and where not, what
action is proposed in order to comply, are set out in Appendix A.

Page 83



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

3. Approach to Pooling

The Fund is a participating member of the LGPS Central Pool. The proposed structure and
basis on which the LGPS Central Pool (the “Pool”) will operate was set out in the July 2016
submission to Government.

Assets to be Invested in the Pool

The Fund’s intention is to invest its assets through the LGPS Central Pool as and when
suitable Pool investment solutions become available. An indicative timetable for investing
through the Pool was set out in the July 2016 submission to Government.

It is expected that the majority of the Fund’s liquid assets will be transferred to the Pool on
1st April 2018, although it will take some time for the Pool to restructure the assets into
appropriate sub-funds within the Pool. These sub-funds are likely to be set-up over a period
of 2 — 3 years, with the timing being dependent on market conditions and operational
circumstances, and until such time as the appropriate sub-fund is set up the assets
transferred into the Pool will be overseen by LGPS Central on behalf of the Fund. It is not
expected that any significant decisions (e.g. replacement of a manager) will be taken on the
assets transferred over to the Pool without prior consultation with the Fund, unless it is part
of the process that leads to the setting up of a sub-fund.

At present it is expected that any transitory cash will be held outside the Pool (but not
strategic cash holdings), and it is possible that currency management will continue to be
carried out at an individual fund level.

Structure and Governance of the LGPS Central Pool

The eight administering authorities of LGPS Central will all be equal shareholders of the
company. A Shareholders’ Forum, comprising of one elected member from each
administering authority, will fulfil the shareholders’ role in ensuring that the company is
managed efficiently and effectively and in the best interests of the funds.

A Joint Committee, also comprising one elected member from each administering authority,
will be formed that will hold the company to account on all investment-related issues. The
Joint Committee will have no decision making powers and all actions that are felt to be
appropriate will ultimately require approval at an individual fund level.

A Practitioners’ Advisory Forum, comprising of Officers of the administering authorities, will
also be set up. The intention of this forum is to provide support and guidance to elected
members on some of the practical issues, and to act as a conduit between the Joint
Committee and the Committees of individual funds.

Page:84



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

4. Asset allocation and risk

Strategic Asset Allocation

The Fund’s primary long term investment objective is to achieve and maintain a funding
level at, or close to, 100% of the Fund’s estimated liabilities; and within this, to endeavour to
maintain low and stable employers’ contribution rates. Given the constraints on local
authority spending, volatility in the employer’s contribution rate is undesirable.

The Committee regards the choice of asset allocation policy as the decision that has most
influence on the likelihood of achieving their investment objective. The Committee retains
direct responsibility for this decision which is made on the advice of their investment adviser
with input from their Fund actuary and in consultation with the employers within the Fund.

The investment strategy will normally be reviewed every three years. In addition if there is a
significant change in the capital markets, in the circumstances of the Fund or in governing
legislation then an earlier review may be conducted.

The Committee formulates the investment strategy with a view to:

« the advisability of investing money in a wide variety of investments;
» the suitability of particular investments and types of investment;
» ensuring that asset allocation strategies are sufficiently diversified.

The Committee will consider a full range of investment opportunities including:

» quoted and unquoted equity;

»« government and non-government bonds;

» Liability Driven Investment (“LDI”);

» property and infrastructure;

» hedge funds and other alternative investments.

The Committee further considers the legality of all investments for compliance with the
LGPS.

Investment Beliefs

The following investment beliefs are taken into account when agreeing an asset allocation
policy:

= Along term approach to investment will deliver better returns.

= The long term nature of the Fund’s liabilities is well suited to a long term approach to
investment.

= Asset allocation policy is the most important driver of long term return.

Page 85



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

= Risk premiums exist for certain types of asset and taking advantage of these can help to
improve investment returns.

= Markets can be inefficient, and sometimes ‘mispriced’ for long periods of time, and there
is a place for both active and passive investment management.

= Diversification across investments with low correlation improves the risk/return profile,
but over-diversification is both costly and adds little value.

= The Fund should be flexible enough in its asset allocation policy to take advantage of
opportunities that arise as a result of market inefficiencies, and also flexible enough to
protect against identifiable short-term risks when this is both practical and cost-effective.

= Responsible investment can enhance long term investment performance and
investment managers will only be appointed if they integrate responsible investment into
their decision-making processes.

= Investment management fees are important and should be minimised wherever
possible, but it is ultimately the net return to investors (i.e. the return after all fees and
costs) that is the most important factor.

Asset-liability Study and Expected Returns

The Committee determines the strategic asset allocation policy after considering projections
of the Fund’s assets and liabilities which are calculated by the Fund’s investment adviser, in
liaison with the Fund Actuary. This asset-liability study examines different combinations of
assets to determine which combination will best meet the Fund’s objectives.

The asset-liability study takes into account the particular liabilities of the Fund.

In addition to a full specification of the Fund’s benefits, the study will make important
assumptions about the behaviour of various asset classes (such as their expected return
over long periods of time and the variability of those returns) and the liabilities in the future.
In framing these assumptions, it is assumed that:

» Equities may be expected to outperform other asset classes over the long term, but the
returns are more unpredictable over the short term. Gilts in turn can be expected to
outperform cash deposits but with greater variability.

» Asset classes do not perform in the same way; some may go up in value while others
are going down.

» The performance of certain asset classes (for example index-linked gilts) is more closely
linked to the behaviour of inflation than others and so they represent a good match for
liabilities linked to inflation.

Expected annualised returns are formulated for each asset class based on long term capital
market assumptions, using ten year expected returns and volatilities. The returns and
volatilities used for each asset class are shown in the table below, and represent the
current 10 year annualised nominal return assumptions from Aon Hewitt at 31 December
2016 (as used in the Asset-Liability Modelling study carried out at that time).

Pages86



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

31 December 2016

Asset Class Expected Volatility

Return % %
UK Equities 7.8% 19.2%
Global Unconstrained Equities 8.7% 21.2%
Global Passive Equities 7.1% 20.2%
Property 6.3% 12.7%
UK Index-Linked Gilts (Over 5 year duration) 0.5% 10.2%
Unconstrained Bonds 4.3% 5.2%
Global Fund of Hedge Funds 2.7% 9.3%
Global Private Equity 8.2% 27.6%
Infrastructure 5.7% 18.6%
Inflation (CPI) 2.1% 1.1%

Investment Strategy and Control Ranges

The Fund’s strategic asset allocation was agreed by Pensions Committee in September
2015 as follows:

Asset Class Allocation Control Ranges
Total Equities 52.0 47.0 - 57.0
Unconstrained Global Equities 24.0 20.0 -28.0
UK Equities 8.0 55-10.5
Passive Equities (100% Hedged to GBP) 20.0 16.0 — 24.0
Total Alternatives 23.0 18.0 — 28.0
European (Incl UK) Property 5.0 n/a
Private Equity 5.0 n/a
Infrastructure 3.0 n/a
Fund of Hedge Funds 5.0 n/a
Multi-Strategy Hedge Funds 5.0 n/a
Total Bonds 25.0 20.0 - 30.0
Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 3.5 2.0-5.0
Unconstrained Bonds 21.5 17.5-25.5

Note: the Fund is disinvesting from the multi-strategy hedge fund and temporarily
increasing the allocation to fund of hedge funds and unconstrained bonds.

Rebalancing Policy

Officers will review the position of the Fund quarterly to ensure the assets are within the
control ranges listed above, and will rebalance as appropriate.

Risk
The Committee regards ‘risk’ as the likelihood that it fails to achieve the objectives set out
above and has taken several measures, to minimise this risk so far as is possible. The

Fund's Risk Register has more information.

In particular, in arriving at the investment strategy and the production of this Statement, the
Committee have considered the following key risks:

Page 87



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

» asset-liability mismatch risk (asset allocation risk);

« the need to pay benefits when due (cash-flow risk);

» actions by the investment managers (investment risk);
« the failure of some investments (concentration risk);

= currency and counterparty risk;

» custody risk.

Asset Allocation Mismatch

The LGPS (the “Scheme”) is a defined benefit pension scheme which provides benefits
related to the salary of members. The Scheme is a contributory defined benefit
arrangement, with active members and employing authorities contributing to the Scheme.

The value of the Fund’s ongoing liabilities is sensitive to various demographic (principally
longevity) and financial factors. The financial factors relevant to the Fund’s investment
policy are:

= the rate of return on assets;

» salary escalation and price inflation for active members;
= price inflation for deferred members;

» price inflation for pensioners.

In terms of magnitude, the Committee considers asset-liability mismatch risk to be one of
the most important to control. Therefore, following each actuarial valuation, the Committee
conducts an asset-liability review, which focuses on the impact of asset allocation on
expected future funding levels. The Committee considers the results using advanced
modelling techniques and, with the assistance of expert advisers, are able to measure and
quantify them in terms of their definitions of risk. This allows the Committee to assess the
probabilities of critical funding points associated with different investment strategies.
Consideration is given to the volatility of a number of parameters (e.g. items associated with
accounting measures, contributions etc.), to further assess the potential risks associated
with a particular investment strategy.

Cash-flow Risk

The Fund remains open to new members and new accruals. Contributions are received
from both active members and employers within the Fund. Active members contribute on a
tiered system. Contributions from employers within the Fund are determined based on
advice from the Fund Actuary based on the triennial valuation.

The majority of investments held within the Fund are quoted on major markets and may be

realised quickly, if required. Certain asset classes, Hedge Funds, Private Equity, Property
and Infrastructure are relatively illiquid and may take longer to realise, if required.

Investment Risk

Pages88



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

The Committee believe the use of active management within the Fund will increase the
likelihood that the Fund will meet its objectives. The decision as to whether to pursue active
management is evaluated separately for each asset class, with regard to the potential
reward within that asset class for taking on active manager risk.

Active manager risk is then diversified through the use of different investment managers
and pooled funds.

The Committee also avails of passive management where they believe the extra risk and
costs of active management would not benefit the Fund and to manage overall risk.

The Fund’s assets are invested in portfolios managed by external investment managers
shown in appendix B. They are benchmarked against the indicated indices. Based on
expert advice (unless the assets are invested in the LGPS Central Pool in which case this
will be delegated to the Pool), investment managers may be replaced at any time and this
list may not always be current.

The performance targets for the investment manager(s) are shown in appendix B.
Shropshire Council recognises that these targets will not be met in all periods under
consideration, but expects that they will be met in the vast majority of long-term periods
under consideration.

Each investment manager appointed by the Committee (unless the assets are invested in
the LGPS Central Pool in which case this will be delegated to the Pool) is bound by the
terms and conditions of an Investment Management Agreement where restrictions and
targets are clearly documented, including a measure of risk. The pooled fund investments
and direct investments are governed by the terms and conditions of the fund and or policy
documents.

Frequent monitoring of portfolio performance and exposure characteristics also aids in the
ongoing risk management for the Fund (unless the assets are invested in the LGPS Central
Pool in which case this will be delegated to the Pool).

Concentration Risk

The split between asset classes has been set to ensure there isn't excessive exposure to
any particular asset class or specific risk such as equities or credit risk.

To ensure that asset allocation is sufficiently diversified the Committee considers a full
range of investment opportunities including those available through the LGPS Central Pool.
In addition investment opportunities outside the pooling arrangements will be considered if
they are not already or likely to be available through the Pool, and there are suitable
resources to invest in and monitor the investment. These can include contracts related to
financial futures or insurance.

Appropriate advice will be sought on alternative asset classes when setting the strategy and
as opportunities arise.

Currency and Counterparty Risk

Passive equity investments are fully currency hedged by the investment manager.

Page 89



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

Some investment managers may take active currency positions based on their mandates.
The Committee has delegated responsibility for the counterparty risk to the investment

manager(s) (unless the assets are invested in LGPS pooled arrangements in which case
this will be delegated to the Pool who may further delegate to investment managers).

Custody Risk

The Committee regards the safekeeping of the Fund’s assets as of paramount importance
and has appointed Northern Trust company as global custodian and record-keeper of the
Fund’s assets.

Stock Lending

The Fund reactivated its security lending policy with Northern Trust in February 2011,
having temporarily paused the lending activity in the period after the collapse of Lehman
Brothers. The collateral arrangements for the lending programme have been tightened on
advice from Aon Hewitt, and the programme restarted.

The manager(s) of pooled funds may undertake a certain amount of stock lending on behalf
of unit-holders. Where a pooled fund engages in this activity the extent is fully disclosed by
the manager (unless the assets are invested in LGPS pooled arrangements in which case
this will be delegated to the Pool).

Monitoring

The Committee monitors the strategy and its implementation as follows:
« The Committee receives, on a quarterly basis, a written report on the returns of the
Fund and asset classes together with supporting analysis.

» The performance of the total Fund is also measured against the strategic benchmark,
which is comprised of the asset class benchmarks weighted by the strategic allocations,
and against agreed outperformance targets.

» The performance of the Fund in each asset class is measured against the relevant
benchmark. A comparison against a universe of portfolios with similar mandates will
also be made from time to time.

The Officers, in conjunction with the Investment Consultant, will regularly review the

allocation of assets between the different asset classes.

Service Provider Monitoring

The Committee reviews from time to time the services provided by the investment adviser
and other service providers as necessary to ensure that the services provided remain
appropriate for the Fund.

Investment Manager Fees

Page®0



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

Investment management fees comprise an ad valorem or fixed base fee element and in
some cases a performance based element. The ad valorem fee is calculated as a
percentage of assets under management. Where applicable, the performance based
element is calculated as a percentage of outperformance. The assessment period ranges
from one to three years depending on the investment manager and the mandate. The exact
details of the fee arrangements are specific to the investment manager and are as agreed
in the respective Investment Manager Agreements or pooled fund documentation (unless
the assets are invested in the LGPS Central Pool in which case this will be delegated to the

Pool).

Page 91



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

5. Policies regarding investments

Social, Environmental and Corporate Governance Considerations

The Committee understand the Fund is not able to exclude investments in order to pursue
boycotts, divestment and sanctions against foreign nations and UK defence industries,
other than where formal legal sanctions, embargoes and restrictions have been put in place
by the Government.

Shropshire Council is aware of the UK Stewardship Code and is working towards becoming
signatories to the Stewardship Code (the “Code”). Although it has not yet formally signed up
to the Code it aims to abide by the principles of the Code where appropriate.

The principles of the UK Stewardship Code are included in Appendix C for information.

BMO (formerly F&C) provides a responsible engagement overlay on the Fund’'s UK equity
portfolios. BMO enters into constructive discussions with companies on the Fund’s behalf to
put to them the case for improved financial returns through better management of the
negative impacts they might have on the environment and society in general.

In addition the Fund is a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum which helps
ensure governance is in line with current best practice.

The Exercise of the Rights Attaching to Investments

The Committee has delegated responsibility for the selection, retention and realisation of
investments to the investment manager(s) (unless the assets are invested in LGPS pooled
arrangements in which case this will be delegated to the Pool who may further delegate to
investment managers).

The Committee expects the investment managers to take steps to ensure that
environmental, social and governance factors are adequately addressed in the selection,
retention and realisation of investments as far as such factors may affect investment
performance (unless the assets are invested in LGPS pooled arrangements in which case
this will be delegated to the Pool who may further delegate to investment managers).

The Committee supports the principle of good corporate governance. It has reviewed and
accepted the corporate governance policies of its investment manager(s) who exercise its
voting rights. Votes are cast by proxy. Investment manager(s) provide reports when any
voting rights are exercised (unless the assets are invested in LGPS pooled arrangements in
which case this will be delegated to the Pool). Only direct investments in traded equity
shares carry such voting rights.

Page®©2



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

Appendix A

Myners Principles for Institutional Investment Decision Making

Comply

Principle or
explain

Comment/Examples

1. Effective decision making

» Administrating authorities should
ensure that:

» decisions are taken by persons
or organisations with the skills,
knowledge, advice and
resources necessary to make
them effectively and monitor
their implementation

» Those persons or organisations
have sufficient expertise to be
able to evaluate and challenge
the advice they receive and
manage conflicts of interest

Comply

2. Clear Objectives

An overall investment objective
should be set out for the fund
that takes account of the
scheme’s liabilities, the potential
impact on local tax payers, the
strength of the covenant for non-
local authority employers and
the attitude to risk of both the
administrating authority and
scheme employers, and these
should be clearly communicated
to advisors and investment
managers

Comply

3. Risk and liabilities

» In setting and reviewing their
investment strategy
administrating authorities should
take account of the form and
structure of liabilities.

» These include the implications
for local tax payers, the strength

Comply

Pension Committee takes decisions relating
to setting investment objectives and
strategic asset allocation, appointment of
investment managers. Pension Committee
members, substitute members and Officers
participate in an annual training day, attend
educational seminars and receive
occasional papers and presentations at
committee meetings. The training
requirements of new Pensions Committee
members are addressed and appropriate
training programmes made available, with a
formal Training Programme being submitted
to the Committee for consideration on an
annual basis.

A Fund specific investment objective is set
to maintain a funding level at, or close to
100% and within this, to endeavour to
maintain low and stable employers
contribution rates. As set out in the Funding
Strategy Statement, the actuary takes
account of a range of factors on the Fund’s
liabilities in setting contribution rates as part
of the valuation process.

Performance and risk parameters are
specified in relation to relevant indices and
appropriate time periods and are set out in
investment mandates.

Asset/Liability review is carried out every
three years and the actuary takes account of
a range of factors on the Fund’s liabilities as
set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy
Statement which addresses the issues of
financial assumptions, longevity and
strength of covenant. If required, the
actuarial funding position can be reported to
the Pensions Committee on a quarterly

Page 93



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

of the covenant for participating
employers, the risk of their
default and longevity risk

4. Performance assessment

« Arrangements should be in
place for formal measurement of
performance of the investments,
investment managers and
advisors

» Administrating authorities should
also periodically make a formal
assessment of their own
effectiveness as a decision-
making body and report on this
to scheme members

Comply

5. Responsible ownership

» Administrating authorities should

» Adopt or ensure their investment
managers adopt, the Institutional
Shareholders’ Committee
Statement of Principles on the
responsibilities of shareholders
and agents

» Include a statement of their
policy on responsible ownership
in the statement of investment
principles

» Report periodically to scheme
members on the discharge of
such responsibilities

Comply

6. Transparency and reporting

» Administrating authorities should

= Actin atransparent manner,
communicating with
stakeholders on issues relating
to their management of
investment, its governance and
risks, including performance
against stated objectives

= Provide regular communication
to scheme members in the form
they consider most appropriate

Comply

basis, using information provided by Aon
Hewitt.

The Officers have an independent
performance measurer in place. They also
receive regular updates from Aon Hewitt
regarding managers and the Officers meet
regularly with their managers and advisors
to review their performance. The Fund has
recently assessed its effectiveness as a
decision-making body and aims to spend
more time on strategic level and asset
allocation decisions compared to meeting
managers going forwards.

The Investment Strategy Statement includes
a statement on responsible ownership.

An independent advisor is appointed to
engage with companies on socially
responsible issues and voting at company
meetings is effected through the Fund’s
investment managers.

A range of documents are published relating
to the Fund'’s investment management and
governance including the Governance
Compliance Statement, Funding Strategy
Statement, Investment Strategy Statement,
Communication Policy Statement and
Annual report and accounts. These
documents are available in full on the
Fund’s website and any amendments are
published.

Stakeholders are also invited to attend the
annual meeting of the Fund.

Page£4



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

Appendix B

Investment manager mandates

Investment Manager

PIMCO Europe Ltd
BlackRock
GAM

BMO

Majedie Asset
Management

MFS Investment
Management

Investec Asset
Management

Harris Associates

Harbour Vest Partners
Limited

Global Infrastructure
Management

Aberdeen Property
Investors

Brevan Howard
BlackRock

Legal & General
Investment
Management

Asset class

Benchmark

Active portfolios

Unconstrained bonds
Unconstrained bonds
Unconstrained bonds
Liability Driven
Investment (LDI)

UK Equities

Global Equities

Global Equities

Global Equities
Private Equity Fund of
Funds

Infrastructure
European (incl UK)
Property

Multi-Strategy Hedge
Fund
Fund of Hedge Funds

1 month Sterling LIBOR

3 month USD LIBOR

3 month Sterling LIBOR

Hedge Benchmark (based on FTSE over
5 yrs Index Linked Gilt Index)

FTSE All Share

MSCI World

MSCI All Country World NDR

MSCI World

Broad public equities index

n/a

Composite of INREV VA Europe Index,
vintage 2005 — 2008 and IPD UK All
Balanced Funds Index

3 month Sterling LIBOR
3 month Sterling LIBOR

Indexed (Passive ) Portfolios

Global Equity

FTSE Developed World — GBP Currency
Hedged

Page 95

Target

+4% p.a.

+ 4-6% p.a.
+ 3-5% p.a.
Outperform the
benchmark
+2% p.a. over
rolling 3 year
periods
+1% p.a. over
rolling 3 year
periods
+ 3-5% p.a.
over rolling 3
year periods
+ 2-3% p.a.
over3to 5
years

+ 3-5% p.a.

RPI +5% p.a.

RPI +4% p.a.

+6.0% p.a.
+5.0% p.a.

Match
benchmark



INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT - March 2017

Appendix C

Principles of the UK Stewardship Code

1. Publicly disclose their policy on how they will discharge their stewardship responsibilities.

2. Have a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest in relation to stewardship which
should be publicly disclosed.

3. Monitor their investee companies.

4. Establish clear guidelines on when and how they will escalate their stewardship activities.
5. Be willing to act collectively with other investors where appropriate.

6. Have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity.

7. Report periodically on their stewardship and voting activities.

Paged6



Agenda Iltem 11

Pensions Committee

. Committee and Date Item
Wa¥ Shropshire

Council

17 March 2017 Public

10.00am

PENSION FUND TREASURY STRATEGY 2017/18

Responsible Officer  Justin Bridges
e-mail:  Justin.bridges@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel: (01743)
252072

1. Summary

1.1 This report proposes the Pension Fund Treasury Strategy for 2017/18 for the
small cash balances that the Administrating Authority maintains to manage the
day to day transactions of the Fund. These transactions include the payment
of pensions and transfers out together with the receipt of contributions from
employers and transfers into the Fund. From the 1 April 2010 these balances
have been invested separately in accordance with the Pension Fund Treasury
Strategy.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members are asked to delegate authority to the Scheme Administrator
(Section 151 Officer) to manage the Pension Funds day to day cash balances.

2.2 Members are asked to approve, with any comments, the Pension Fund
Treasury Strategy.

2.3 Members are asked to authorise the Scheme Administrator (Section 151
Officer) to place deposits in accordance with the Pension Fund’s Treasury
Strategy.

2.4 Members are also asked to delegate authority to the Scheme Administrator
(Section 151 Officer) to add or remove institutions from the approved lending
list and amend cash and period limits as necessary in line with the
Administering Authority’s creditworthiness policy.

REPORT
3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1 Risk Management is part of the Pension Fund'’s structured decision-making
process by ensuring that investment decisions are taken by those best
qualified to take them.

3.2 The recommendations contained in this report are compatible with the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.

Page 97



Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017/18 |

3.4

Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management,
adhering to the Council’'s Treasury Policy Statement and Treasury
Management Practices together with the rigorous internal controls will enable
the Fund to manage the risk associated with Treasury Management activities
and the potential for financial loss

There are no direct environmental, equalities or climate change consequences
arising from this report.

4. Financial Implications

4.1

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

5. Background

5.1

5.2

5.3

The Fund has assets of over £1.7 billion which are managed by the Funds
Global Custodian, Northern Trust. Shropshire Council as the Administering
Authority maintains a small working cash balance (currently around £4 million).
This Treasury Strategy relates solely to the Pension Fund cash managed by
Shropshire Council as the Administering Authority.

The Administering Authority aims to keep the Pension Fund cash held for day-
to-day transactions to a minimum level. Fund cash is currently managed
separately and invested on the money markets in accordance with Shropshire
Council's Treasury Strategy. A separate Pension Fund account is credited with
investment income.

Investment regulations issued by the DCLG in December 2009 no longer
permit pension fund cash to be pooled with the cash balances of Shropshire
Council from 1st April 2010. In view of these changes a separate Pension
Fund Treasury Strategy must be approved each year.

6. Investment Policy

6.1

6.2

6.3

The Fund’s investment policy is based on the Treasury Strategy adopted by
Shropshire Council. The investment policy will have regard to the
Communities for Local Government (CLG) Guidance on Local Government
Investments, the Audit Commission’s report on Icelandic investments and the
2011 revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice.

The investment priorities for the management of Pension Fund cash balances
are the security of capital and the liquidity of its investments. The Fund will
also aim to achieve the optimum return on its cash investments commensurate
with proper levels of security and liquidity.

The CLG guidance requires Shropshire Council to categorise their
investments as either “specified” or “non specified” investments. Shropshire
Council as Administering Authority for the Pension Fund will adopt these same
categorisations for the investment of Pension Fund cash. Specified
investments are deemed as “safer” investments and must meet the following
conditions:-

Page 98

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072 2 |




Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017/18

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

- be denominated in Sterling
- have less than 12 months duration
- not constitute the acquisition of share or loan capital

- be invested in the government or a local authority or a body or
investment scheme with a “high” credit quality.

The Fund is required to specify its creditworthiness policy and how frequently
credit ratings should be monitored. It must also specify the minimum level of
such investments.

The Fund is required to look at non specified investments in more detail. It
must set out:

- Procedures for determining which categories of non-specified
investments should be used

- The categories deemed to be prudent
- The maximum amount deemed to be held in each category
- The maximum period for committing funds

As all of the Funds’ investments will be placed in sterling for periods up to 12
months with highly credit rated institutions all investments will be classified as
specified investments. It is recommended that the maximum limit of £4 million
is set for other Local Authorities and institutions which are part nationalised
and £2 million for institutions which meet the minimum credit ratings but are
not supported by the Government. Any changes to the minimum credit ratings
or maximum limits must be approved by the Scheme Administrator (Section
151 Officer).

The Fund may use for the prudent management of its cash balances any of
the specified investments detailed on Appendix A.

In order not to reply solely on institutions credit ratings there have also been a
number of other developments since the credit crunch crisis which require
separate consideration and approval. Nationalised and Part Nationalised
Banks in the UK effectively take on the creditworthiness of the Government
itself i.e. deposits made with them are effectively being made to the
Government. This is because the Government owns significant stakes in the
banks and this ownership is set to continue. Capita are still supportive of the
Fund using these institutions with a maximum 12 month duration. For this
reason National Westminster Bank which are part of the RBS group are
included on the approved counterparty list.

Local Authorities are not credit rated but where the investment is a
straightforward cash loan, statute suggests that the credit risk attached to
English and Welsh local authorities is an acceptable one (Local Government
Act 2003 s13). Local authorities are therefore included on the approved list.

Page 99

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072 3 |




Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017/18 |

7. Creditworthiness Policy

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

It is proposed that the Fund will adopt the same methodology as Shropshire
Council when determining the minimum credit ratings to be used. The
Creditworthiness policy has been adopted from Shropshire Council’s Treasury
Strategy who use information provided by their treasury advisor, Capita Asset
Services. This service has been progressively enhanced following the
problems with Icelandic Banks in 2008. Capita use a sophisticated modelling
approach with credit ratings from all three rating agencies Fitch, Moody’s and
Standard and Poor’s. In accordance with the revised Treasury Management
Code of Practice they do not rely solely on the current credit ratings of
counterparties but also use the following as overlays:-

e Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies

e Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give an early warning of
likely changes in credit ratings

e Soveriegn ratings to select counterparties from only the most
creditworthy countries

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches, credit
outlooks and CDS spreads in a weighted scoring system for which the end
product is a series of colour code bands which indicate the relative
creditworthiness of counterparties. These colour codes are also used to
determine the duration of investments and are therefore referred to as
durational bands. The Fund is satisfied that this service now gives a much
improved level of security for its investments. It is also a service which would
not be able to replicate using in-house resources.

The selection of counterparties with a high level of creditworthiness will be
achieved by a selection of institutions down to a minimum durational band with
Capita’s weekly list of worldwide potential counterparties. The Fund will
therefore use counterparties within the following durational colour bands:-

Yellow — 5yrs e.g. AAA rated Government debt, UK Gilts, Collateralised
Deposits

Dark Pink — 5 years for Enhanced Money Market Funds with a credit score of
1.25 (Not currently used)

Light Pink - 5 years for Enhanced Money Market Funds with a credit score of
1.5 (Not currently used)

Purple - 2yrs (Council & Pension Fund currently has maximum of 1 year)
Blue - 1 year (only applies to nationalised or part nationalised UK Banks)
Orange - 1 year

Red - 6 months

Green — 100 days

No colour — not to be used

Although the maximum period limit is currently 5 years the Fund will take a
more prudent approach and not invest for any longer than 12 months.

All credit ratings are monitored continuously and formally updated as and
when changes are required by the Administering Authority. The Administering
Authority is alerted to changes to ratings of all three agencies through its use

Page 100

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072 4 |




Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017/18 |

7.6

of the Capita’s creditworthiness service. The Fund will use the same policy
when constructing its approved lending list. If a counterparty’s or investment
scheme’s rating is downgraded with the result that it no longer meets the
Funds minimum criteria, the further use of that counterparty will be withdrawn
immediately.

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. Officers
also use market data and information and regularly monitor the financial press.

8. Country Limits

8.1

It is recommended that the Fund will only use approved counterparties from
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch Ratings (or
equivalent from other agencies). It is recommended that UK institutions
continue to be used unless the sovereign credit rating falls below A. Lending is
currently restricted to the UK which currently has a sovereign credit rating of
AA and Sweden which has the highest possible sovereign rating of AAA. The
S151 Officer has delegated authority to revert back to placing investments in
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- in line with Capita’s
revised creditworthiness policy if required.

9. Investment Strategy

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

The next financial year is expected to see investment rates remain at the
historically low level of 0.25% until June 2019 when it is forecast to rise to
0.50%. This view is based on the latest forecasts obtained by the
Administering Authority’s treasury advisor, Capita Asset Services.

It is anticipated that balances available for investment will be between £3 - 15
million which will be invested short term in accordance with the approved
lending list. Separate lending and period limits have been approved for
investment of Pension Fund cash.

Short term cash flow requirements limit the scope for longer term investments.
For cash flow generated balances we will seek to utilise the business reserve
accounts with National Westminster Bank and Svenska Hadelsbanken and
short dated deposits (overnight - 3 months) in order to benefit from the
compounding of interest.

All investments will be made in accordance with the Funds treasury strategy
and in accordance with the CLG investment regulations.

10. Short Term Borrowing

10.1

The current banking and investment arrangements mean the Fund has not
needed to borrow on the money markets to fund day to day transactions. The
new investment regulations give the Administering Authority an explicit power
to borrow for up to 90 days, for the purpose of the pension fund. This will
enable borrowing for cash flow purposes such as to ensure that scheme
benefits can be made on time. Any borrowing needs to have an identifiable
income from which repayment of the borrowed amount and related interest
can be funded.

Page 101

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072 5 |




| Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017/18

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)

Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2016/17, Pensions Committee 18 March 2016

Cabinet Member
N/A

Local Member
N/A

Appendices
A. Specified Investment Schedule

Page 102

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072




Pensions Committee 17 March 2017: Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017/2018

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS

All investments listed below must be sterling-denominated.

Appendix A

Investment Share/ Loan | Repayable/ Security / Capital Circumstance of use Maximum period
Capital? Redeemable Minimum Credit Expenditure?
within 12 Rating
months?

Term deposits with the UK government | No Yes High security NO In-house 1 year
(e.g. DMO Account) or with English local although LAs not
authorities (i.e. local authorities as defined credit rated.
under Section 23 of the 2003 Act) with
maturities up to 1 year
-
E’rm deposits with credit-rated deposit | No Yes Yes — Minimum NO In-house 1 year
Lkers (banks and building societies), colour band Green
ﬁpcluding callable deposits, with
mdturities up to 1 year

rtificates of Deposit issued by credit- | No Yes Yes — Minimum NO In house buy and hold 1 year
rated deposit takers (banks and building colour band Green
societies) up to 1 year.
Custodial arrangement required prior to
purchase
Banks nationalised by high credit No Yes Minimum Sovereign No In house 1 year
rated (sovereign rating) countries Rating AA-
UK Nationalised & Part Nationalised No Yes Yes — Minimum No In house 1 Year

banks

colour band green

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072




Pensions Committee 17 March 2017: Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017/2018

Investment Share/ Loan | Repayable/ Security / Capital Circumstance of use Maximum period
Capital? Redeemable ‘High’ Credit Rating | Expenditure?
within 12 criteria
months?
Government guarantee on all deposits | No Yes Yes — Minimum No In house 1 year
by high credit rated (sovereign rating) Sovereign Rating AA-
countries
Bonds issued by multilateral No Yes AAA NO In-House on a buy and | 1 year
development banks (Euro Sterling hold basis after
Bonds as defined in S1 2004 No 534) or consultation/advice
issued by a financial institution from Capita&
guaranteed by UK government with
maturities under 12 months.
todial arrangement required prior to
chase
@
Gt Funds and Bond Funds No Yes NO In House 1 year
o
SN
Gilts : up to 1 year No Yes Govt-backed NO 1 year

Custodial arrangement required prior to
purchase

UK Sovereign Rating

In House on a buy and
hold basis

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072




Pensions Committee 17 March 2017: Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017/2018

Money Market Funds & Government No Yes Yes NO In-house the period of
Liquidity Funds (including CCLA AAA rated & UK investment may not
Fund) & Enhanced Money Market sovereign rating. be determined at
Funds Enhanced MMFs the outset but

would be subject to

minimum colour Dark
. : . h fl d
Pink/Light Pink & ity
AAA rated requirements.
Deposits are
repayable at call.
Treasury bills No Yes Govt-backed NO In House 1 year
[Government debt security with a maturity UK Sovereign Rating

less than one year and issued through a
competitive bidding process at a discount to
par value]

Custodial arrangement required prior to
Rychase
U

QO

Q

D

Muwnitoring of credit ratings:
credit ratings will be monitored continuously. If a counterparty or investment scheme is downgraded with the result that it no longer meets the Pension Fund’s minimum
dit criteria, the use of that counterparty / investment scheme will be withdrawn.

Any intra-month credit rating downgrade which the Pension Fund has identified that affects the Pension Fund pre-set criteria will also be similarly dealt with.

Contact: Justin Bridges on (01743) 252072



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12

Committee and Date Ite

3

: Pensions Committee
Council

¥a¥ Shropshire

17 March 2017

10.00 Public

SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE AND OTHER MEETINGS 2017/18

Responsible Officer Justin Bridges
e-mail:  justin.bridges@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel: (01743)
252072

1. Summary

1.1 The report brings together a schedule of meetings of the Committee and
outside bodies on which the Committee is represented. It also identifies
which managers and advisers will be attending the respective meetings.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Members are asked to:-

e Agree the schedule of Committee meetings, including the Annual
Meeting.

e Agree representation at other conferences and training events.

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1 Risk Management is part of the Pension Fund’s structured decision-making
process by ensuring that investment decisions are taken by those best
qualified to take them.

3.2 The recommendations contained in this report are compatible with the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.

3.3 There are no direct environmental, equalities or climate change
consequences arising from this report.

4. Financial Implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications on the resources of the Council.

Page 107


mailto:justin.bridges@shropshire.gov.uk

| Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: Schedule of committee and other meetings 2017/18

5. Background

5.1 The Committee traditionally meets quarterly, as soon as possible after each
quarter end, but allowing sufficient time for the preparation of managers’
reports, technical meetings between managers and officers and independent
confirmation of performance data.

6. Schedule of Meetings

6.1 The Calendar at Appendix A proposes dates for the quarterly meetings for
next year. Also included is the date of the Annual Meeting so that Members
can co-ordinate their attendance at meetings relating to all the Committee’s
activities and other major seminars are included where these are known.
Details of the training offered to Pension Board members is also included on
the schedule.

7. Manager Monitoring

7.1 The requirements of the LGPS Investment Regulations on Administering
Authorities in relation to the review of an investment manager’s performance
are:-

e “To keep his performance under review.”

e “Atleast once every three months to review the investments he has
made.”

e “Periodically to consider whether or not to retain him.”

7.2 The present review and reporting arrangements, including quarterly technical
meetings with officers, the quarterly investment report and periodic personal
attendance at Committee are considered to comply with the regulatory
requirements. Managers and advisers are invited to present to the Committee
annually and this results in 2/3 presentations each meeting although if there
are more strategic decisions that need to be focussed on during the
Committee meeting and managers have been performing well and there are
no issues they may not be required to attend annually.

8. Annual Training Day

8.1 The 2017 Annual Training Day will be held on 18 July 2017 in the Shirehall.
Further details of the event will be sent to Members in advance of the Training
Day.

8.2 Further training events will be considered during the year and additional
training sessions will be arranged for Pension Board members.

9. The Local Authority Pension Funds Forum (LAPFF)

9.1 As members of the LAPFF, the Committee are asked to be represented at a
number of meetings through the year. Forum meetings are generally held in
London. When the Fund is represented, it is usually by an appropriate officer
and/or the Chairman.

Page 108



| Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: Schedule of committee and other meetings 2017/18

10. Other Seminars/Conferences

10.1 In addition to the above, there are a number of other major conferences and
seminars, to which the Committee might wish to send delegates. These
include:-

PLSA Investment Conference — May 2017. It is recommended that
appropriate officers attend this conference

LGC Investment Symposium — July 2017. It is recommended that
appropriate investment officers attend this conference.

LGC Public Sector Pension Funds Investment Seminar — September
2017. 1t is recommended that appropriate officers and the Chairman or
Vice Chairman (or any other Member of the Pension Committee) should
represent the Committee at this conference.

Pension Administration Managers November 2017 — It is
recommended that Pension Administration officers attend this
conference

LAPFF Annual Conference — December 2017. It is proposed that an
appropriate investment officer or Member of the Committee should
represent the Fund at this conference.

LGC Investment Conference — March 2018. It is recommended that
appropriate investment officers attend this conference

It is proposed that should other seminars and training events be
identified as beneficial, then attendance be agreed by the Chairman and
the Scheme Administrator through the year.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)

N/A

Cabinet Member

N/A

Local Member

N/A

Appendices
A - Schedule of Meetings 2017/18

Page 109




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Pensions Committee — Schedule of Meetings 2017/18
(Committee meetings are in bold print)

Meeting date | Details (and location of | Manager / Comments
other than Shirehall) Adviser to
present

15 - 17 May 2017

PLSA Investment Summit
(Gloucestershire)

Officer Attendance

June 2017 Pension Board Trustee Pension Board
Conference Members/Members
23 June 2017 Quarterly Meeting GIP - Infrastructure
(March 2017)- GAM - Bonds
BMO - LDI
Aon —
Training/Investment
Strategy Review
July 2017 LGC Pension Fund Symposium Officer Attendance
- Stratford
18 July 2017 Training Day (Shirehall) Members / Substitute
Members/ Pension
Board Members/
officer attendance
22 Sept 2017 Quarterly Meeting PIMCO (Global
(June 2017) Bonds)
Investec (Global
Equities)
Harris (Global
Equities)
Grant Thornton —
2016/17 Audit
Aon —
Training/Investment
Strategy Review
Sept 2017 LGC Investment Summit (South Member / Officer
Wales) attendance
9 October 2017 Employers Meeting — Council
Chamber, Shirehall
Nov 2017 Pensions Admin Managers Pension Admin
Conference — Torquay Officers
10 Nov 2017 Annual General Meeting —
Council Chamber, Shirehall
24 Nov 2017 Quarterly Meeting HarbourVest (Private
(Sept 2017) Equity)
BlackRock (Hedge
Funds)
6 - 8 Dec 2017 LAPFF Annual Conference Member / Officer
(Bournemouth) attendance
March 2018 LGC Investment Seminar Officer Attendance
(Chester)
16 March 2018 Quarterly Meeting Majedie (UK Equities)
(Dec 2017) Aberdeen (Pan

European Property)
MFS (Global Equities)
Grant Thornton —
Audit Plan

Page 111




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 13

A : Committee and Date Item
%ﬁf S h ro pS hl re Pensions Committee
Council

17 March 2017

10.00am Public

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MONITORING

Responsible Officer Ed Roberts
e-mail: ed.roberts@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: (01743) 252078

1. Summary

1.1 The report is to inform members of Corporate Governance and socially
responsible investment issues arising in the quarter 15t October 2016 to 31st
December 2016.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members are asked to accept the position as set out in the report, Manager
Voting Reports at Appendix A and BMO Global Asset Management
Responsible Engagement Overlay Activity Report at Appendix B.

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunies Appraisal

3.1 Risk Management is part of the Pension Fund’s structured decision-making
process by ensuring that investment decisions are taken by those best
qualified to take them.

3.2 The recommendations contained in this report are compatible with the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.

3.3 The Fund’s Corporate Governance Policy enables it to influence the
environmental policies of the companies in which it invests.

3.4  There are no direct Equalities or Community consequences.

4. Financial Implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

5. Background

5.1  The Shropshire County Pension Fund has been actively voting for over fifteen
years at the Annual General Meetings and Extraordinary General Meetings of

the companies in which it invests. Voting is carried out by individual Fund
Managers on all equity portfolios.

Page 113


mailto:ed.roberts@shropshire.gov.uk

| Pensions Committee, 17 March 2017: Corporate Governance Monitoring

5.2 The Fund is also addressing its social responsibility through a strategy of
responsible engagement with companies. BMO Global Asset Management
provide this responsible engagement overlay on the Fund’s UK equities
portfolio.

6. Manager Voting Activity

6.1  Details of managers voting activity during the quarter relating to equity
portfolios are attached (Appendix A).

7. Responsible Engagement Activity

7.1 During the last quarter BMO Global Asset Management have continued to
actively engage with companies on the Fund’s behalf. An update on the
engagement activities for the quarter is attached at Appendix B in the REO
Activity report.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)

Corporate Governance Monitoring report, Pensions Committee 25 November 2016

Cabinet Member
N/A

Local Member
N/A

Appendices
A. Manager Voting Activity Reports.

B. BMO Global Asset Management Responsible Engagement Overlay Reports.

Page 114



VOTING POLICY

masepie I

Asset Management

We introduced our own customised voting policy in the first quarter of 2014, run in parallel with IS§’s policy. The
majority of areas in which our policy differs from that of 1SS are within the smaller company sector, in which we
are a leading participant, and relates to capital raising with pre-emptive shareholder rights; these are by their
nature often assoclated with smalfer companies. It is not inconceivable that we will make exceptions and vote

against our own policy: as with all our voting, we proceed on a case by case basis.

We regard a smaller company as having a market capitalisation of £1.5bn or less.

Below are the specifics of the policy:

Agenda Type

155 policy

Majedie Policy

Smatler Company Board Structure

Where Non-Executive Directors (NEDs)
are members of internal baards, or
where members of the board sit on more
than one internal committee, this is
regarded as heing against best practice,
and therefore the recommendation is to
vote against such proposals.

Give smafler companies greater
flexibility in the composition of
their boards for practicai reasons,
glven personnel limitations, unless
we take issue with one of the board
members,

{ssuances with Pre-emptive Rights

Propasals of greater than 33% of Issued
Share Capital are against best practice
and therefore the recommendation is to
vote against.

As shareholders we will be given
the right to take up the issuance,
and therefore will not be diluted.
We therefore vote for such
proposals,

[ssuances without Pre-emptive Rights

Proposals of greater than 10% of {ssued
Share Capltal are against best practice
and therefore the recommendation is to
vote against,

Vate in line with 1SS as such
issuances are potentially dilutive
for shareholders.

Political Contributions

Vote for.

Vote against. We fike to maintain
an independent stance.

Majedie Asset Management Limited

Page 115

12




VOTING SUMMARY

Please see below a breakdown of the meetings and resolutions which pertain to your portfolio,

SUMMARY VOTES PERCENT
Number of meetings voted at this period 26

Number of resolutions 186

Where we vated in line with Management i81 97.3
Where we have not voted in line with Management 5 2.7
Where we have voted against I55's recommendation 12 6.5

Source: Majedie, 1SS (Institutional Shargholder Services)

The table below is a breakdown of the humber of resolutions where we have either voted against Management or
against the recommendation of iS5,

CATEGORY AGAINST MANAGEMENT AGAINST 1SS AGAINST POLICY
Board efection & related proposals 0 2 1
Capitalisation 0 5 4
Misceflaneous 0 0 0
Remuneration 2 2 4
Reorg. and Mergers 0 0 0
Routine/Business 3 3 4]
Total 5 12 9
Sources: Majedie, IS5 {Institutional Shareholder Services)

tajedie Asset Management Limited 13

Page 116




VOTING BREAKDOWN

SECURITY NAME MEETING DATEMEETING TYPE MAJEDIE VOTE IN LINE
WITH 1SS
BERKELEY ENERGIA* 14 Dec 2016 EGM Voted for all No
BERKELEY ENERGIA® 22 Nov 2016 AGM Voted for all No
BHP BILLITON 200ct 2016 AGM Voted for all Yes
CHARLEMAGNE CAPITAL 02 Dec 2016 Court Voted for all Yes
CHARLES STANLEY GROUP 21Dec 2016 EGM Voted for all Yes
COMMUNISIS 09 Nov 2016 EGM Voted for all Yes
CRESTON 16 Dec 2016 EGM Voted for all Yes
CRESTON 16 Dec 2016 Court Voted for all Yes
DIAMONDCORP#* 16 Nov2016 EGM Voted for all No
DOLPHIN CAPITAL INVESTORS* 19Dec 2016 EGM Against Resolution 1 Yes
DUNELM 22 Nov 2016 AGM Voted for all Yes
GRESHAM COMPUTING 17 Nov 2016 EGM Voted for all Yes
HAYS* 0% Nov 2016 AGM Against Resolution 15 No
HOTEL CHOCOLAT 01 Dec 2016 AGM Voted for all Yes
MP EVANS 23Dec2016 EGM Voted for all Yes
NORSEMAN GOLD 30Dec 2016 AGM Vated for all Yes
OPG POWER VENTURE* 14 Nov 2016 AGM Voted for all Na
PLUSS500* 15 bec 2016 EGM Against Resolutions 1, 2 Yes
RANK GROUP* 14 Oct 2016 AGM Against Reselution 15 No
RPS GROUP 30 Nov 2016 EGM Voted for all Yes
SHANKS GROUP 24 0ct 2016 EGM Voted for all Yas
SPEYMILL DEUTSCHE 21 Dec2016 AGM Voted for all Yes
SYLVANIA PLATINUM 18 Nov 2016 AGM Voted for all Yes
VERNALIS 01 Dec2016 AGM Voted for all Yes
VOLUTION® 08 Dec 2016 AGM Against Resolution 13 No
YOUGOV 07 Dec 2016  AGM Voted for all Yes

Source : 1SS {Institutional Shareholder Services)

Majedie Asset Management Limited

Page 117




VOTING NOTES

s Berkeley Energia, AGM: On Resolution 1, the Fund Manager considered the 1SS research and concluded that
management are well paid for leading major change. We are supportive of what is a transformative strategy
and are also keen to allow small companies more flexibility, On Resolution 2, the Fund Manager considered
the ISS research and concluded that this director is not on too many boards, as his other responsibilities are
on a much smaller scale, the listed responsibilities are for limited companies not public limited companies and
to some extent are complementary. On Resolution 4, this issuance is below the criteria 155 set and within our
tolerance for share issuance, therefore we chose to vote with management and against [SS.

e Berkeley Energla, EGM: On Resolutions 2 and 3, we voted for the item (share issuance). IS5 recommended a
vote against, however we considered that the company was prudently issuing shares to advance their first
project through to production. We had clear evidence the Board respected shareholders’ pre-emptive rights.

e DiamondCorp, EGM: IS5 recommended a vote on Resolutions 4 and 5 against the issue of equity with pre-
emptive rights, as the amount proposed (41.78%) exceeded the recommended amount {33%). We chose to
vote in favour as we retain our shareholder rights should the issuance take place.

¢ Dolphin Capital Investors, EGM: We voted against ltem 1 and in favour of Item 2 which permitted amendments
to the distribution policy and amendments to the investment management agreement.

» Hays, AGM: On Resolution 15, Majedie voted against political donations and expenditure in line with our usual
policy.

s OPG Power Ventures, AGM: On Resolution 4, although Arvind Gupta holds both the offices of CEO and
Chairman, he is critical to the success of the company and we are supportive of the company's strategy.
Therefore, we do not wish to vote against his appointment or convey less support than we actually have by
an abstention. We do discuss with our smaller companies the need to separate these roles as the business
develops and matures, as a matter of routine governance engagement.

+  PLUS500, EGM: On resolution 1, relating to the CEQ's employment agreement, and resolution 2, relating to
the CFO's employment agreement, we note the company's explanation of the change in terms of employment
but consider they should have been amended on appointment, not subsequently. We also agree with 155's
view that the vesting period is not in line with best practice as it is too short at under three years.

s  The Rank Group, AGM: On Resolution 2, we considered that the salary level for the CEQ was fair, as it was the
Jowest of the peer group. The disclosure of the bonus could have been improved and we resolved to feed this
back, but in itself it was acceptable. The block awards again were sensible but were to be reviewed by the
campany. The banus for Henry Birch was not out of line. There was scope to improve, but it was not so marked
as to justify voting against. Therefore, we voted against 15S's recommendation and in favour.

s Volution Group, AGM: On Resolution 13, Majedie voted against political donations and expenditure in line
with our usual policy.

Majedie Asset Management Limited 5

Page 118




Vote Summary Report

Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016

Location(s): Massachusetts Financial Services

Institution Account(s): MFS Investment Fund - Global Equity Fund

MFS

Sky plc
Meeting Date: 10/13/2016 Country: United Kingdom Primary Security ID: G8212B105 Meeting ID: 1089073
Record Date: 10/11/2016 Meeting Type: Annual Ticker: SKY
Primary CUSIP: G15632105 Primary ISIN: GB0001411924 Primary SEDOL: 0141152
Voting Policy: MFS
Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec Instruction
1 Accept Financial Statements and Statutory Mgmt For For
Reports
2 Approve Final Dividend tgmt For For
3 Approve Remuneration Report Mgmt For For
4 Re-elect Jeremy Darroch as Director Mgmt For For
5 Re-elect Andrew Griffith as Director Mgmt For For
6 Re-elect Tracy Clarke as Director Mamt For For
7 Re-elect Martin Gilbert as Director Mgmt For For
8 Re-elect Adine Grate as Director Mgmt For For
9 Re-elect Matthieu Pigasse as Director Mamt For For
10 Re-elect Andy Sukawaty as Director Mgmt For For
11 Re-elect James Murdoch as Director Mgmt For Against
12 Re-elect Chase Carey as Director Mgmt For For
13 Elect John Nallen as Director Mgmt For For
14 Reappoint Deloitte LLP as Auditors and Mgmt For For
Authorise Their Remuneration
15 Authorise EU Political Donations and Mgmt For For
Expenditure
16 Authorise Issue of Equity with Pre-emptive Mgmt For For
Rights
17 Authorise Issue of Equity without Pre-emptive Mgmt For For
Rights
18 Authorise Issue of Equity without Pre-emptive Mgmt For For
Rights
19 Authorise the Company to Call General Mgmt For For
Meeting with Two Weeks' Notice
Page 1 of 7

Page 119




Vote Summary Report

Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016

Location(s): Massachusetts Financial Services

Institution Account(s): MFS Investment Fund - Global Equity Fund

St. Jude Medical, Inc.

Primary Security ID: 790849103

-Meeu'ng Date: 10/26/2016 Country: USA Meeting ID: 1091707
Record Date: 09/16/2016 Meeting Type: Annual Ticker: ST1
Primary CUSIP: 790845103 Primary ISIN: US7908491035 Primary SEDOL: 2767381
Voting Policy: MFS

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec Instruction

1 Approve Merger Agreement Mgmt For For

2 Advisory Vote on Golden Parachutes Mgmt For Against

3a Elect Director Stuart M. Essig Mgmt For For

3b Elect Director Barbara B. Hill Mgmt For For

3c Elect Director Michael A. Rocca Mgmt For For

4 Advisory Vole to Ratify Named Executive Mgmt For Against

Officers' Compensation

5 Approve Omnibus Stock Plan Mgmt For For

6 Declassify the Board of Directors Mgmt For For

7 Provide Proxy Access Right Mgmt For For

8 Ratify Emst & Young LLP as Auditors Mgmt For For

9 Adjourn Meeting Mgmt For For

10 Reduce Supermajority Vote Requirement SH Against For
Samsung Electronics Co. Ltd.
| 1
Meeting Date: 10/27/2016 Country: South Korea Primary Security ID: Y74718100 Meeting ID: 1089608
Record Date: 09/28/2016 Meeting Type: Spedial Ticker: A005930
Primary CUSIP: Y74718100 Primary ISIN: KR7005930003 Primary SEDOL: 6771720

Voting Policy: MFS

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec Instruction

1 Approve Spin-0ff Agreement Mgmt For For

2 Elect Lee Jae-yong as Inside Director Mgmt For For

Page 2 of 7

Page 120




Vote Summary Report

Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016
Location(s): Massachusetts Financial Services
Institution Account(s): MFS Investment Fund - Global Equity Fund

Oracle Corporation

Meeting Date: 11/16/2016
Record Date: 09/19/2016

Primary CUSIP: 68389X105

Country: USA

Meeting Type: Annual

Primary ISIN: US68389X1054

Voting Policy: MFS

Primary Security ID: 68389X105

Ticker: ORCL

Primary SEDOL: 2661568

Meeting ID: 1091434

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec Instruction
1.1 Elect Director Jeffrey S. Berg Mgmt For For
1.2 Elect Director H. Raymond Bingham Mgmt For Withho!d
1.3 Elect Director Michael . Boskin Mgmt For For
14 Elect Director Safra A. Catz Mgmt For For
15 Elect Director Bruce R. Chizen Mamt For For
1.6 Elect Director George H. Conrades Mgmt For Withhold
1.7 Elect Director Lawrence J. Ellison Mgmt For For
1.8 Elect Director Hector Garda-Molina Mgmt For For
1.9 Elect Director Jeffrey O. Henley Mgmt For For
1.10 Elect Director Mark V. Hurd Mgmt For For
1.11 Elect Director Renee 1. James Mgmt For For
1.12 Elect Director Leon E. Panetta Mgmt For For
1,13 Elect Director Naomi O. Seligman Mgmt For Withhold
2 Advisory Vote to Ratify Named Executive Mgmt For Against
Officers' Compensation
3 Ratify Emst & Young LLP as Auditors Mamt For For
4 Report on Lobbying Payments and Policy SH Against For

Pernod Ricard

Meeting Date: 11/17/2016
Record Date: 11/14/2016

Primary CUSIP: F72027109

Proposal
Number  Proposal Text

Country: France
Meeting Type: Annual/Special

Primary ISIN: FRO000120693

Voting Policy: MFS

Proponent

Primary Security 1D: F72027109

Ticker: RI

Primary SEDOL: 4682329

Mgmt Rec

Meeting ID: 1092498

Vote
Instruction

Ordinary Business

Mgmt

Page 3of 7

Page 121




Vote Summary Report

Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016

Location(s): Massachusetts Financial Services

Institution Account(s): MFS Investment Fund - Global Equity Fund

Pernod Ricard

Proposal Vote
Number Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec Instruction

1 Approve Financial Statements and Statutory Mgmt For For
Reports

2 Approve Consolidated Financial Statements Mgmt For For
and Statutory Reports

3 Approve Allocation of Income and Dividends Mgmt For For
of EUR 1.88 per Share

4 Approve Auditors' Special Report on Mgmt For For
Related-Party Transactions

5 Approve Termination Package of Alexandre Mgmt For For
Ricard

6 Reelect Alexandre Ricard as Director Mgmt For For

7 Reelect Pierre Pringuet as Director Mgmt For For

8 Reelect Cesar Giron as Director Mgmt For For

9 Reelect Wolfgang Colberg as Director Mgmt For For

10 Ratify Appointment of Anne Lange as Director Mgmt For For

11 Appoint KPMG as Auditor Mgmt For For

12 Appoint Salustro Reydel as Alternate Auditor Mgmt For For

13 Approve Remuneration of Directors in the Mgmt For For
Aggregate Amount of EUR 970,000

14 Advisory Vote on Compensation of CEO, Mgmt For For
Aexandre Ricard

15 Authorize Repurchase of Up to 10 Percent of Mgmt For For
Issued Share Capital
Extraordinary Business Mgmt

16 Approve Restricted Stock Grants to Executives Mgmt For For
Partially Compensating Losses under the
Previous Benefit Pension Scheme

17 Authorize Capital Issuances for Use in Mgmt For For
Employee Stock Purchase Plans

18 Authorize Filing of Required Documents/Other Mgmt For For

Formalities

Medtronic plc

Meeting Date: 12/09/2016 Country: Ireland
Record Date: 10/11/2016 Meeting Type: Annual

Primary CUSIP: 585055106 Primary ISIN: IECOBTNLYLLS

Primary Security ID: G5960L103
Ticker: MDT

Primary SEDOL: BIN1Y11

Page 4 of 7

Page 122

Meeting ID: 1082969




Vote Summary Report

Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016

Location(s): Massachusetts Financial Services

Institution Account(s): MFS Investment Fund - Global Equity Fund

Medtronic plc

Voting Policy: MFS

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec Instruction
1a Elect Director Richard H. Anderson Mgmt For For
ib Elect Director Craig Amold Mgmt For For
1c Elect Director Scott C. Donnelly Mgmt For For
id Elect Director Randall 1. Hogan, I11 Mgmt For For
le Elect Director Omar Ishrak Mgmt For For
1if Elect Director Shirley Ann Jackson Mgmt For For
1g Elect Director Michael O. Leavitt Mgmt For For
ih Elect Director James T, Lenehan Mgmt For For
1i Elect Director Elizabeth G. Nabel Mgmt For For
1j Elect Director Denise M. O'Leary Mamt For For
1k Elect Director Kendall 1. Powell Mgmt For For
1l Elect Director Robert C. Pozen Mgmt For For
im Elect Director Preetha Reddy Mgmt For For
2 Ratify PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Mgmt For For
Auditors
3 Advisory Vote to Ratify Named Executive Mgmt For For
Officers' Compensation
4 Provide Proxy Access Right Mgmt For For
5a Amend Articles of Association Mgmt For For
5b Amend Memerandum of Association Mgmt For For
6 Amend Articles to Clarify the Board's Sole Mgmt For For
Authority to Determine its Size Within the
Fixed Limits
Cisco Systems, Inc.
.Meeling Date: 12/12/2016 Country: USA Primary Security ID: 17275R102 Meeting ID: 1096868
Record Date: 10/14/2016 Meeting Type: Annual Ticker: CSCO
Primary CUSIP: 17275R102 Primary ISIN: US17275R1023 Primary SEDOL: 2198163

Page 50of 7

Page 123




Vote Summary Report

Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016
Location(s): Massachusetts Financial Services
Institution Account(s): MFS Investment Fund - Global Equity Fund

Cisco Systems, Inc.

Voting Policy: MFS

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mamt Rec Instruction

la Elect Director Carol A. Bartz Mgmt For For

1b Elect Director M. Michele Burns Mamt For For

ic Elect Director Michael D. Capellas Mgmt For Against

1d Elect Director John T. Chambers Mgmt For For

le Elect Director Amy L. Chang Mgmt For For

if Elect Director John L. Hennessy Mamt For For

ig Elect Director Kristina M. Johnson Mgmt For For

1h Elect Director Roderick C. McGeary Mgmt For For

1i Elect Director Charles H. Robbins Mgmt For For

1j Elect Director Arun Sarin Mgmt For For

1k Elect Director Steven M. West Mgmt For For

2 Advisory Vote to Ratify Named Executive Mgmt For For
Dfficers' Compensation

3 Ratify PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Mgmt For For
Auditors

4 Report on Lobbying Payments and Policy SH Against For

5 Report on Arab and non-Arab Employees SH Against Against
using EEOQ-1 Categories

6 Establish Board Committee on Operations in SH Against Against

Israeli Settlements

Monsanto Company

Meeting Date: 12/13/2016
Record Date: 11/07/2016

Primary CUSIP: 61166W101

Voting Policy: MFS

Country: USA Primary Security ID: 61166W101
Meeting Type: Spedial Ticker: MON
Primary ISIN: US61166W1018 Primary SEDOL: 2654320

Meeting ID: 1100674

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Propaonent Mgmt Rec Instruction
1 Approve Merger Agreement Mgmt For For
2 Advisory Vote on Golden Parachutes Mgmt For For
Page 6 of 7

Page 124




Vote Summary Report

Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016

Location(s): Massachusetts Financial Services

Institution Account(s): MFS Investment Fund - Global Equity Fund

Monsanto Company

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec Instruction
3 Adjourn Meeting Mgmt For For

AutoZone, Inc.

Meeling Date: 12/14/2016 Country: USA Primary Security ID: 053332102 Meeting 1D: 1096867
Record Date: 10/17/2016 Meeting Type: Annual Ticker: AZO

Primary CUSIP: 053332102 Primary ISIN: US0533321024 Primary SEDOL: 2065955

Voting Policy: MFS

Proposal Vote

Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec Instruction
1.1 Elect Director Douglas H. Brooks Mgmt For For
2z Elect Director Linda A. Goodspeed Mgmt For For
1.3 Elect Director Sue E. Gove Mgmt For For
14 Elect Director Earl G. Graves, Ir. Mgmt For For
L5 Elect Director Enderson Guimaraes Mamt For For
1.6 Elect Director 1. R. Hyde, I1I Mgmt For For
L7 Elect Director D. Bryan Jordan Mgmt For For
1.8 Elect Director W. Andrew McKenna Mgmt For For
1.9 Elect Director George R. Mrkonic, Jr. Mgmt For For
1.10 Elect Director Luis P. Nieto Mgmt For For
1.11 Elect Director William C. Rhodes, 111 Mgmt For For
2 Ratify Emst & Young LLP as Auditors Mgmt For For
3 Amend Nonqualified Employee Stock Mgmt For For

Purchase Plan

4 Advisory Vote to Ratify Named Executive Mgmt For For

Officers' Compensation

Page 7 of 7

Page 125




Page 126




© Investec

Asset Management

HOXT ~49321L {eRads di) Bugaap
eissy chguno) 9702/50/2T :9neq Bugaon
JSid 1oy
204 404 dod 104 Hubp SIoNpnY 52 471 Bunoy, 1§ 1sui Ajney v
0t 104 404 204 by uogesLAdWI]) SO JADIXT PAWEN Apey O} S10A AloSInpy £
Wby UONN|0S3Y UMEIPYIIAL - SI001 g AeD J01anq 13913 11T
Wby LORN[OS3Y UMBIPLAIM - UOSYIA * L UYL 10152110 19913 012
404 404 404 o4 by 1es) {1 3psd) BuAys yr 10394 19913 61
404 104 dog Jod Wby JfemiEL -A HIugy 401090 19903 2T
“od 404 Jog dod Wby Auaqman D aydalg J0paad 191 o1
404 04 404 104 Wby ofia7 *d auuRLey) 1010840 1A 9T
404 03 04 404 by UESPaH Y AURSUL) J0paui] 199)g ST
24 O 404 04 MBI AsueyI3 v J9SSN0, 10108410 19913 1
04 03 o4 Jod by TOUUED Y PRI 0129410 19913 1
Jog 104 104 04 Wby Ipuelg N 3H3 1029 13 T
o4 04 404 4o BN 20sUY "¢ UE J01aQ P9 11
uonongsuy ¥y bonod Y 551 9y pubpy Jusuodold Pl jesodold  JIquiny
oA Bugoa [esodeag
X LEeoL, fenuuy “adA | Bunadp

VS :Agqunoy

9T0Z/60/T1 *23eq Bunaaw

uonesodio) yosesssy we

MBUAG [BGOIS - NI SBLIS SPUNJ| J3ISIAUT 1(S)IUN0ITY UOANIASLT

STOX/IE/ZT O 9TOZ/IC/0T : PasaacD abuel 3ieg
JModay Alpwawinsg 2308

Page 127



Vote Summary Report

Date range covered : 18/31/2016 to 12/31/2016

Institution Account(s): Investec Funds Series iii - Global Dynamic

Lukoil PISC

Proposal Voting Vote
Number Proposal Text, Proponent Mgmt Rec IS5 Rec Policy Rec Instruction
Meeting for ADR Holders Mgmt

1 Approve Interim Dividends for First Nine Months of Fiscal 2016 Mgmt For For For For

2 Approve Remuneration of Directors Mgmt For For For For
Medtronic plc
Meeting Date: 12/09/2016 Country: freland

Mecting Type: Annual Ticker: MDT

Proposal Voting Vote
Number Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec ISS Rec Policy Rec Instruction

1a Elect Director Richard H. Anclerson Mgmt For For For For

1b Elect Director Craig Arnold Mgmt For For For For

1c Elect Director Scott C. Donnefly Mgmt Far For Far For

1d Elect Director Randall 3. Hogan, I Mgmt For For For For

le Elect Director Omar Ishrak Mgmt For For For For

1f Elect Director Shirley Ann Jackson Mgmt For For Refer For

1g Elect Director Michael Q. Leavitt Mgmt For For For For

ih Elect Director James T. Lenehan Mgmt For For For For

Page 128



Uy

40 d04 dog Jubp 7ieg "y (048] 4014 PIT eT
uoonnsug 23y Aorjod 294 SSY 29y puby Judnodadd y@) [esodoyd  Joquinny
oA Bunon esodoidg
Q050 =Ry, [eruwy sadA) Bunoow
Y5 :AQuno) S102/71/2T :qeq Bunask
U “SalsAS 03510
SN Paxi A UYMW 3ZIS )l
J04 104 104 404 Wb BULIAAE 01 AJMOLINY B0 5,pie0g BUL AjLie 01 SSPIY puswly g
104 404 Jog Jog b UDZEII0SSY 4O LUNPUBIoWa) puatuy [+
03 04 104 104 by UONRDOSSY JO SRy pusily eg
104 a04 104 104 by Wby $5920Y AXC1d SPIACId ¥
404 404 404 04 Wby uonesuadn) SEDLQ SARNDSXT PALEN AIEY CF SI0A AOSIADY £
o4 104 104 o4 by SIOIpNY 5e 4T Siadoo)asnoliziemsond AJney z
J04 a0 a0y 104 Wubp Appay =gaarg 10153uq 1913 wr
104 2Ry dog4 104 UL ] U320 =) HRqDY 40108 1219 I
104 104 104 104 Wby l1emod “C [fepua J0193u1q 19913 T
404 aod o4 404 bty AeaT,0 "W @SIuaQ J0131] 1937 0
404 o Jog 404 by [PgEN "D YiRgez) 3 Jopalg 19 38
uoRongsuy o3y Aoljog 39y SS1 29y Jwbp Jupucdotd PRL[esodoly  RGuny
ajon, Bunoa resododd
2id S1uCL PR

MULUA] [RGOIS - I} SIUIS SPUNS HIISIAU H(STUNODIY LORNIRSUT

9TOZ/TE/ZT ) STOZ/TC/OT : pasaaco abues aieq
Modoy Alewuuns 230/

Page 129



Vote Summary Report
Date range covered : 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016

Institution Account(s): Investec Funds Series iii - Giobal Dynamic

Cisco Systems, Inc.

Proposal Voting Vote
Numher Proposal Text Froponent, Mgmt Rec ISS Rec Policy Rec Instruction

1ib Elect Director M. Michele Bums Mgmt For For Against For

1c Elect Director Michael D. Capellas Mgmt For For Against For

1d Efect Director John T. Chambers Mgmt For For For For

le Elect Director Amy L Chang Mgmt For For For For

if Elect Director John L Hennessy Mgmt For For Against For

ig Elect Director Kristina M. Johnson Mgmt For For For For

th Elect Director Roderick C. McGeary Mgmt For for Against For

1 Elect Director Charles H. Robbins Mgmt For for For For

1j Elect Director Arun Sarin Mgmt For For For For

1k Elect Director Steven M. West Mgmt Far For Against For

2 Advisory Vote to Ratify Named Executive Officers' Compensation Mgt For For For For

3 Ratify PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors Mgmt For For For For

4 Report on Lobbying Payments and Policy SH Against For Refer For

5 Report on Arab and nor-Arab Employees using EEO-1 Categories SH Against Against Refer Against

6 Establish Board Committee on Gperations in Israeli Settlements SH Against Against Refer Against

Page 130



HARRIS ASSOCIATES L.P. |

Vote Summary Report
Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016
Institution Account(s): 5984 -Shropshire County Pension Fund

Samsung Electronics Co. Ltd.

Meeting Date: 10/27/2016 Country: South Korea Primary Security ID: Y74718100
Record Date: 09/28/2016 Meeting Type: Spedal Ticker: A005930 ‘
Primary CUSIP: Y74718100 Primary ISIN: KR7005930003 Primary SEDOL: 6771720 ‘

Shares Voted: 2,400

[ = o= e

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec ISS Rec Instruction
1 Approve Spin-Off Agreement Mgmt For For For
2 Elect Lee Jae-yong as Inside Director Mgmt For For For

Microsoft Corporation

Meeting Date: 11/30/2016 Country: USA Primary Security ID: 594918104
Record Date: 09/30/2016 Meeting Type: Annual Ticker: MSFT

Primary CUSIP: 594518104 Primary ISIN: US5949181045 Primary SEDOL: 2588173

Shares Voted: 30,500

Proposal Vote

Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec ISS Rec Instruction
1.1 Elect Director Willlam H. Gates, Il Mamt For For For
1.2 Elect Director Teri L. List-Stoll Mamt For For For
13 Elect Director G. Mason Morfit Mgmt For For For
14 Elect Director Satya Nadella Mgmt For For For
1.5 Elect Director Charles H. Noski Mgmt For For For
1.6 Elect Director Helmut Panke Mgmt For For For
1:7 Elect Director Sandra E. Peterson Mgmt For For For
1.8 Elect Director Charles W. Scharf Mgmt For For For
1.9 Elect Director John W. Stanton Mgmt For For For
1.10 Elect Director John \. Thompson Mgmt For For For
111 Elect Director Padmasree Warrior Mgmt For For For
2 Advisory Vote to Ratify Named Executive Mgmt For For For

Officers' Compensation

3 Ratify Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors Mgmt For For For
4 Amend Right to Call Special Meeting Magmt For For For
5 Amend Omnibus Stock Plan Mgmt For For For

Page 131




Vote Summary Report
Date range covered: 10/01/2016 to 12/31/2016
Institution Account(s): 5984 -Shropshire County Pension Fund

Microsoft Corporation

Proposal Vote
Number  Proposal Text Proponent Mgmt Rec 155 Rec Instruction
6 Proxy Access SH Against For Against

Page 132




Q4 2016 £ESG Impact Report

Corporate governance
and active ownership

Q4 2016 ESG impact report

This is not a consumer advertisement.
It is intended for investrent professionals '
and should not be relied upon by private Léglallefial

Investors or any other persons. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
Page 133




Q4 2016 ESG Impact Report

1ission

To use our influence to ensure that:

Companies integrate Markets and regulators
environmental, social create an environment
W= and governance (ESG) m-Im in which good

factors into their management of ESG
culture and everyday factors is valued and
thinking. supported.




ESG hmpact Report Q4 2016

Creating sustainable value: Ensuring that

boards and manag

ement are best equipped

to create resilient and long-term growth,

We want to safeguard and grow our clients’ assets

by ensuring that com
sustainable growth.To

panies are well positioned for
be successful in the long term,

companies need to have people at the top who are able

to deliver sustainable
collaboratively with th

value. We engage directly and
em to highlight key challenges

and opportunities in their sector and support strategiss

that can deliver long-term success.

Influencing the debate: Identifying and
engaging on key themes and emerging
governance topics.

We use our scale to influence markets and the
regulatory environment to ensure that issues impacting
the value of our clients’ investments are recognised
and appropriately managed. We identify key themes
and emerging governance topics so that we can
understand these risks and opportunities and react
accordingly. This includes working with governments,
regulators and other decision-makers to promote a
certain course of action and often collaborating with
others to effect change.

O,

Improving companies: Protecting and
enhancing our clients’ assets by supporting
change and holding management
accountable for their decisions.

As stewards of our clients’ assets, we believe that real
change is best achieved through being an engaged
and active owner. In doing so, our investment process
includes an assessment of how well companies
incorporate relevant environmental, social and
governance factors into their everyday thinking. We act
on our analysis and engage with companies to improve
their performance to protect client assets. Voting is also
an important tool, which we use to hold management
to account.

Page 135 — e




Q4 2016 ESG Impact Report

Latest news an

developments
Q4 2016

Future World Fund

In Novemnber 2016, LGIM launched the FutureWorld Fund,
a multi-factor global equities index fund that incorporates
a climate 'tilt’ to address the investment risks associated
with climate change. HSBC Bank UK Pension Scheme,
one of the largest corporate pension funds, has selected
this fund for its equity default option, worth £1.85 billion,
in its DC scheme. In doing so, it becomes one of the first
schemes to adopt a multi-factor investment strategy
incorporating a degree of climate change protection as
its default fund. Legal & General will also be investing
its own capital in to the fund {see link http://update.lgim.
com/futurefund).

The Future World Fund incorporates LGIM’s Climate
Impact Pledge, in which LGIM commits to engage with
the world’s largest companies that will need to adapt their
business models and drive innovation in order to meet
global climate change goals.

LGIM has identified the largest companies in six key
sectors that it believes are pivotal to shift the market to
a low carbon economy. Across all of our holdings, we
will vote against the Chair of those companies who fail
to meet LGIM’s minimum criteria after an engagement
period and in the Future World Fund will divest from these
same companies.

Business Innovation and Skills {BIS) Comorate
Govemnance Inquiry

LGIM responded to a Corporate Governance Inquiry
announced by the BIS Select Committee in September.
The purpose of the inquiry was to investigate the failures
in UK Corporate Governance following the collapse of
BHS and impact on its pension fund and the failures at
Sports Direct. Views on remedies for improvement were
also sought by the Committee.

S Page 136

LGV submitted evidence on the current state of Corporate
Governance in the UK and also provided constructive
feedback on practical remedies to improve the integrity
of the market. This includes increased scrutiny on
remuneration levels and greater accountabhility of directors
to their employees and stakeholders.

Stewardship Code Statement

LGIM was pleased to have its UK Stewardship Code
Staternent assessed asTier 1 by the Financial Reporting
Council as part of its review into reporting of the
Stewardship Code. This means we have provided a
good quality and transparent description of our approach
to stewardship and explanations where an alternative
approach was necessary. LGIM’s updated UK Stewardship
Code Statement can be found here: {link http:/vwww.lgim.
com/flibrary/capabilities/UK_Stewardship_Code.pdf}.

Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
{ICSA) Award

For the second consecutive year, LGIM's Corporate
Governance team received the ICSA award of ‘Best
Investor Engagement’ for 2016.The award aims to reward
the investor who has, according to the judgment of FTSE
350 company secretaries, provided the most constructive
company engagement during the year.

Corporate Governance in Japan

We attended the Asian Corporate Governance Association
annual conference inTokyo. There has been continuing
progress in governance standards in Japan, especially on
board independence. In 2016, 78% of companies in Japan
had at least two independent directors on the board (up
from 21.5% in 2014}. We also submitted a collaborative
response to the Tokyo Stock Exchange consultation on
corporate reporting reform.




Marrakech Climate Change Conference

LGIM attended the COP22 in Marrakech for climate talks,
following the successfui agreement in Paris which came
into force on 4 November 2016. The discussions were
mainly on the financing of the low carbon transition now
that the global goal has been crystallised.

We aiso presented the Future World Fund and Climate
Impact Pledge concept to many different ministerial
audiences, to showecase the ways in which this transition
can be embraced by pensions schemes.

External Presentations and Events

In October, LGIM presented at the LGC Investment Seminar
in Scotland. We discussed how positive engagement
can enhance value for LGPS funds and explained how
it creates sustainable value, influences the debate and
improves companies.

We also presented at an Investrnent Seminar in Dublin. We
explained why ESG matters in the changing investment
landscape and presented our engagement process and
talked about the new Climate Impact Pledge.

Lastly, in December, we presented at the ltalian Corporate
Governance Conference on shareholder involvement in
the appointment of directors to the board.

For more information regarding voting statistics and
engagement, please go to: www.|gim.com/cgupdate

POLICY AND PRACTICE

We aim to increase and protect shareholder vaiue on
behalf of our clients by exercising their voting rights.
We also engage with companies both directly and
collaboratively with other investors to reduce risks of
corporate failure and promote best practice. We comply
with the principles set out in the UK Stewardship Code
and are a signatory to the UN Principles of Responsible
Investment {PRI).

ESG Impact Report Q4 2016

http:/iwww.|lgim.com/uk/en/capabilities/corporate-
governance/

In order to demonstrate key governance issues, voting
statistics are divided up into main voting categories. We
engage on a range of environmental, social, governance
{ESG} and financial issues and integrate all components
where appropriate.

All votes in the UK, North American and Japan markets
are publicly disclosed on our website along with our
voting policies.

LGIM votes in all major developed markets including:
Europe, North America, Japan and Asia Pacific, and
have minimised abstentions. We also vote in the major
emerging markets and have started reporting on our
activities in this region.

Page 137




04 2016 ESG Impact Report

egional updates
UK

KEY COMPANY ENGAGEMENTS

What is the issue:

SVG Capital {SVG) is a FTSE 250 investment trust and the third targest private equity trust listed in

| the UK. Along with most other investment trusts operating in the sector there was a large discount
between the value of the assets and the value of the investment trust. [espite various positive actions
1 taken by the board the valuation discount was relatively persistent. In addition, a major shareholder of
SVG, who holds 26% of the share capital, had been voting against the management and board of SVG
for over four years.

Why is it an issue:

A persistent discounted share price affects the value of the underlying assets and means that
shareholders do not see the full benefit of their invastment until the discount closes or assets are
fiquidated with cash being returned to shareholders. Additionally, we eonsider that participants in the
private equity listed investment trust sector need scale in order to invest, obtain the best terms for
transactions and find partners for larger projects. Having a dissenting major shareholder constrained
their ability to issue new capital and expand.

What did LGIM do?

At the beginning of September 2016, LGIM was told confidential information and was informed of a
hostile bid for SVG launched by Harbourvest, a private equity company. SVG’s shares were priced at
£5.68 compared to the initial offer by Harbourvest of £6.50.

Once the Harbourvest bid was made public, shareholders of SVG Capital had four weeks to accept or
reject the offer. During this fime we held two meetings with the Chairman and Senior Independent
Director of SVG, and exchanged a number of e-mails, encouraging them to seek alternative solutions
and offers to increase sharehofder value. Over the next four weeks SVG received two offers from two
other parties at a higher price to the initial Harbourvest offer. At the beginning of October, Harbourvest
submitted an increased revised offer of £715 per share.

The outeome?

At $VG's General Meeting, held on 5th Decembaer 2016, LGIM voted in favour of the revised offer by
Harbourvest which will deliver £715 per share to shareholders. This is at a premium to the value of
the underlying assets and compares with the original share price of £5.68 prior to the bid being made.
Therefore, significant vafue has been realised for all shareholders, inciuding LGIM clients.

. What is the issue:
SABMiller received a takeover offer from AB InBev, which first offered £42.15 per share for the
company in October 2015,

The size of the deal was very significant, representing the fourth largest merger of all time.
Additionally, the two major shareholders had a bespoke arrangement under the terms of the deal.
Minority shareholders were concerned about the offer price and the leve! of involvement of the two
major shareholders in the deal.

What did LGIM do?
As atop ten shareholder and trusted leng-term investor, we have held extensive dialogue with the
company over many years on a wide range of topics.

Immediately post the initial offer by ABInbev we held sensitive and discrete discussions with the
Chairman on the bid process and price. Additionally we consulted major shargholders on both sides of
the bid before delivering one coherent message: remain independent unless the price improves. At this
point, SABMiller’s board accepted an increased bid of £44 per share,

In July 2016, we spoke with the activist investors, the Chairman and advisors and then lent our support
to the Board to push for an increase in the offer due to the significant currency moves.

The outcome?
The final offer was increased to £45 per share,

Sharehalders including LGIM chose to support the 1erms of the deal at the company’s General Meeting
held at the end of September 20186, yielding significant extra value for investors and LGIM clients.

— Page 138




ESG Impact Report Q4 2016

Q4 2016 VOTING SUMMARY UK

Voting issue breakdown (against and abstain)

. i v b Routine/Business
Anti-takeover Related 43

Capitalisation 271 4

Reorg. and Mergers
Directors Related 420 18
Non-Salary Comp. 101 24 Non-Salary Comp.
Reorg. and Mergers 22 5
Routine/Business 335 4 Directors Related

SH-Compensation

SH-Corp Governance Capitalization
SH-Dirs' Related 6 {', 1.9 1,5 20 25 30
SH-Gen Econ lssues uVotes against and abstain breakdown

SH-Health/Environ.

SH-Other/misc.
Number of companies voted against/abstain

SH-Routine/Business

SH-Soc./Human Rights

Social Proposal

Total 1198 56
Total resolutions 1254
No. AGMs 82
No. EGMs 36
No. of companies voted 13
No. of companies where voted against/abstain 97

at least one resolution

% no. of companies where at least one vote against 24

» No. of companies supported

A « No. of companies where voted against/absiain

‘I.GIM voted against at least weast o resohfon
one resolution at 24% of UK
companies over the quarter.”

Source for il data LGIM. The votes above represents against management voting instructions for our main FTSE pooled index funds

Page 139 | _— -




04 2016 ESG Impact Report

Regional update:

Furope

KEY COMPANY ENGAGEMENTS

What is the issue:

The company operates in tough industry conditions due to the low oil price and is exposed to climate
change risks. This includes a reduction in the available resources that can be extracted econamically
and the strengthening of climate regulation, which constitutes a financial and reputational risk for the
business.

Why is it an issue:

In light of international commitments under the COP21 Paris Agreement, which aims to limit the
increase in global temperatures below 2 degrees above pre-industrial levels, and the overall focus of
the international community on climate change, investors need assurance that the business models of
companies they invest in are robust and viable over the long term.

What did L GIM do?
We have been engaging with Repsol on climate change issues for the last two years, In 2015 we pushed
for improved transparency in R&D disclosure on ¢limate change.

Maost recently in November we attended a Sustainability Day conference organised by the company
with other investors, This was the opportunity to get a better understanding of the company's long-term
strategy for a low carbon economy and directly ask questions to Board members and company directors.

Furthermore, we had detailed engagement with seven company represenltatives the next day to discuss
the integration of sustainability considerations into the company's strategy and culture.

This meeting was also the opportunity to raise broader governance topics such as succession planning
and board diversity, and give our views,

The outcome?
Further to our past engagement, the company provided us with detaited information on their innovation
and technological development programmes as part of their initiatives to tackle climate change.

In addition, the company assured us its sustainability strategy is embedded in its overall strategy and
made clear commitments in terms of progress towards a low carbon emissions future,

We will monitor progress and continue to engage with the company on the subject.

What is the issue:

We first mat with the company in April 2016 and had a follow up meeting with the Lead Independent
Director {LID} in October to hear directly from a Board Director regarding Corporate Governance
arrangements and Board composition. In addition, issues were raised at the last AGM regarding
remuneration.

Why is it an issue:

it is important to ensure that the Board has proper oversight to ensure that it creates long-term
sustainable shareholder value. Furthermore, the Company has a joint Chafr/CEO which is not in line
with best practice as power in the company is concentrated in the hands of one individual. Lastly,
remuneration needs to be linked with the strategy in order to incentivise management.

What did LGIM do?

Whilst we supported the company at the AGM we met the LID who explained how the Board
concentrates on the long-term vision of the business and how research and development plays an
important part in meeting customer demands in the future. Examples were given around how the
company embraces technology including looking at solar power, energy storage such as batteries,
smart solutions and the process of cross-pollination between different divisions in the company to
promote learning and growth.

In addition, in terms of the governance structure, the LID explained how risks were mitigated around
the power of the joint Chair/CEO and how succession planning on the Board would be addressed.

The outcome?

The LID committed to better reporting on how the Remuneration Committee sets targets on how pay is
linked to the long-term strategy and stated that they will be stretching beyond market expectations to
challenge management. The LID also explained the possibility of a further appointment to the Board to
enhance skills and experience where they currently lack.

S Page 140




E£SG Impact Report Q4 2016

04 2016 VOTING SUMMARY EUROPE

Voting issue breakdown {against and abstain)

Anti-takeover Related 1 Routine/Business
Capitalisation 13 6
Directors Related 63 10 Non-Salary Comp.
Non-Salary Comp. 15 6
Reorg. and Mergers 10 ‘

Directors Related
Routine/Business 63 3
SH-Compensation

Capitatization
SH-Corp Governance P

SH-Dirs' Related 1 6 2 4 6 8 10 12

SH-Gen Econ Issues uVotes against and abstain breakdown

SH-Health/Environ.
SH-Other/mise,

Number of companies voted against/abstain

SH-Routine/Business

SH-Soc./Human Rights

Social Proposal

Total 166 25
Total resolutions 191
No. AGMs 8
No, EGMs 10
MNo. of companies voted 18
No, of companies where voted against/abstain 7

at least one resolution

% no. of companies where at least one vote against 39

= No. of companies supported

‘LGIM voted against at least e omperies e oo sgaiaetle
one resolution at 39% of
European companies over

the quarter. A

Source for all data LGIM. The votes above represents against management voling instructions for our main FTSE pooled index funds

e Page 14T .




Q4 2016 ESG Impact Report

egional update
North America

KEY COMPANY ENGAGEMENTS

What is the issue:

The company was involved in an internal cross-sefling scandal involving over 5,000 employess who were
found to be miss-selling products to existing customers and setting up additional fee paying accounts
without customer permission. The CEQ was questioned by the Senate Banking Committee and had
approximately $40m of his pay clawed back. However, he stilf remained in office whilst some offending
employees were dismissed.

Why is it an issue:
The CEQ is uitimately responsible and accountable for the company and its employees. LGIM believed
that the CEQ should have resigned for the clear failure of oversight.

What did LGIM do?

LGIM has been engaging with the company for the last two years, primarily with the board’s Lead
Director. Following the eross-selling scandal being reported, we spoke privately to the company and

the Lead Director to reguest that the CEQ step down. LGIM also requesied that the roles of Chair and
CEO become separate and that this structure is implemented into the company bylaws going forward
rather than just as an emergency succession process, LGIM had voted against the CEQ in his position as
non-gxacutive director on two othar US boards due to overboarding and our concerns with his ability to
commit enough time to all three roles.

The outcome?

Soon after our engagement we were informed that the CEO stepped down and that the Lead Director had
taken on the role as board Chair. The CEO also stepped down from his non-executive roles on the two
ather US boards. Shortly after this announcement, the company also informed us that changes had been
made to the company bylaws to require that the CEO and Chair roles be separate effective immediately.
We support these changes which we believe will strengthen the company’s corporate governance
structure.

What is the issue:
The company has consistently failed to acknowledge support of the Paris Agreement on climate change
and to report on its portfolio resifience/stress testing in a 2 degree scenario.

Why is it an issue:

Due to the commitment by governmaents in the Paris Agreement to limit climate warming to 2 degrees,
the Oil and Gas sector is at risk of many of its assets being stranded. This means that companies may
not be able to burn all the reserves they have on their bocks due to fimits on global warming, which
constitutes a financial risk in the shont and long term. Investors therefore need transparency around
this information to undarstand both the financial risks and atso what companies are doing to diversify
energy production away from fossil fuels to ensure they remain viable for the long term.

What did LGiM do?

LGIM held several private conversations in 2016 with the company on this issue but has recently joined
farces with several other investors to ask the company to provide this relevant information. In the last
quarter we have had two collaborative meetings with the company on this maiter.

This follows on from the vote at the AGM in April where LGIM publically pre-declared support for
the shareholder proposal put to the company at the AGM on climate change disclosure, to allow the
company and stakeholders to understand the importance of the issue.

The outcome?

On 4 November the company issued a statement welcoming the Paris Agreement. We will continue
to work with the company and collectively with other shareholders on the disclosure of their portfolio
rasilience reporting.

e page 42




Q4 2016 VOTING SUMMARY NORTH AMERICA

Anti-takeover Related 1 1
Capitalisation 7 3
Directors Related 314 43
Mon-Salary Comp. 40 19
Recrg. and Mergers 6 t
Routine/Business 46 1
SH-Compensation 1
SH-Corp Governance 2
SH-Dirs' Related 3

SH-Gen Econ Issues

SH-Health/Environ. 1
SH-Other/misc. 2 2
SH-Routine/Business

SH-Sec/Human Rights

Social Proposal 1

Total 430 80
Total resolutions 510
No. AGMs 37
No. EGMs H
No. of companies voted 48
No. of companies vyhere voted against/abstain 20
at least one resolution

% no. of companies where at least one vote against 63

‘LGIM voted against at least

one resolution at 63% of

North American companies

over the guarter.

ESG tmpact Report 04 2016

Voting issue breakdown (against and abstain)

SH-Other/misc. |

SH-Health/Enviran.

SH-Corp..f

SH-Compensation

Routine/Business

Reorg. and Mergers |

Hon-Salary Comp.
Direclors Related
Capitalization
Antitakeover Related

T

[ 20 40 60

BVotes against and abstain breakdown

Number of companies voted against/abstain

» No. of companies supported

= No, of companles where voled against/abstain
at least one resolution

Source for all data LGIM. The votes above represents against management voting instructions for our main FTSE peoled index funds

 Page 143

n




Q4 2016 £SG Impact Report

egional updates

Japan

KEY COMPANY ENGAGEMENTS

What is the issue:
Japan continues its positive corporate governance reforms following the introduction of its first
Corporate Governance Code in 2015,

Japan's corporate reporting regime and practices are often duplicative with multiple reports needing to
be produced and audited. The Financial Council Disclosure Working Group (set up under the FSA) put
forward proposals to allow companies more freedom in the format that they use for the ‘earnings digest’
which is used for reporting quarterly and annual results.

In October 2016 the Tokyo Stock Exchange (TSE) launched a consultation of reform on these

proposals. Whilst we are supportive of corporate reporting reform in Japan, we had concerns that the
implementation of the proposals would have unintended consequences for shareholders by not requiring
a full set of financial staternents to be prepared ahead of the AGM.

Why is it an issue:

In Japan, the audited Annual Repott is not normally available until after the AGM. Therefore, investors
are reliant on the full financial statements published with the fourth quarter earnings digest as the only
source of detailed information ahead of the vote. Shareholders vote at the AGM to approve, amongst
other items, the dividend and election of the statutory audit board. The detailed financial information is
therefore vital to make informed voting decisions.

What did LGIM do?

LGIM worked in collaboration with Standard Life Investments and RPMI Railpen to send a single message
of concern to tha TSE. We contacted local Japanese investors to fully understand the impact of the
proposals. We then drafted a collective letter to the TSE expressing our concerns. The letter was signed
by over 40 assel managers and asset owners and was supported by two investor associations. Working
collaboratively sent a consistent message to the TSE and demonstrated the breadth of concern across the
market.

The outcome?
TheTSE will now consider all the responses to the consultation. They have afready acknowledged the
collective letter and welcomed international investors’ interest and valuable input in the topic.

We will continue to engage with the Tokyo Stock Exchange, the Financial Services Authority and related
investor working groups in Japan on corporate governance reforms.

L pagead




ESG Impact Report Q4 2016

Q4 2016 VOTING SUMMARY JAPAN

Voting issue breakdown {against and abstain}

Anti-takeover Related

Capitalisation

Non-Salary Comp.
Directors Related 73 16
Non-Salary Comp. 1 1
Reorg. and Mergers 7
Routine/Business 6

SH-Compensation Directors Related

SH-Corp Governance

SH-Dirs® Related ] )
0 10 20

SH-Gen Econ Issues .
BVotes against and abstain breakdown

SH-Health/Environ.

SH-Other/misc.

Number of companies vated against/abstain
SH-Routine/Business

$%H-Soc./Human Rights

Social Proposal

Total 87 17
Total resolutions 104
No. AGMs 7
No. EGMs 4
No. of companies voted H
No. of companies where voted against/abstain 7
at least one resolution

% no. of companies where at [east one vote against 63

* No. of companies supported

IL"G!M VOted againSt at IeaSt « No. of companies where voted againstabstain at
one resolution at 63% of feastone essuton
Japanese companies over

the quarter. :

Source for &l data LGIM. The votes above represents agaiast management voting instructions for our main FTSE peoled index funds




Q4 2016 ESG Impact Report

Asia Pacific

04 2016 VOTING SUMMARY ASIA PACIFIC

ional updates

Anti-takeover Related i
Capitalisation 24 17
Directors Related 262 32
Non-Salary Comp. 137 31
Reorg. and Mergers 24
Routine/Business 58 4
SH-Compensation

SH-Corp Governance

SH-Dirs' Related

SH-Gen Econ Issues

SH-Health/Environ.

SH-Other/misc.

SH-Routine/Business

SH-Soc/Human Rights

Sacial Proposal

Total 516 84
Total resolutions 600
No. AGMs 86
No. EGMs 22
No. of companies voted 108
No. of companies where voted againstfabstain 40
at least one resolution

% no. of companies where at least one vote against 37

‘LGIM voted against at least
one resolution at 37% of Asia
Pacific companies over the

quarter.

Voting issue breakdown (against and abstain)

Routine/Business

Nen-Salary Comp.

Directors Related

Capitalization

o 20 40
uVotes against and abstain breakdown

Number of companies voted against/abstain

= No. of companies supported .

= No. of companies where voted againstabstain
at feast one resolution

Source for all data LGIM. The votes above represents against managament voting instructions for our main FTSE pooled index fuads

14

Page 146




ESG Impact Report Q4 2016

Regional updates
Emerging markets

KEY COMPANY ENGAGEMENTS

Engagement update

The Company outlined the three main focuses for their sustainability team: financial education, social and
environmental risks, and transparency. Al products are assessed as to whether there is any sustainahility
impact or whether they are the right ones for the customers.

We also discussed social inclusion. We were informed that this is addressed by their micro credit
business which provides doorto-door cradit, is based on cash flows and uses social media to reach 55
million people. They have IT models that flag potential problems with debt customears which reduces
their losses. In addition, they offer online personal finance training which can be accessed via mohile.
Participants of the training benefit by receiving better rates. Having climate policies was a part of their
capital requirements.

Engagement update

Daring their annual capital markets day, management emphasised how important safety is to their
business. They hold a Safety Promotion day for all employees and contractors with zero harm as a
target throughout their operations, As a result, injury rates and incidents have both seen a reduction.
They talked about the steps they have taken to help the people affected by the Samarco Dam failure by
providing shelter while their homes were heing re-built. No one was out of their homes for more than 24
hours.

In addition, together with BHP Billiton, they are focused on the repair, restoration and reconstruction
programs of the regions, with an emphasis on environment and social economic recovery programs.
Water preservation, energy savings and renewables are also important. 85% of water used is being
recycled and re-used. Their S11D project, which is considered a benchmark in sustainability, uses 93% less
water of which 86% is recycled and re-used. They plan to replicate the processes used in 811D in other
projects which will increase the sustainability of their operations.

Source for all data LGIM. The votes above represents against management voting instructions for our main FTSE pooled index funds




04 2016 ESG Impact Report

Q4 2016 VOTING SUMMARY EMERGING MARKETS
Vating issue breakdown (against and abstain)

SH-Routine/Business

Anti-takeover Refated

SH-Dirs' Relaled

Capitalisation 73 3
Directors Related 180 30 Routine/Business
Non-Salary Comp, 15 69
Reorg. and Mergers 68 13 Reorg. and Mergers
Routine/Business 132 1 Non-Salary Comp.

SH-Compensation

Directors Related
SH-Corp Governance

SH-Dirs* Related 7 Capitafization

SH-Gen Econ Issues .

0 50 100
SH-Health/Environ. uVotes against and abstain breakdown
SH-Otherfmisc. . . .
Number of companies voted against/abstain
SH-Routine/Business 3 4

SH-Soc./Human Rights

Soclal Propasal

Total 468 136
Total resolutions 604
No. AGMs 19
No. EGMs 59
No. of companies voted 78
No. of companies where voted against/abstain 33

at least one resolution

% no. of companies where at least one vote against 42

« No. of companies supported

R = No. of companies where voted against/abstain

‘LGIM voted against at least
one resolution at 42% of
emerging market companies
over the quarter. A

Source for all data LG!M. Te votes ebove represents against ranagement voling instructions for our main FTSE pooled index funds

O o Page 148




ESG Impact Report Q4 2016

lobal summary

VOTING TOTALS

Frequency of ESG topics

Environmental

Anti-takeover Related 87

Capitalisation 427
Directors Related 1468
Non-Salary Comp. 453
Rearg. and Mergers 186
Routine/Business 663
SH-Compensation 1
SH-Corp Governance 2
SH-Dirs' Related "
SH-Gen Econ Issues 0 Governance Social
SH-Health/Environ. 1
SH-Gther/misc. 4 Number of companies voted against/abstain
SH-Routine/Business 3
SH-Soc/Human Righis 4}
Social Proposal 1
Total resolutions 3263
No. AGMs 239
No. EGMs 142
No., of companies voted 376
« No. of companies supporied
= No. of companies where voted against/abstain
COMPANY ENGAGEMENT STATISTICS atJeast one resolution

Total numbser of companies 91
Total number of mestings 108
Number of meetings where environmental topics discussed 41
Number of mestings where social topics discussed 33
Number of meelings where governance topics discussed 99
Number of meetings where other topics {e.g. financial and strategy) discussed 83
% of meetings including environmental and social issues discussed 52
Board composition Remuneration Strategy

~  Page 149

17




Q4 2016 £SG Impact Report

CONTACT US FOR MORE INFORMATION

For further information on anything you have read in this report or to provide feedback, please contact us at
corporategovernance @lgim.com. Please visit our website www.lgim.com/corporategovernance where you will also
find more information including frequently asked questions.

Important Notice

The information presented in this document (the “Information”) is for information purposes only. The Information is provided “as is”
and “as available” and is used at the recipient’s own tisk. Under no circumstances should the Information be construed as: (i) legal or
investment advice; {if) an endorsement or recommaendation {o investment in a financial product or service; or {iii} an offer to sell, ora
solicitation of an offer to purchase, any securities or other financial instruments.

Unlass otherwise stated, the source of all information is Legal & General Investment Management Ltd.

LGIM, its associates, subsidiaries and group undertakings {collectively, “Legal & General”) makes no representation or warranty, express or
implied, in connection with the Information and, in particular, regarding its completeness, accuracy, adeguacy, suitability or reliability.

To the extent permitied by law, Legal & General shall have no liability to any recipient of this document for any cosls, losses, liabilities
or expenses arising in any manner out of or in connection with the Information. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and to
the extent permitted by law, Legal & General shall not be liable for any loss whether direct, indirect, incidental, special or consequential
howsoever caused and on any theory of lability, whether in contract or tort {including negligence) or otherwise, even if Legal & General
had be advised of the possibility of such loss.

LGIM reserves the right to update this document and any Information contained herein. No assurance can be given to the recipient that this
document is the latest version and that Information herein is complete, accurate or up to date.

All rights not expressly granted to the recipient herein are reserved by Legal & General.

tssued by Legal & General Investment Management Ltd, Registered in England No.02091894. Registered office:
One Coleman Street, London, EC2R SAA. Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

M1250

o pagefs0




Responsible Ownership Activity Report For professional investors only

Shropshire County Council

Q4 2016
e e e e S 5 0 R S e e 0 |

The purpose of the ree® (responsible engagement overlay)” service is to engage with companies held in
portfolios with a view to promoting the adoption of better environmental, social and governance (ESG)
practices. The reo® approach focuses on enhancing long-term investment performance by making
companies more commercially successful through safer, cleaner, and more accountable operations that
are better positioned to deal with ESG risks and opportunities. Through a combination of constructive
dialogue and active share voting, reo® works to drive behavioural change with companies, and records
successful outcomes as ‘milestones’ - changes in corporate policies or behaviour following intervention.

Companies engaged this quarter

Companies engaged 143 Milestones achieved by issue
Milestones achieved 40 Environmental Standards [
Countries covered 20 Business Ethics N

Human Rights [l
Labour Standards [l
Public Health - |
Corporate Governance |

social and Environmental

Governance g " 10 15 20
Companies engaged by country Companies engaged by issue ™
‘ M United Kingdom 24 M Environmental Standards 7
4 M Continental Europe 38 M Business Ethics 38
/ 1 North America 36 B Human Rights 14
| 1] Asia (ex Japan) 2 Il Labour Standards 24
1= I Japan 40 " Public Health 27
‘ M other 3 M Corporate Governance 77
Il Sodlal and Environmental
Governance 7

BMO 9 Global Asset Management

* reo” is currently applied to £97.2bn t}Sns.srbll]’wn [ 12.1b|'|lion2 of assets a5 at 30th September 2016, ** Companies may have been engaged on more than one issue. *** This report has been
compiled using data supplied by a third-party electronic voting platform provider, The slatistics exclude ballots wilh zero shares and re-registration meetings. Meetings/ballots/proposals are not
considered voted if: ballots have been rejected by voting intermediaries {e.g. where necessary documentation (such as Powers of Attorey, benefidial owner confirmation, elc.rwas notin place);

instructed as “Do not vole'ée.g. in share-blocking markets); or left uninstructed. This docurnent is for professional advisors only and should not be circulated to other investors. Past performance
should not be seen as an indication of future performance. Stock market and currency movergegls mean the vg d income from, investments in the Fund are not guaranteed. They can go
down as well as up and you may not gel back the amount you invest. © 2015 BMO G[obaliﬁa@@nt reserved. BMO Global Asset Management is  trading name of F&C

Management Limited, wihich is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.




Page 152




Shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Priority Companies and Your Fund '

The table below highlights the companies on BMO's annual priority engagement list with which we have engaged on your
behalf in the past quarter and which you currently hold within your portfolio. Priority companies are selected through a
detailed analysis of client holdings, proprietary ESG risk scores, engagement history and the BMO Governance and Sustainable
Investment team's judgement and expertise. Each priority company has defined engagement objectives set at the beginning
of each year. Engagement activity levels for priority companies are mare intensive than for companies where we engage more
reactively. We provide reporting on our engagement with priority companies in the form of case studies which follows the
table below. For full list of priority companies please refer to the Appendix at the end of this report. For full details of our
engagements with companies please refer to the online reo® client portal.

Themes engaged

| " —
| | 8 = 2 3 8
| H 5 £ = ] cu
i | Bg % 8 § =& 2EE
| §8 & & -] = fg Pceg
{ 89 e a3 =R ] 8% SFEE
| i |nespunse10; ;E = 5 25 = 82 TEg
Name | sector | ESG Rating | engagement | & & a = 8a & 56 &KE&é
Amazon.com Inc Consumer Discretionary ORANGE  Poor [}
Anglo American PLC ' Materials | YELLOW | Good [#] [ ]
Banco Santander SA Financials YELLOW  Good O @
N bt | |
Bank of America Corp ! Financials | ORANGE | Adequate i O (]
Barclays PLC Financials YELLOW  Good @ )
BNP Paribas SA | Financials YELLOW | Adequate @ (&) (]
8P PLC Energy ORANGE  Good ® ® o
Carrefour SA | Consumer Staples [Yeuow | Adequate O O (@) (2]
Eni SpA Energy YELLOW Good Q ()
Facebook Inc ‘ Information Technology ORANGE | Adequate | () (@)
GlaxoSmithKline PLC Health Care YELLOW  Good (@) (@) ©
| H | |
| i | | |
Glencore PLC : Materials ‘ ORANGE | Good | © O
Goldman Sachs Group Inc/The Finandcials YELLOW Good [ ]
HSBC Holdings PLC | Finandials RO | Good 5 ® e o
JPMorgan Chase & Co Financials ORANGE  Adequate (]
Monsanto Co | Materials RED | Poor )
Novarlis AG Health Care YELLOWY Good . . .
Occidental Petroleum Corp | Energy YELLOW | Adequate @]
Roche Holding AG Health Care GREEN Adequate @ O
Royal Dutch Shell PLC Energy GREEN Good (@) ® @ ®
RWE AG Utilities GREEN Adequate (@) ®
Tesco PLC | consumer Staples GRIEN | Good (@)
UniCredit SpA Financials YELLOW  Good (@) ®
Volkswagen l C Discreti ‘
olkswagen AG i onsumer Discretionary RED | Paor ; O [} O
Wells Fargo & Ca Financizls RED Poor 0
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company’s ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to industry peers. Source: MSCI ESG Research Inc.

Top quartile: [[UGREEN | Second quartile: Yﬂg Thirgapibge: | ORANGE |  Bottom quartile: [TTRED.
- ae 153 :

[ 28 Y



Shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Engagements and Your Fund: Red rated

The table below highlights the companies with which we have engaged on your behalf in the past quarter and which you
currently hold within your portfolio. The table is split by ESG risk rating. For full details of our engagements with companies
please refer to the online reo® client portal.

Themes engaged

| |
| {2 B 5
| | w - i
{ 158 | B2 £ 2 S = 8¢ EEg
i | |8€ | B§ 5 £ 28 = Bz ®:3
Name | Country | sector & S EsGRaling! S& = 5& & 8& &&d8
CF Industries Holdings Inc United States Materials RED O
! |
chevron Corp | United States ‘ Energy | RED e
Continental AG Germany Consumer RED
Discretionary @
(VS Health Corp | United States ! Consumer Staples | RED : ©
Dixons Carphone PLC UnitedKingdom  Consumer RED @
Discretionary i ®
£Ms-Chemie Holding AG | switzerland 1 Materials | Rep | @
FANUC Corp Japan Industrials RED .
I pe—" !
1SBC Holdings PLC ' United Kingdom 1 Finandials | v RED | @ Y @
Monsanto Co United States Materials v RED @
i | u—
SC Corpfjapan Japan ‘ Industrials | ReD Y
{1
Sumitomo Realty & Development Co Ltd Japan Real Estate RED ®
| | | {
Suruga Bank Ltd Japan i Financials | | RED ®
Volkswagen AG Germany Consumer v RID
Discretionary ! ® @ @
i | |
Wells Fargo & Co | United States 1 Financials | v | RID ©
WH Group Ltd Hong Kong Consumer Staples RED [&]
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company’s ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to Industry peers. Source: MSCI ESG Research Inc.

Top quartile: | GREEN | Semndquanilib | YeELLow hjd quartile: | ORANGE | Bottom quartile:
; age 15




shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Engagements and Your Fund: Orange rated

The table below highlights the companies with which we have engaged on your behalf in the past quarter and which you
currently hold within your portfolio. The table is split by ESG risk rating. For full detalls of our engagements with companies
please refer to the online reo® client portal.

Themes engaged

| | - -
| BT B g o B,
| i 1 o = - o
| z g8 3 ¥ 5 F o&f iE§
\ £3 | 8§ & § 58 =z 8§ sE§
{ | SE | I 3§ a E 2 = 68 IS¢
Name ) | Country | Sector &8 EsGRaling, &3 & z 8A a S5& 888
Amazon.com Inc United States Consumer v ORANGE ®
Discretionary i |
! |
Asahi Group Holdings Ltd | Japan i ConsumerStaples | | ORANGE | @ © @
BAE Systems PLC United Kingdom Industrials ORANGE ®
[ | =3 |
Bank of America Corp | United States | Financials vV ORANGE | @ (@)
| i { | i
BP PLC United Kingdom  Energy v ORANGE @ O (]
Central Japan Railway Co | Japan 1 Industrials | | ORANGE | O
| | { H i
Conagra Brands Inc United States Consumer Staples ORANGE o (@] &
Dentsu Inc ! Japan ‘ Consumer || ORANGE
| | Discretionary | ] | @]
Eastman Chemical Co United States Materials ORANGE [
| i 1
Facebook Inc | United States 1 Information | ¢ | ORANGE | ®
! | Technology [ | : L
Fuchs Pelrolub SE Germany Haterials ORANGE O
e 1 Y
Glencore PLC | switzerland ‘ Materials | v oG | @ Y
Wlinois Tool Works Inc United States Industrials ORANGE O (@)
Isuzu Motors Ltd l Japan 1 Consumer | | DRANGE
| | Discretionary | { @
JPMorgan Chase & Co United States Finandials v ORANGE (@)
| | |
Keyence Corp | Japan | tnformation | | ORANGE |
| Technology - | @ ® o
Kroger Co/The United States Consumer Staples DORANGE O
Uoyds Banking Group PLC United Kingdom | Financials . oot | e o
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group Inc Japan Financials ORANGE [&]
t | | |
Nissan Motor Co Ltd | Japan | Consumer | ORANGE | ®
| | Discretionary | |
Otsuka Holdings Co Ltd Japan Health Cere ORANGE @
| [ ey i
Panasonic Corp | Japan Consumer . | ORANGE |
: Discretionary I [ ]
&P Global Inc United States ' Financials ORANGE ®
| | [ |
Seven & i Holdings Co Ltd | Japan | Consumer Staples | | ORANGE | e}
Smith & Nephew PLC United Kingdom  Hlealth Care ORANGE ®
| | | { |
Societe Generale SA | France | Finandials | ORANGE | @
SollBank Group Corp Japan Telecommunication DRANGE
Services I .
1 i | {
Sumitomo Electric Industries Ltd ! Japan Consumer ‘ ORANGE |
i | Discretionary i | | ®
Vulcan Materials (o United States Materials ORANGE [£)
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company’s ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to Industry peers. Source: MSCI ESG Research Inc.

Top quartile: [/UGREEN!"| Second quartile: | queﬂﬂxfgage; | "ORANGE | Bottom quartile:  |TRER]




Shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Engagements and Your Fund: Yellow rated

The table below highlights the companies with which we have engaged on your behalf in the past quarter and which you
currently hold within your portfolio. The table is split by ESG risk rating. For full details of our engagements with companies
please refer to the online reo® client portal.

Themes engaged

| | = w s
i ‘ > i g% % g‘ 8 % o f 2% g
; 1 8| | 58 & e 5§ L BEE Sg8
: | EE| | £8 % g 88 = 88 3B:s8
Name | Country | Sector & 8 | £sG Rating i Sa a EH LE & ce @as§ 3
Air Products & Chemicals Inc United States Materials YELLOW ..
Anglo American PLC . United Kingdom i Materials i v I YELLOW ] (@)
Arkema SA france Materials YELLOWY ]
Associated British Foods PLC ! United Kingdom : Consumer Staples ; : YELLOW ‘ (@] ®
Banco Santander SA Spain Finandials v YELLOW o ®
Barclays PLC ' United Kingdom } Financials i v ! YELLOW | O ®
BHP Paribas SA France Financials Vv YELLOW @) (6] 5]
Carrefour SA : France i Consumer Staples v | YELLOW 8] O (@] O
CLP Holdings Ltd | Hong Kong Utilities YELLOW 1]
Caca-Cola CofThe : United States } Consumer Staples YELLOW O O ®
Domino's Pizza Inc United States Consumer YELLow
 Discretionary @
East Japan Railway Co Japan } Industrials [yrow | e
Enbridge Inc Canada ‘ Energy YELLOW [ ) 3}
! | { [
Eni SpA ' Italy } Energy v | YRIOW ® ®
GlaxoSmithKline PLC United Kingdom  Health Care vV OYELLOW ® ® (%)
Goldman Sachs Group In¢/The ! United States Financials } v ! YELLOW ®
Hitachi Ltd Japan 'r"e“"au'ﬁl'&;' - YELLOW ®
Hoya Coip . Japan ‘ Health Care } ! YELLOW 1 @
Japan Exchange Group In¢ | Japan Finandials YELLOW @
JFE Holdings Inc ; Japan ‘ Malerials i I YELLOW .
JX Holdings Inc Japan Energy YELLOW @
Marine Harvest ASA ' Norway } Consumer Staples : ! YELLOW 1 2] (@) O [8)
Mizuho Financial Group Inc Japan sl inandials YELLOW [ )
Mondelez International Inc i United States 1 Consumer Staples i : YELLOW ; (] (] O
Moszic CofThe United States Materials YELLOW ©
Nippon Steel & Sumitoma Metal Corp | japan Materials i i Yolow } ®
Hovarlis AG Switzerland Health Care v YILLOW ® ® ®
Nucor Corp | United Stales | Materials i i YeELwow i ®
Occidental Petroleum Corp United States Energy v YELLOW @
Orica Ltd Australia Materials : ; YELLOW ‘ ®
PGSE Corp United States Utilities. YELLOW ©
Praxair In¢ ‘ United States Materials i YELLOW i O )
Sherwin-Williams CofThe United States Materials YELLOW [a)
Shin-Etsu chemical Co Ltd Japan . Materials H YELLOW (&) ®
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company's ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to industry peers. Source: MSCl ESG Research Inc.

Top quartile: | GREENI"] Secondquanils-P YELLOW il quantile: | ORANGE | Bottom quartile: [TREDIT
age'156

" 40 )




Shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Engagements and Your Fund: Yellow rated

Themes engaged
| & " 5
| §. £ % £ ¢ i
-5 | B8 s« = § £ £5 ZES
£3 | &% g a 53 = ey w26
‘ : 28| 55 8 E B 3 B 3SEE
_Hame | Country isector <8 |EsGRating| S& a H =i a Se& 886
St James’s Place PLC United Kingdom  Finandials YELLOW [}
Tekeda Pharmaceutical Co Ltd | Japan | Health Care % | yeuow ‘ ®
Ted Baker PLC United Kingdom  Consumer YELLOW ®
Discrelionary (]
| i { |
UniCredit SpA | italy | Financials i v | YEUOW | ® @
Unilever PLC United Kingdom  Consumer Staples YELLOW (&) © ® @
{ | i |
Yara International ASA | Norveay ! Materials ‘ | YELLOW i [}
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company’s ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to industry peers. Source: MSCI ESG Research Inc.

Top quartile:

Second quartile: | Pg q e1hl1 g?e | orANGE | Bottom quartile:




Shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Fngagements and Your Fund: Green rated

The table below highlights the companies with which we have engaged on your behalf in the past quarter and which you
currently hold within your portfolio. The table is split by ESG risk rating. For full details of our engagements with companies

please refer to the online reo® client portal.
Themes engaged
i = | e = 8 gt TBEE
| 25 | 58 0§ 0§ s % 83 i
3 5 BE | 58 § E g: 3 8§ Fi¢
Name | Country | Sector &S EsGRating| S a H 3a & S& 888
Aeon (o Ltd Japan Consumer Staples GREEN () @ 5] @]
{ i |
Ajinomate Co Inc Japan | Consumer Staples | | GREEN ] O
Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NY Belgium Consumer Staples GREEN O @ O O (2]
i |
Antofagasta PLC | Chile | Materials || GREEN O @
Arconic Inc United States Materials GREEN @]
| ] | | |
AstraZeneca PLC | United Kingdom | Health Care . | GREEN | O @ @
Banca Bibao Vizcaya Argentaria SA Spain Financials GREEN ®
| i i | |
Burberry Group PLC | United Kingdom  Consumer | GREEN |
i | Discretionary [ ]
Cardinal Health Inc United States fealth Care GREEN @
croda International PLC | United Kingdom | Materials |l aReen @
Denso Corp Jepan Consumer GREEN
Discretionary | [
Ecolab Ing | United States i Materials : | GREEN ©
£1 du Pant de Nemours & (o United States Materials GREEN ®
Enagas SA Spain | Utilities i i GREEN . ® @)
Enel SpA Italy Utilities GREEN .
Evonik Industeies AG | Germany | Materials : 1 GREEN | [
i | !
Fuji Heavy Industries Ltd Japan Consumer GREEN ®
Discrelionary { !
FUJIFILM Holdings Corp %Japan Information | GREEN | ®
| | Technalogy { | |
General Mills Inc United States Consumer Staples GRELN O [@) O
Heineken NV ' Netherlands | Consumer Staples | GREEN
] : {
Honda Motor Co Ltd Japan Consumer GREEN ®
 Discretionary T
Industria de Diseno Textil SA spain | Consumer | GREEN PY
i | Discrelionary | { O
InterContinental Hotels Group PLC United Kingdom  Consumer GREEN
 Discretionary O @ @ @
International Flavers & Fragrances Inc United States | Materials i . GREEN [
Kansai Paint Co Ltd Japan Materials GREEN ©
KDDI Corp Japan | Telecommunication 1 | GREEN |
| Services i | ®
Kerry Group PLC Ireland Consumer Staples GREEN ®
Kubota Corp | Japan | Industrials L ®
| | |
Kyocera Corp Japan Information GREEN
Technology ®
| | |
Lendlease Group | Australia Real Estate : | GREEN ; @
Marks & Spencer Group PLC United Kingdom  Consumer GREEN
! Disuetionary ! L @ L ®
Merck & (o Inc | United States Health Care | GREEN | [6)
Merck KGaA Germany Health Care GREEN Q
|
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company’s ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to industry peers. Source: MSCI ESG Research Inc.
g 9 P p g P p

Top quartile: | GReen | SEmndquaﬂile-P YELLOW quartile: | ORANGE | Bottom quartile: [TRED ] — |
28 158 -



shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Engagements and Your Fund: Green rated

Themes engaged

3 g 5
| 5 S & g o6&
| = €8 g = § £ 23 5§83
i | £a 85 H § ) x 8 8§
% ‘ 2E { 28 8§ E 25 2 Eg ¥zg
Mame | Country | Sector a & | £5G Rating &a a = 2& & S8 &Sé
Merin Entertainments PLC | United Kingdom | Consumer | GREEN ®
| | Discretionary | |
Kurata Manufacturing Co Ltd Japan Infermation GREEN
Technology | l ®
| | Fo i
Next PLC | United Kingdom | Consumer | | GREEN | PY ®
i | Discretionary | |
Novo MNordisk A/S Denmark Health Care GREEN [ [&]
i 1 i i i
| Denmark | Materials | IGREEN
Novozymes AfS | ! | 3 | @ 2]
NIT DOCOMO In¢ Japan Telecommunication GREEN o
Services !
| | | ; i
PepsiCo Inc | United States | Consumer Staples | | GREEN i @] O (@)
Repsol SA Spain Energy GREEN (]
| | 5k |
Roche Holding AG | Switzerland | Health Care | ¥ | GREEN D O
Royal Dutch Shell PLC Netherlands Energy |V GREEN [} [} © [5]
| I el
RWE AG : Germany | Utilities | v GREEN . .
Senofi France Health Care GREEN (@]
1 e
Sika AG  Switzerdand | Materials | [ GREEN @
skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB Sweden Financials GREEN @
Solvay 5A | Belgium | Materials | GREEN [ )
Statoil ASA Honway Energy GREEN @
Stora Enso 0Y] Finland . Materials | | GREEN ®
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings Inc Japan Financials GREEN ©
Tesco PLC ! United Kingdom I Consumer Staples : v | GREEN ©
Tesla Motors Inc United States Consumer GRIEN ® ®
Discretianary
[ . | i i
Tokio Marine Holdings Inc | Japan i Financials | | GREEN i O
TOTAL SA france Energy GREEN ()
| | | |
United Utilities Group PLC | United Kingdom ! Utilities ! GREEN | ©
i i |
Vodafone Group PLC United Kingdom  Telecommunication GREEN ®
Services |
| | i
Yoestalpine AG | Austria | Materials } i GREEN I (@)
WPP PLC United Kingdom  Consumer GREEN ®
Discrelionary
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company’s ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to Industry peers. Source: MSCI ESG Research Inc.

[ a3 )

Top quartile: [T/GREEN| | Second quartile: | WQém“Sge [ oRANGE | Bottom quartile: [IINREDN]




Shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Milestones and Your Fund

The table below highlights the companies with which we have recorded milestones on your behalf in the past quarter and
which you currently hold within your portfolio. Milestones are engagement outcomes which we have identified and is rated on
the extent to which it protects investor value. For full details of our engagements which led to these milestones please refer to
the online reo® client portal.

Themes engaged

= y &
: = £ £ £ £ o« S
| | Yy -] 2 ] a2 woE
| = ES " ] ] g g BEE
| =51 ] ] € 58 o EE S=§¢
| o 29 -1 a 39 & 85 14
| £5 | 28 8 § 4H8 2 §& =
Name | Country | sector |&8 | EsGRating] S& @ H 8& & S K&Se
Enagas SA Spain Utilities GREEN )
Abhvie Inc United States Health Care v YELLOW (]
| | |
Antofagasta PLC | Chile | Materials | | GREEN | (@)
BP PLC United Kingdom  Energy v ORANGE ®
Daiichi Sankyo Co Ltd Japan | Health care - | oranGt | ®
Eisai Co Ltd Japan Health Care . GREEN ©
{ | | | |
Exxon Mobil Corp | United States 3 Energy 1 : ORANGE fié)
GlaxoSmithKline PLC United Kingdom  Health Care v YELLOW (@)
Kroger CofThe ! United Stales | Consumer Staples | DRANGE ©
Lundin Petroleum AB Sweden Energy GREEN @]
oil Search Ltd | Australia | Energy | e | @
PepsiCo Inc United States Consumer Staples GREEN @] [}
Plizer Inc United States : Health Care | v RED 1 O
i { |
Royal Dutch Shell PLC Nethedlands Enecgy v GREEN [5]) @
i | |
sanofi | France | Health Care ! | GREEN
| | | |
SoftBank Group Corp Japan Telecommunication ORANGE ®
 Services
Takeda Pharmaceutical Ca Ltd Japan ' Health Care | | YELLow | @)
i | i i |
Telefonica SA Spain Telecommunication GREEN. ®
1 Services 1 |
Telia Co AB | sweden | Telecommunication | | GREEN | ®
{  Services i i |
Tullow 0il PLC United Kingdom  Energy ORANGE @
! - [
Wal-Mart Stores Inc United States | Consumer Staples ‘ v YELLOW | ®
Astellas Pharma Inc Japan Health Care GREEN ®
AstraZeneca PLC | United Kingdom i Health Care - GREEN ®
Banto Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria SA Spain Financials GREEN @
Bayer AG ' Germany ‘ Health Care i | YELLOW ®
Bristol-Myers Squibb Co United Stales Health Care YELLOW o
E0P - Energias de Portugal SA ! Portugal  Utilties GREEN i (6]
i |
Electricite de France SA France Utilities v YELLOW ]
Engie SA . ance Utilities w GREEN ‘
ngie | | | | .
HSBC lieldings PLC United Kingdom Finandials v RED .
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company’s ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to industry peers. Source: MSCI ESG Research Inc.

Top quartile: [ GREEN"T| Second quartilepy) Y quartile: | ORANGE | Bottom quartile: [[NTRED. ]
— PaGe 160 —

44 )




Shropshire County Council reo® Report 4th Quarter 2016

Milestones and Your Fund

Themes engaged

‘ | | = 8 =
- 4 8 B
1 5 £ s 2 B » g 8 5%
| | = @ 8
‘ l 28| | 5% § s 3 = g s cé
: ' g8 | 8 ¢ E =2 3 & ==¢
Name | Country !Sedur &5 | EsGRating| & 8 a 2 S& & 58 &&8
i | i i i
Iberdrola SA | Spain i Utilities i | GREEN ®
| | 1 i
Johnson & Johnson United States Health Care v/ ORANGE ®
Merck & Co Inc | United States ! Health Care o eReen | ®
| H i |
Movo Nordisk A/S Denmark Health Care GREEN ®
| i H i
SSEPLC ' United Kingdom i utilities | GRee i ®
i H { |
Wells Fargo & Co United States Financials v RED @®
ESG Risk Rating: Rating of a company’s ESG risk exposure and risk management compared to industry peers. Source: MSCI ESG Research Inc.

Top quartile: |

| second quartile: | pmw Ihl}f éa;iile.- | ORANGE | Bottom quartile:
age




Page 162




Responsible Investment Solutions

For professional investors only

ESG Viewpoint

December 2016

Thomas Hassl, Analyst, Governance and Sustainable Investment

Emission management in carbon intensive sectors

(») Goal: Managing the risks and opportunities stemming from climate change trends and regulation

¢ Engagement since: 2016

(}) Sectors involved: Chemicals, Construction Materials, Steel and Aluminium

Key summary

« Tightening regulatory requirements paired with
changing stakeholder expectations are altering the
competitive environment of carbon intensive
companies.

e \We examined how companies in carbon intensive
sectors have assessed the impacts of climate policies
on their business and how these impacts are translated
into corporate greenhouse gas (GHG) mitigation
strategies.

¢  Our engagement identified significant discrepancies
among company practices. This was particularly the
case with regards to scenario planning and the use of
mechanisms to incentivise energy efficiency strategies.

Background

The past two years have witnessed a historic step forward in
taking global action on climate change. In December 2015,
the leaders of 195 countries adopted the first-ever universal,
legally binding global climate agreement at the Conference
of Parties (COP)21 climate change summit in Paris to keep
the global average temperature increase to well below two

¥ World Bank Group “State and Trends of Carbon Pricing” October 2016.

BMO e Global Asset Management

degrees Celsius (2°C) and to pursue efforts to hold the
increase to 1.5°C. Over the course of 2016, several major
economies, including China, the US and EU, have ratified
the agreement. These are significant steps in reaching the
55-party target needed for the agreement to enter into force
(this is now at 86 as of wiiting). The threshold was reached
and the agreement entered in force in early October this
year, a month before the COP22 summit in Marrakech.

For the corporate sector, this policy change comes with
growing pressure to address and disclose climate change
management strategies and related metrics, as well as to
contribute its share in meeting the carbon reduction targets
as reflected in Nationally Determined Confributions (NDCs).
In this context, carbon pricing schemes and Emission
Trading Schemes (ETS) in particular are gaining traction as
the preferred policy instrument for many governments. At
the time of writing, about 40 national jurisdictions and over
20 cities, states, and regions are putting a price on carbon.
This translates to a total coverage of about 13% of global
GHG emissions. These numbers are expected to increase,
with 101 countries accounting for 58% of global GHG
emissions considering using carbon pricing, according to a
recent survey conducted on behalf of the World Bank.?

N\

[ Continued |

Page 163




Regional, national and subnational carbon pricing
initiatives: share of global GHG emissions covered

40%
35%
30%
25%

2% | EUETS
15%

10%
5%
0%

Announced
Chinese ETS

9 9 10 14 15 18 20

g

Global GHG emissions covered

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Source: World Bank Group October 2016. Forecasts thereafter.
*Number of implemented initiatives.

Most ETS' currently being implemented focus on the most
energy intensive sectors such as power generation and
industrial plants (in the EU, ETS also include Airlines). For
companies operating in these sectors, the inclusion under
ETS directly increases operational costs and, therefore,
impacts profitability and shareholder value.

The cost aspect constitutes the key driver for the corporate
sector to meet carbon reduction goals in a cost efficient way,
either by trading emission allowances or investing in carbon
reduction strategies. However, it becomes increasingly
evident that this aspect also triggers unintended, but
foreseeable, side effects, such as “carbon leakage”, i.e. the
possibility that carbon intensive companies move part of
their production to countries with less stringent climate
measures, as this becomes economically viable. Steel,
construction materials and chemicals companies, the focus
group of this engagement project, are potentially all exposed
to carbon leakage.

We believe that a global carbon market, which facilitates
cross border trading of carbon allowances and covers a
critical mass of relevant markets (>80%) would largely
eliminate the incentive to relocate carbon intensive business
segments. Such a market allows those who have the
financial responsibility for reducing emissions to purchase
emission reductions wherever this is most cost-effective?. In
particular, it would eliminate the allocation of free allowances
to sectors deemed to be exposed to a risk of carbon
leakage. This has been proven to harm the efficiency of the
EU ETS to an extent that it even provided significant windfall
profits to certain cement and steel companies, including
Lafarge (€37 million of sales in 2014) and ArcelorMittal
(surplus of 7 million European Emissions Allowance (EUA)
in 2015, worth around €40 million at current prices). While
Article 6 of Paris Agreement provides the basis for
facilitating international recognition of cooperative carbon
pricing, the political hurdles, including the recent US election

BMO 0 Global Asset Management

outcome, are likely to be too high to expect an agreement in
the near future.

For carbon intensive companies to better assess and
understand the economics of climate change, it is vital to
assess and compare different adaptation strategies and their
economic viability under different policy scenarios. Issues to
consider include the availability of technological innovations,
demand pressure stemming from product substitution and
cost pressure due to carbon pricing. It is becoming
increasingly important for corporates to consider these
aspects in conjunction with current and expected carbon
pricing liabilities.

Engagement action

Our engagement targeted steel, construction materials and
chemicals companies worldwide. While we believe that key
risk drivers and corresponding best practice management
standards are equally applicable among companies
operating in all three sectors, our engagement also
considered sector specific aspects including opportunities.
Biofuels used by cement and steel companies to replace
fossil fuels in the production process for example, constitute
an opportunity for chemicals companies such as
Novozymes, who specialised in the development and
production of these substitutes.

Our project followed a two-step approach. In Phase 1, we
approached companies with solid GHG management
programmes, substantiated with quantifiable improvements
of key carbon metrics in recent years. In Phase 2, we then
reached out to lagging companies to express our concerns
and asking them to compare their climate change approach
and practices against those of more advanced peers that we
had identified in the first phase of the project. These
advanced practices include:

o Board oversight: Dedicated board resources and
expertise on climate change economics and effective
oversight to ensure that business models are resilient to
rapid energy transition pathways.

¢  Scenario planning: The use of scenario planning to
understand how the likely direction and speed of an
energy transition, as reflected in the COP21 agreement
and national carbon reduction commitments, will impact
future profits and shareholder value.

o Emission reduction targets: Defining suitable long-
term reduction goals in line with anticipated regulatory
requirements, market trends as well as overarching
corporate climate commitments.

« Mitigation strategies: Group-wide mechanisms to
incentivise energy efficiency strategies, underpinned by

4 fe
( continued

Page 164




a carbon shadow price, for example. The
implementation of a carbon shadow price helps to
prepare for the impact of tightening regulatory
requirements on operations or the company's value
chain as well as to align incentives to meet the
company’s GHG reduction targets. We also encourage
companies to allocate and report on dedicated research
and development expenditures for low-carbon solutions
along the product life-cycle.

o Transparency and commitment: Public disclosure of
detailed information on the management of carbon
related risks, opportunities and metrics. We also
encourage companies to have the systems and
processes in place to monitor and respond to tightening
carbon reporting requirements.

Following our initial outreach to 64 companies, we had
comprehensive engagement calls with 19 and received
written answers from another 18.

Company response

Generally, our engagement revealed that climate change
related issues receive significant management attention
across these companies, which is unsurprising given the
carbon intensity of their operations. Out of the 37 companies
we engaged, no fewer than 30 (81%) had direct or indirect —
through sub-committees — board responsibility over climate
change. Also, most carbon intensive companies
transparently disclose their (Scope 1 and 2) carbon
emissions (97%) and set emission reduction targets and
deadlines (82%), albeit with varying quality.

Larger performance dispersion is evident in relation to the
target setting process, as well as the underlying
considerations and assumptions used. Only a few
companies have compelling rationales and even fewer
consider climate change scenarios — such as a 2°C pathway
— when setting the magnitude of these targets. Finally, only
a few also use a science-based approach to target setting.

With regards to scenario planning and the use of
mechanisms to incentivise energy efficiency strategies we
see widespread discrepancies among company practices.
While an increasing number of companies are starting to
use carbon pricing to factor in the cost of carbon in their
capital expenditure (CAPEX) and operational expenditure,
we note that the proportion of companies is still relatively
small compared to other carbon intensive sectors such as oil
and gas and utilities (see next chart).

BMO 0 Global Asset Management

Page 165

Number of companies reporting to use an internal price
on carbon

100%

No, of Companies

& S & & &
& .&&6 o o @;\(z} g @

B
A2 \é\s
<& o

vl

o)
& o

mYes m No, but we anticipate doing so in the next 2 years

Source: CDP December 2016.

CRH - Best practice example

CRH is considered a leading construction materials
company in terms of carbon management and is
recognised for its solid carbon metrics. Our engagement
with the company largely confirms this view. Unlike
many of its peers, the Irish company's carbon
management strategy considers both tightening
regulatory requirements, reflected in the NDCs
submitted by countries as part of the COP21 Paris
Climate Agreement, and the broader Sustainable
Development Goals. The company aligns its carbon
reduction targets with these standards and conducts
sensitivity analysis to stress test its business model
against different climate scenarios. In terms of emission
reduction, the company collaborates with different
industry bodies in order to research and develop
mitigation strategies which help the company meet its
carbon reduction target to reduce emissions by 25% by
Financial Year (FY) 2020 relative to FY1990 levels, one
of the strictest carbon reduction targets in the
construction materials industry.

( Continued ;,!




They, said:

“... such a facility costs hundreds of millions of [US]
dollars, it would be silly not to consider a carbon
price when assessing the Net Present Value (NPV)
of a chemicals plant.”

BASF

To assess and prepare for tightening regulatory
requirements, companies implement different strategies with
varying degree of quality and suitability. Less than one third
(27%) of the companies engaged use scenario planning to
assess their exposure to various climate change outlooks.
Others, such as Voestalpine take a more practical
approach and make sure to have the technological solutions
on hand to compile with even the most stringent emission
reduction targets, once they materialise. Similarly, Vale is
developing a so-called marginal abatement cost curve
(MACC), which helps the steel company prioritise different
emission reduction projects. Most carbon intensive
companies we engaged, however, follow a more regulatory
driven approach. They focus their efforts on monitoring and
complying with prevailing regulatory requirements, rather
than assessing and preparing for potential tightening of such
regimes. Our engagement did not reveal any concrete plans
to relocate carbon intensive operations to jurisdictions with
less stringent carbon regulation. Companies exposed to
carbon leakage, however, signalled that they are
considering such moves if the financial exposure increases
due to tightening regulations and if carbon policy is not
harmonising across geographic regions.

From an opportunity perspective, companies appeared to be
better prepared to capitalise on the potential stemming from
climate change. Chemicals companies in particular develop
and market a multitude of products that — compared to

conventional alternatives — make a positive contribution to
reducing GHG emissions in their applications. Examples of
such products include lighter material, catalysts for light and
heavy duty vehicles, wind turbines, chemicals needed to
produce solar panels and Lithium-ion batteries used in
electric vehicles, for example. Also, many construction
materials and steel and aluminium companies anticipate
changing market trends and devote increasing CAPEX to
the development of climate-friendly products that are in line
with sustainable mobility or the green building concepts.

Assessment

Growing cost pressure to comply with climate change
related regulation across the globe, coupled with changing
stakeholder expectations are altering the competitive
environment of carbon intensive companies, and are
revealing both opportunities and threats. For companies in
carbon-intensive sectors to better assess and understand
the economics of climate change, it is vital to assess and
compare different adaptation strategies and their economic
viability under different policy scenarios.

Our engagement revealed that compared to their peers in
the energy and mining sectors, companies operating in the
steel, construction materials and chemicals industry are less
advanced in modelling and managing their climate change
exposure. Especially with regards to scenario planning and
the use of mechanisms to incentivise energy efficiency
strategies. We identified widespread discrepancies among
company practices, ranging from purely regulatory-driven
approaches to forward-looking exposure assessments
based on scenario modelling.

We expect engagement around emission management in
carbon intensive sectors to intensify over the coming years.
We are positive that the increased pressure will help raise
the bar and encourage more companies to strengthen their
practices and disclosure.

The information, opinions, estimates or forecasts contained in this document were obtained from sources reasonably believed to be reliable and are subject to

change at any time.

© 2016 BMO Global Asset Management. All rights reserved. BMO Global Asset Management is a trading name of F&C Management Limited, which is authorised
and regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority. UK, AT, BE, DK, FI, FR, DE, IE, IT, LU, NL, NO, PT, ES, SE. FRN:119230. CM11470

(12/16).

BMO @ Global Asset Management

Page 166




Responsible Investment Solutions

For professional investors only

ESG Viewpoint

November 2016

Yo Takatsuki, Associate Director, Governance and Sustainable Investment

Pharma: Access to success in the developing world

(>>) Goal: Drive business growth and improve access to healthcare in developing countries

) Engagement since: 2007

@ Sectors involved: Pharmaceutical

Key summary

e The rapid growth of emerging economies and the
developing world presents long-term opportunities for
the major phamaceutical companies.

o  The industry has thus far encountered a mixture of
success and disappointment due to not fully
appreciating the size of the challenge, especially in
improving access to medicines and healthcare.

o Leading companies are now implementing novel,
business-focused practices with the combined goal of
delivering commercial success and sustainable social
development in a world where two billion people still do
not have access to health-related products they need.

e Over the past ten years of engagement, we have seen
broad improvements in industry practices around
access to healthcare provision in the developing world.
Many more major companies now have strong
programmes in place but some laggards remain.

! Strategy & research “Pharma emerging markets 2.0"
2 McKinsey & Co research *Pharma’s next challenge”

BMO 0 Global Asset Management

Page 167

Background

Advanced economies — the US, Europe and Japan — have
traditionally been the drivers of revenue growth and
profitability for the major pharmaceutical companies. This
established picture, however, is now under challenge. As
developed economies continue to constrain or cut back on
healthcare funding, spending in developing economigs is
rapidly increasing. Medium-term healthcare annual growth
forecasts in developed economies are in low single digits in
percentage terms. In the major emerging markets nations —
namely Brazil, Russia, India, China, Mexico and Turkey —
growth is at or close to double digits. Also:

o Nearly a third of the global pharmaceutical market will
be from outside the advanced economies by the end of
2016 — double the proportion from a decade ago'.

s  Pharmaceutical spend in the developing world (major
emerging markets and other lower-income countries)
overtook those of the European Union’s five major
economies (Germany, UK, France, Italy and Spain) in
the early part of this decade?.

e  The developing world will be a key contributor to global
pharma sales growth in the coming years, with $190
billion of new sales forecast to be accounted for by
2020°.

3 McKinsey & Co research “Pharma's next challenge”

( Continued )




In the next two decades, it is forecast that the middle class
will expand by another three billion people, almost
exclusively from the developing world*. Increasing prosperity
and improving longevity has also resulted in a gradual shift
from the traditional communicable diseases of low-income
countries — such as tuberculosis, malaria and HIV/AIDS - to
non-communicable diseases — such as diabetes, cancer and
cardiovascular diseases. This presents further opportunities
for companies with treatments in these areas.

Barriers to success

Despite the broadly positive macro trends in the industry's
favour, most pharmaceutical companies have thus far
encountered a mixture of success and disappointment
outside of the major advanced economies. Our research and
discussion with pharmaceutical companies and industry
experts have identified some of these commaon pitfalls and
difficulties:

e Treating all developing world countries as a single
homogenous entity. This has led to go-to-market
strategies which are not tailored to the specifics of the
country. There has been a growing recognition that one-
size-fits-all sales-oriented strategies are not adequate
and need to be complemented by country-specific
access to market-based strategies.

¢ Underestimating the challenge of navigating local
regulatory requirements. Unlike in advanced countries,
regulation and approval processes can be volatile and
less predictable. To overcome this, companies have
increasingly developed local expertise through
acquisition or hiring, but this takes time and effort to
bear fruit.

¢  Overcoming bribery and corruption. Cash in envelopes
are largely a thing of the past now following the
establishment of tough, extra-territorial legislation in the
US and UK. Facilitation payments to local officials and
middle-men have morphed into consultancy contracts or
other seemingly above-board arrangements. Business
ethics is an area with which we have undertaken
extensive engagement with pharmaceutical companies
but is not a focus of this piece.

*  Weak intellectual property protection. Less complex
drug molecules and formula are under threat of being
copied by local generics producers. However, the
industry's ferocious defence of their Intellectual Property
(IP) has done much reputational harm (such as in South
Africa over antiretrovirals).

o Poor access to healthcare infrastructure and service.
This is cited by the World Health Organization as one of

4 Ernst & Young, 2014

BMO e Global Asset Management

Page 168

the biggest barriers to improving health. It is wide
ranging in nature and reflects the resource poor nature
of many developing economies. This includes low
quality and lack of: hospitals and clinics, doctors and
nurses, diagnostic tools, manufacturing, sanitation and
the distribution and supply of medication. It is also
affected by broader societal issues such as poor
standards of water, electricity, education and transport.

The final point is crucial but difficult. It can often be beyond
the resources and ability of a pharmaceutical company —
however big they may be - to singlehandedly overcome and
resolve the issue of poor healthcare infrastructure. It
requires a wide range of stakeholders bringing expertise,
commitment and resources for healthcare development to
be successful. Despite the rapid growth in healthcare
spending in developing countries and potential business
opportunities, there continues to be significant hurdles in
creating a viable commercial business strategy. At a wider-
level, failure to overcome these barriers has major
implications for the achievability of healthcare targets and,
ultimately, sustainable social development in a world where
two billion people still do not have access to health-related
products they need.

Access to Medicine Index

A Kkey player driving the industry's practices over the
past ten years has been the Access to Medicine
Foundation (ATM Foundation). This Dutch not-for-profit
has analysed the top 20 research-based global
pharmaceutical companies and ranked them according
to their efforts to improve access to medicine in
developing countries. The first Access to Medicine Index
(ATMI) was published in 2008 and a new index has
followed every two years. The latest 2016 Index was
released on 14" November 2016°.

Refinements over the years to the analytical framework
— which now includes close to 100 indicators on
company performance related to 50 or so diseases in
low income countries — has reflected the ever evolving
practices within the industry. The Index has acted as a
useful and robust benchmark for companies, investors
and stakeholders to compare a wide range of
approaches within the industry to improve access to
medicine.

As the Index gained traction with institutional investors,
the ATM Foundation has started to collaborate more
closely with the global asset management community.
They have organised a series of engagement initiatives
including an Investor Statement putting forward the view
that access to medicine is a material issue to long-term

5 Access to Medicine Index

l: Contlnuedj




shareholder creation. We are signatories alongside 56
other institutional investors®. Over the past two years, we
have met them on numerous occasions including at their
office in the Haarlem, Netherlands and have developed
a positive working relationship.

Engagement action

Our engagement history with pharmaceutical companies on
this issue is extensive. It can be traced back to May 2007
when we had a discussion with AstraZeneca. At the time
the methodology for the first Access to Medicine Index was
being consulted with the industry. In total, our records show
that we have had 150 engagements with 27 companies’.
This includes 19 of the 20 largest global pharmaceutical
companies on the ATMI such as Pfizer, Novartis and
GlaxoSmithKline (GSK). The only exception being
Germany's Boehringer Ingelheim which is privately held and
issues no equity or bonds. Our engagement also included
emerging markets companies — some of which are major
manufacturers of generic drugs such as Ranbaxy
Industries and Glenmark — to increase awareness of these
issues.

During the past ten years or so of engagement with the
industry's leading players, our most important
recommendation has been for access to healthcare to be
clearly driven by commercial imperatives and to be better
integrated into the business' main strategy. From an initial
starting point of reticence, we have seen many companies
doing increasingly more to improve their approaches to
access, with a range of new initiatives and innovations.
There has been a slow but gradual shift from philanthropic
approaches to focusing on delivering commercial
opportunities and establishing new business models.
Transparency and disclosures from companies on these
areas have improved drastically.

We significantly intensified our engagement with
pharmaceutical companies in 2015 by initiating a project on
this topic. The objective was to leverage the knowledge we
have developed — especially of leading industry practices —
over the past decade and to encourage companies with
weaker practices to learn from and adopt them.

5 Investor Statement Access to Medicine Index
http:/iwww.accesstomedicineindex.org/sites/2015.aimindex.orgfiles/investor_
statement_atmf.pdf

BMO ' Global Asset Management

Page 169

The project includeds:

o  One-to-one engagement with nine pharmaceutical
companies. This included discussions with companies
which we identified as having the most advanced
practices (e.g. Novartis, Novo Nordisk) but also
engagements with those over which we had concerns
as having the weakest practices. Three of ATMI's
lowest ranked companies are Japanese (Takeda
Pharmaceutical, Daiichi Sankyo and Astellas). We
engaged with these companies, which included a trip to
Tokyo for meetings.

¢« A collaborative engagement initiative with the ATM
Foundation and 40 other institutional investors
representing $5 trillion of assets. We wrote to all 19 of
the listed companies on the ATMI calling for full
cooperation with the data collection and submission for
the 2016 Index. This also included intensive
engagement with Roche following its refusal to submit
data. This was due to oncology treatments, in which
Roche is a specialist, not being a part of the ATMI's
scope of assessment. We encouraged the Swiss
company to reconsider but this did not change the
company's decision.

Assessment

We assess from our engagement on this issue that there are
clear business-driven practices which pharmaceutical
companies can adopt in the developing world — within both
the largest emerging markets and the lowest income
countries. From an investor's perspective, we have identified
the following corporate practices which we consider to be
material to shareholder value creation:

1. Governance: Senior management and board-level
strategic oversight, commitment and accountability;

2. Performance: Clear objectives supported by
measurable, time-bound targets which are regularly
reviewed and monitored;

3. Pricing: Sophisticated and intricate approach to inter-
and intra-market equitable pricing to ensure different
populations with varying levels of affordability can
access treatments;

4. Capability advancement: Contribution to the
development of local healthcare infrastructure and
supply chains with a transparent, long-term plan for
cooperating with local stakeholders.

7 BMO reo engagement database: Jan 1 2006 - Nov 12016
8 reo clients will find full detail and reports on each engagement within the
online client portal. Search for engagement project “Access to medicines”.

( continued )
l‘. ontinue )




Based on these four practice areas, we see three broad
levels of company performance within the industry:

o Leading: These are companies with the most
sophisticated and nuanced approaches to delivering
their strategic goals in the developing world. All four
areas of practices identified previously will be in place
(or clear steps are being taken to achieve it). A wide
range of products are available and there are pipelines
of relevant treatments for developing countries. We see
companies in this category taking key steps to
overcome manufacturing, distribution and affordability
challenges by implementing novel pricing models in
cooperation with local partners to ensure patients
across the wealth/poverty spectrum can receive
medication — while still making a profit. Reporting and
disclosures are transparent and detailed. Of 23
companies we assessed, we rate ten companies within
this category®.

o  Average: These companies have implemented key
steps and are making progress, but there are a number
of important areas which still need to be addressed
compared to industry leaders. Companies may have
adopted sophisticated approaches but these can be
limited to certain countries/regions and are yet to be
adopted business-wide globally and on a global scale.
Of 23 companies we assessed, we rate seven
companies within this category.

o Weak: Those in this category are laggards and are yet
to develop a sufficient level of internal expertise or
capability to overcome the challenges of developing
world markets. As a result, most of the approaches
adopted have little link to the central business strategy
and there is little focus on delivering genuine
commercial success. Many in this category see their
presence in the developing world as being driven by
philanthropy and motivated by corporate social
responsibility. Of 23 companies we assessed, we rate
six companies within this category.

% For more information on our engagement and assessment of specific
companies, reo clients should refer to the client-only confidential Appendix of
this piece.

BMO 9; Global Asset Management

Page 170

Pricing

Our discussion in the past two years with companies has
focused in particular on pricing. This is an area in which
we have seen some big steps being taken. The
underlying issue is that the affordability of western
treatments is a key barrier in the developing world.
Traditionally, this has resulted in global pharmaceutical
companies predominantly targeting wealthy, urban
patients (who pay out of their own pockets).

This has changed of late, with companies in the
“Leading” category, in particular, establishing equitable
pricing strategies that include affordability
considerations. This has led to implementations of:

e nter-country equitable pricing (charging different
prices for same drug for example between
Netherlands and India);

e intra-country equitable pricing (charging different
prices for same drug between different segments in
the same country).

A number of leading companies such as Gilead commit
to both and report specific details on its performance.

Intra-country equitable pricing — which we consider to be
particularly critical to establishing long-term success in a
developing/emerging market — is based on different
pricing tiers. We have seen a number of companies
differentiate amongst the tiers in the following ways:
packaging/branding, manufacturing and distribution.

For example, the lowest, poorest, rural tiers are
accessed by keeping costs to a minimum through local
or outsourced production, different packaging/brand
name, and distribution via development agencies and
missionary groups. These steps are aimed at clearly
differentiating one tier to the next and overcoming
concerns of medications produced for poorer tiers being
sold at lower prices to wealthier patients. This also
means that companies can still have presence across
the country and establish the corporate brand along the
socioeconomic spectrum. The business model at lower
tiers seeks to break-even or make a slim profit.
Importantly, it also switches the corporate mentality and
approach from a purely philanthropic activity to one that
is delivering commercial opportunities.

{ ‘Contlnuedr‘}




Conclusion and next steps

Pharmaceutical companies are faced with a great
opportunity to capitalise on the long-term growth potential in
the developing world. There has been a realisation amongst
some that a blunt go-to-market approach rarely results in the
desired commercial success and that a tailored approach is
required to place themselves in a position to enjoy the
improvements in the country's economic fortunes.

Our engagement over the past ten years in this issue with
the industry has driven the adoption of important practices.
Our focus has primarily been on the largest companies in
the industry but the challenge is to ensure that the wide
range of players in the global healthcare market also adopt
the innovative mind-set that we now see among the
companies in the “Leaders” category.

As a next step, we will consider the analysis and findings of
the 2016 Access to Medicine Index. We will also engage
companies such as Roche on its plans in this area in the
coming years. We will continue our dialogue with various
stakeholders, including the ATM Foundation. The key
objectives will continue to be establishing commercial
success for companies in fast-growing developing markets
and ensuring billions of the poorest people in the world have
better access to an adequate standard of healthcare.

The informalion, opinions, eslimales or forecasts contained in this document were obtained from sources reasonably believed to be reliable and are subject to
change at any time.

© 2016 BMO Global Asset Management. All rights reserved. BMO Global Asset Management is a trading name of F&C Management Limited, which is authorised
and regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority. UK, AT, BE, DK, FI, FR, DE, IE, IT, LU, NL, NO, PT, ES, SE. FRN:119230. CM11130
(11/16).

BMO 9 Global Asset Management
Page 171




Page 172




Agenda ltem 14

Committee and date Ite

TAT) Shropshire Pensions Committee o

Council

&

17 March 2017
Public
10.00am

PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION MONITORING REPORT

Responsible Officer Debbie Sharp
Email:  Debbie.sharp@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 252192 Fax: N/A

1. Summary

1.1 The report provides Members with monitoring information on the
performance of and issues affecting the Pensions Administration Team.

2, Recommendations

2.1 Members are asked to accept the position as set out in the report.
REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1 Risk Management

Performance is considered and monitored to ensure regulatory
timescales and key performance indicators are adhered to.
Administration risks are identified and managed and are reported to
committee on an annual basis.

3.2 Human Rights Act Appraisal
The recommendations contained in this report are compatible with the
Human Rights Act 1998.

3.3 Environmental Appraisal
There is no direct environmental, equalities or climate change
consequence of this report.

3.4 Financial Implications
Managing team performance and working with other Administering
Authorities ensures costs to scheme employers for Scheme
Administration are reduced. However, it must be noted that the
introduction of the 2014 LGPS and the increased governance
introduced by the Public Services Pension Act 2013 has increased the
resources required by the administration team. Reconciling the Funds
Guaranteed Minimum Pension Liabilities with HMRC will have a direct
cost for the Fund but if this is not undertaken the Fund risks taking on
financial liabilities it didn’t need to and having its data called into

Page 173



Pensions Committee; 17 March 2017: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

5.1

question by the Fund Actuary. LGPS having to fully index GMP’s will
increase costs for the Fund going forward. Further compliance with
TPR code has highlighted areas where further costs could be incurred.

Performance and Team Update

The team’s output and performance level to the end of January 2017
is attached at Appendix A. The chart shows encouraging numbers of
workflow procedures completed and also the percentage of those that
were completed on time. The number of outstanding procedures has
also dropped to a level not seen for some time this is as a result of
directing team members to focus on certain areas of work in readiness
for Year End.

The team have worked on getting more employers to send data
through the iConnect service. This has meant that the new “online”
version has been made available to smaller employers, which allows
them to input data online rather than submitting a spreadsheet that the
team have to then manually upload. To date there are now 52
employers using this method and 54 employers who load an extract.
Guides were issued and in some cases site visits or telephone training
was undertaken to provide support and training.

The team are working with the remaining employers to ensure that they
have a working extract in place for April 2017 data to load through
iConnect early May. This should mean that all employers will then be
sending data electronically to the Pensions Administration System.

The team are also looking at processes to ensure a smooth transition
for new employers or those who change their payroll provider to
eliminate any further manual spreadsheet returns.

A project has commenced looking at the current workflow system.
Enhancements for analysing outstanding procedures were
implemented in the latest software release which means that the
current procedures need reviewing. The team will be looking at the set
up and reporting of statistics. Priority will be given to the “Top 10”
procedures initially.

The team’s risk log has been updated and the risks identified are listed
at Appendix B. Following amendments to the Council’s Service
Recovery Plan template, this has also been updated. Training
sessions were held and attended by the Pensions Manager and
Systems Team Leader.

Help Desk Statistics

The following chart shows the number of queries received through the
helpline number.

Page 174 o




Pensions Committee; 17 March 2017: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

6.
6.1
6.2
6.3
7.
7.1

Nov 2016 Dec 2016 Jan 2017
659 402 716

Telephone calls
received
Queries dealt
with by
helpdesk at first 92.56% 93.27% 92.87%
point of contact
%*

Users visiting
the Website 1741 1555 1704

* Where queries have not been dealt with by helpdesk, this will usually mean
that the calls have been picked up by the rest of the team.

Communications

Work is underway to issue Annual Benefit Statements to deferred
members electronically through Member Self Service (MSS) this year.
To meet the requirements set out in The Occupational and Personal
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) Regulations 2013,
scheme members must be written to three times to inform them of the
change to electronic communication and be given the opportunity to opt
to continue to receive paper copies. Communication was started in
2016 with deferred members and a further two notifications will be sent
in March 2017 and June 2017 to deferred members.

Each April the Fund issues a combined P60, April payslip and pensions
increase notification to Pensioners. This year’s project is underway
and test data is currently being worked on. A copy of the pensioner’s
newsletter ‘InTouch’ is also being sent. Payslips and P60s continue to
be available for pension members to view online if they wish.

The Fund has worked hard with employers to ensure each participating
employer in the Fund has a discretions policy in place. To assist
employers a template was purchased from the LGA which provided
comprehensive guidance on making a policy including suggested
wording. This has been helpful and there has been an increase in the
number of discretions policies the Fund now has. Visits have also been
made to various employers around the County to provide one to one
guidance. The Fund no longer issues any quotations to members if
they require an exercise of a discretion if their employer has not got the
appropriate policy in place. The Fund has 8 employers who still have
not made a discretion policy and these employers have been recorded
on the breaches log.

The Pensions Regulator (TPR) Compliance Monitoring Framework
It's important that the administration of the Shropshire County Pension
is regularly reviewed to identify any areas that need updating or

improving. This is in accordance with the Public Service Pensions Act
2013 and the reason why the Pensions Board was established back on

Page 175 3




Pensions Committee; 17 March 2017: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

1 April 2015. Under the Act, the Pensions Board has responsibility for
assisting the Scheme Manager to secure compliance with the scheme
regulations. A review was undertaken in January 2017 and presented
to the Pensions Board against the statutory requirements imposed on
the Fund and the guidance in the Pensions Regulator’'s Code of
Practice 14. The Pensions Regulator’'s Code of Practice is attached at
Appendix C.

This was a significant piece of work to undertake and the Fund has
made an initial assessment on its perceived level of compliance. Each
area specified in the Code of Practice has been given a compliance
RAG rating (red, amber or green) to help identify any areas where the
Fund is non-compliant. Throughout the TPR’s Code of Practice the
term ‘must’ is used where there is a legal requirement. The term
‘should’ is used to refer to practical guidance and the standards
expected by the TPR. The Fund has prioritised the areas of compliance
described in the Code of Practice as ‘must’ and where these have been
RAG rated as either amber or red. The assessment identified five
priority areas which require improvement. All five are a legal
requirement where ‘must’ has been used in the Code of Practice and
have been rated as ‘amber’ meaning requiring investigation. Any areas
identified where the term ‘should’ has been used will be investigated
once the priority areas have been resolved. There are no areas
identified in the self-assessment as being Red. The areas identified for
improvement are:

e Governing your Scheme

Areas of knowledge and understanding required
e Administration

Records of member information

Benefit Statements

When basic Scheme information must be provided
e Resolving issues

Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure

Two of the areas identified are aligned to the findings of the Regulator’s
own survey of compliance which it undertook with all LGPS Fund’s.
These areas are record keeping and communications to members. A
summary of the assessment exercise and where the priority areas have
been found was provided to the Pensions Board. The next review will
be undertaken in July 2017 and the developments reported to the
Pensions Committee and Pensions Board.

As part of the TPR compliance review the Fund has looked in detail at
the Public Service Pensions (Record Keeping and Miscellaneous
Amendments) Regulations 2014 which requires the Scheme Manager
to keep specific data about members.

There are improvements that can be made in this area and the Fund

has recently undertaken a review to establish any additional processes
which should be introduced to ensure completeness and accuracy of

Page 176 4




Pensions Committee; 17 March 2017: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

7.6

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

information held. There are gaps in the address data held for deferred
Scheme members; identified when post has been returned to the
Pensions Team and as a result the member has been recorded on the
Pensions Administration system as ‘gone away’. Currently, member
tracing is undertaken when benefits are due for payment, although it is
recognised that this type of exercise is required more often. There is
not currently enough staffing resource to undertake this exercise on an
annual basis.

The Fund is using the Pensions Regulators guidance to implement a
data improvement exercise to specifically tackle the issue of missing
addresses and a project is currently underway to identify and update
the inaccurate addresses held on the Pensions Administration System.
The Fund is obtaining quotations from companies who specialise in
tracing ‘gone away’ members, to work with the Fund across certain
categories of membership to improve the records. There is also merit in
looking into a mortality screening exercise at the same time to establish
whether members have passed away. However, the Fund does
participate in the LGPS National Insurance Database which means that
a notification will be received if a member dies and is in another LGPS
Fund, as this avoids the payment of two death grants which is not
permitted under the LGPS regulations. The Fund also participates in
the national Tell Us One (TUO) death notification service. These
services however do not tackle any historical non notifications of
deaths.

System Disaster Recovery

A Disaster Recovery (DR) exercise took place on 13" December 2016.
This tests that the Pensions Administration System can be moved to
and run on a back-up server in the event of the main server not being
available. Currently the system is run from a server at the Shirehall
with a mirror back-up server at Nuneaton.

A test plan is agreed in advance and pre-tests are undertaken. This
ensures totals from the system are logged which can then be checked
and balanced at each part of the recovery process. On the morning of
the DR all users are locked out of the system except for those involved
in the process. For the first time a user worked off site to test if the
mirror server could be accessed remotely.

IT undertook the move to the off-site mirror server and then Fund staff
tested the access. When tests were completed, IT moved the system
back to the main server for Fund staff to complete final checks and
ensured Altair was running successfully again before then being made
available to all users.

The DR went well and the systems successfully transferred to the
server at Nuneaton and back to the main server. It was also proved
that a user could access the off-site server remotely. However, it was
confirmed, that the mirror server is considerably slower than the main

Page 177 5




Pensions Committee; 17 March 2017: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

8.5

8.6

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

server, with only 3 users. The report writer tool worked with a small
report but had to be aborted when running a larger one, again down to
the smaller size of the server.

It was concluded that the mirror server would not be robust enough for
all the Pensions Team to access at the same time and therefore only a
small number could use the system for a limited time.

Alternative DR provision must therefore be sourced.
Hosting, Payroll and Enhanced MSS

The team have been meeting with IT with regards to Shropshire
Council’s (the Council) strategy for systems Hosting. Assurance is
needed that our current provision is robust or whether external hosting
services should be looked into.

It is understood that as part of the Council’s digital transformation the
replacement systems it is currently tendering for will be externally
hosted.

The Council is tendering amongst other things for an alternative payroll
system. The Fund therefore is having to look into the alternatives for
running the Pensioner payroll. The current system used by the
Council, Resource Link, is a system set up for payments for a staff
payroll. It has been considerably hard to apply this set up for the
payment and increases for Pensioners. In the past there have been
very little alternatives to look at but there is now an option to use Altair
payroll. This would be a “bolt on” to the current Altair system and
would mean that payments could interface to Altair payroll from the
Administration systems. This would mean information is held on the
same database ensuring consistency, accuracy and security of data.

An enhanced version of the Member Self Service facility is also being
looked at. This provides improved content management tools; fully
supports multiple devices such as tablets and mobile phones; provides
significant enhancements to the “look and feel” of the platform for
members and far greater flexibility for Fund customisation. The use of
MSS is increasing significantly following Annual Benefit Statements
now being available on-line and not posting a paper copy.

As a result of needing to future proof the payment of pensions and
needing to ensure the online member experience is improved, further
discussions have taken place with IT on whether additional hardware is
required or whether virtual hosting can be used in the meantime. Costs
are awaited from IT. But this together with the fact that the other main
Councils systems will be externally hosted it is looking likely that a
decision will need to be made soon on whether the Fund needs to look
at an external hosting solution within the next financial year.

Page 178 6




Pensions Committee; 17 March 2017: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

Benchmarking

The Pensions Administration Benchmarking Club has been in
operation for some time and compares the cost of Pensions
Administration with other Pension Funds nationally including some out-
sourced to private contractors.

The following bar chart shows Shropshire is just below the group
average of £18.18 per member at £18.04 per member. The second
chart shows Shropshire’s position against the average cost since 2011.
(Benchmarking was not undertaken in 2013/14). You will see that the
cost per member has reduced in 2016 compared to 2015. The Fund
invested in staff in 2014 as a pre-emptive measure for the introduction
of the new Scheme. Other Funds have since had to do a similar as
now shown in the charts. However there are still some areas of work
that the team are struggling to undertake and the existing staffing
structure is currently being reviewed.

== C|uh average
NET COST / MEMBER 2015/16 X Shropshire

Cost per member

X % S

p \
£30 Cost per member £25
£20
€20 £15
£10
£5

£0

£10 4

£0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

The following charts show the composition of members as at 31 March
2016. It shows that the Fund has just below average proportion of
actives at 35.9%, the average is 37.2%, above average of deferred
beneficiaries and a lower than average number of pensioners. The
fourth chart also shows that the number of employers in the Fund is
below the average. However, the number of employers in the fund is
continuing to rise. This is partly down to the fact that after a slow start
we are now seeing larger number of Schools converting to Academies
across Shropshire Schools. And with the Central Government push for
schools to convert this is directly impacting on the staffing resource in
the Team.

ACTIVES AS A % MEMBERS PENSIONERS AS A % MEMBERS

/ .K N
150% Active Members - Sub-Total 30% Pensioners as % of members |

100% 20%

50% 10%

|

0%

Page 179 7




Pensions Committee; 17 March 2017: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

11.

10.4

11.1

11.2

NUMBER OF LGPS EMPLOYERS

ra N
~ |[1000 Total |
40% Deferred - Staff |

800
30% 600
20% 400
10% 200

D I

| 0% SRS

The following charts show the payroll cost per member. You can see
that the average is £1.41 and Shropshire is 0.57p per member. This
has always been a low cost historically as employer work was always
undertaken by the Fund so a recharge was not made for utilising the
Council’s payroll software. This has been reviewed for transparency
and will change going forward.

£ per
£'000 member Avg
Payroll (combined) 27 0.57 1.41

4 Pensioners as % of members
30%

25%

15%
10%

~
Payroll per member |
5%

£9.0

£8.0 0%
£7.0 /
£6.0
Shropshire 21% Avg 23%

£5.0
4.0 \
£3.0 (" ga0 Payroll cost per pensioner
£2.0
£1.0 £30
£0.0 |
\ £20

£10

£0 L

\_

Shropshire 2.8 Avg 6.4

Regulation Update

On 4 October 2016, the Department of Communities and Local
Government published new late retirement guidance for the LGPS in
England and Wales. The guidance is effective from 4 January 2017.
The three month period between the issue of the guidance and the
effective date reflects the fact that the new factors are significantly less
favourable to an LGPS member than the current factors.

The new pensions uplift for late retirements is 71.4% of the current rate
(0.010% per day compared to the current rate of 0.014% per day) and
the new automatic lump sum uplift is 14.3% of the current rate (0.001%
per day compared to the current rate of 0.007% per day).

Page 180 8



Pensions Committee; 17 March 2017: Pensions Administration Monitoring Report

12. GMP Reconciliation Update

12.1 In November 2016 HMRC published further information on the ceasing
of contracting out, focusing on the reconciliation of active member
records and in particular an exercise called the closure scan. The
closure scan will automatically close open periods of contracted out
employment held on HMRC records, using the Scheme Contracted-out
Number (SCON) provided by Employers on their Full Payment
Submissions (FPS). The Fund has completed and returned its closure
scan request to HMRC before the required deadline.

12.2 The Fund continues to work with ITM on the second phase on
reconciliation for Deferred and Pensioners members’ GMP’s. It is
looking most likely that the rectification phase will also need to be
undertaken by a third party.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)

Pensions Committee Meeting 25 November 2016 Pensions Administration Report
Pensions Board Agenda Reports from meeting on 5 February 2017

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
NA

Local Member
NA

Appendices

Appendix A — Performance Monitoring

Appendix B — Risk Log

Appendix C — Pensions Regulators Code of Practice 14

Page 181 9



This page is intentionally left blank



€8l ebed

Appendix A

Task Statistics
4500
4000 .
" -@-— Tasks Which Became Due
§ 3500 -1~ Procedures Outstanding at end of Montt
- 3000 Outstanding Excluding Checking
[T
2 -~ Number of Procedures Processed On
Time
Qo
o 2500
E -@- Procedures Completed
2 2000 Procedures Processed On Time In Office
P384
1 500 -—— Total Processed In Office P384
Terminated Procedures P383
1000
O \ T \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
> < > oOmnx» < > O nXr» < > o mnr»r < > O
Uccgmmbccgmmbccgmmuccgmm
TTQ TP IFIQTOTTIQTOTE QT
-_— —_— -_— . N -_— . N -_— —_—
PR PO RERR RN R PR NN TN GO O O o



This page is intentionally left blank



Gg| 8bed

Appendix B
Risks taken from Risk Log January 2017

Description of Risk Current Controls In Place Risk
Exposure
Incorrect information / benefits - provided to members of |Benefits calcualtions are checked. All supporting Med
the scheme calcualtions are provided to the member. Team Training.
Employer Training.

The insolvency of an employer places additional liabilities |[Admission agreements, bonds in some cases. Shorter V Low
on the Fund and ultimately the remaining employers. deficit recovery periods. FSS. Annual Employer covenant
Orphan liabilities. check .
Vulnerable to loss of or over-reliance of key staff due to  |Procedures notes updated. Team restucted in 2014 to Med
long term sickness or staff turnover resulting in reduction |allow for succesion planning. Training undertaken in
of service to scheme employers. 2015. Training Policy put in place and training log.
Failure of ITC, hardware supported by SC, impacting DR in place. Tested annually. Reliance on SC inhouse IT Med
adversley ability to run Altair pension adminstration department
system.
Failure of support systems: Resource Link, SAMIS, CIVICA |Reliance on SC IT Med
Icon cheque processing, COGNOS which will result in
incorrect data collection, payment of benefits and
incorrect accounting.
Failure of telephony system: Lync phones- resulting in no |Reliance on SC IT Med
commmunication with customers
Failure of Administration Team to perform their Annual Audits, internal & external. Internal procedures Med

tasks,including for the reason of lack of resourse
specifically leading to incorrect; data, triennial Fund
valuations or failure to provide accurate and timely advice
to employers.

and checks. National Fraud initiative for pensioner data.
Membership reconciliations, Performance against
Adminstration Strategy. Close working relationships with
employers. Assurance from Actuary on data quality for
Valuation.




98| 8bed

Failure of Employers to provide accurate data leading to
incorrect benefit statement / payments or Fund valuations.

Employer training. Communication. Administration
Strategy Statement. Team training. Internal controls
including contribution collection audits and positive
action by Pension Team. Iconnect implemented for the 2
largest employers. Employers trained on TPR code.
Monthly returns for some employers. Employer training
to cover errors picked up on year end returns. Introduced
Breaches recording &reporting.

High

Loss of personal data leading to fines and reputational Med
loss ICT security used such as data encryption, secure email

and document management software with strict security

profiles. Secure working environments. Information

protection L1 training undertaken by all staff annually

and Level 2 by 2 members of staff. Secure working

environment in place.
Late payment of contributions by Fund Employers leading |Employer training / guidance on website. Employer Med
to Pension Fund having to report to TPR and possible be  |newsletter. Contributions check & balance. Adhere to
fined. internal governace compliance statement. Adherence to

TPR code of practice
Policies or strategies of the Administerting Authority Segregation of duties, delegated decision making to High

adversely impacting on the work of the Pensions Team for
the Shropshire County Pension Fund

Pensions Committee and Scheme Administration (Section
151 officer). Quarterly report to Pensions Committee on
Administration. Embedding of Pensions Board and
Pensions Regulator Code and Scheme Advisory Board




/8| 8bed

Not undertaking work to reconcile GMP data in line with  |GMP's have historically been processed when received Med
ending of contracting out legislation resulting in possible |and leavers notified to HMRC. Any missing ones for
overpayments and additional costs to the Pension Fund. pensioners requested. Initial work was undertaken in
15/16 to identify size of issue. Decision made for stage 1
&2 to be undertaken by third party during 2016/17.
Members and officers lack the skills and knowledge Member training plan in place. Training requirement Low
required to make informed decisions on behalf of the audit undertaken. Access to on-line TPR training tools
stakeholders, leading to adverse performance feedback, [and expert advisors. Officer Training plan in place fed by
potential legal challenge and poor value for money. PDR's. Attendance at national and regional forums and
collaborative working with other Funds.
Failure to identify and report breaches of the law, in Breaches Policy in place together with log which is Med
accordance with the requirements of the Pensions reported to Committee, Board and Fund Administrator.
Regulator leading to reputational damage, fines and Training undertaken by key staff.
criminal penalties.
Non compliance with the law around LGPS Benefit The use of a good LGPS administration software solution Med

Administration leading to fines by the Pensions Regulator
and loss of confidence in the Fund.

together with staff training mitigates the risks to the
Council. The Council is part of a consortium for the
current system CLASS which keeps the cost of
development down by funding coming from a pooled
resource.




This page is intentionally left blank



Code of practice no. 14

Governance and
administration

of public service
pension schemes

The Pensions
April 2015 Regulator
Page 189



Page 190



The Pensions
Regulator

Code of practice no. 14

Governance and administration of
public service pension schemes

Presented to Parliament pursuant to Section 91(5) of the Pensions Act 2004
Draft to lie before Parliament for forty days, during which time either House may resolve that the
code be not made.

Presented to the Northern Ireland Assembly pursuant to Article 86(5) of the Pensions (Northern
Ireland) Order 2005

Draft to lie before the Northern Ireland Assembly for ten days on which the Assembly has sat or
thirty calendar days whichever period is the longer, during which time the Assembly may resolve
that the code be not made.

12 January 2015

Page 191



Code of practice no. 14
Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

© The Pensions Regulator April 2015

The text of this document (this excludes, where present, the Royal Arms
and all departmental or agency logos) may be reproduced free of charge
in any format or medium provided that it is reproduced accurately and
not in a misleading context.

The material must be acknowledged as The Pensions Regulator’s copyright
and the document title specified. Where third party material has been
identified, permission from the respective copyright holder must be sought.

Any enquiries related to this publication should be sent to us at:
customersupport@tpr.gov.uk

We can produce it in Braille, large print or on audio tape. We can also
produce it in other languages.

Page 192



Contents

Introduction

Status of codes of practice
This code of practice

At whom is this code directed?
Terms used in this code

How to use this code

Northern Ireland

Governing your scheme

Knowledge and understanding required by pension board members
Conflicts of interest and representation

Publishing information about schemes

Managing risks
Internal controls

Administration

Scheme record-keeping
Maintaining contributions
Providing information to members

Resolving issues
Internal dispute resolution
Reporting breaches of the law

Appendix: Corresponding Northern Ireland legislation

page

- = 00 NO~O0O O

- O

12
17
25

27
27

32
32
37
44

51
51
56

64

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 193



Introduction

This code of practice is issued by The Pensions Regulator (‘the
regulator’), the body that regulates occupational and personal
pension schemes provided through employers.

1

The regulator’s statutory objectives' are to:

e  protect the benefits of pension scheme members
e  reduce the risks of calls on the Pension Protection Fund (PPF)

®  promote, and improve understanding of, the good
administration of work-based pension schemes

*  maximise compliance with the duties and safeguards of the
Pensions Act 2008

*  minimise any adverse impact on the sustainable growth of an
employer (in relation to the exercise of the regulator’s functions
under Part 3 of the Pensions Act 2004 only).

The regulator has a number of regulatory tools, including issuing
codes of practice, to enable it to meet its statutory objectives.

Codes of practice provide practical guidance in relation to the
exercise of functions under relevant pensions legislation and set out
the standards of conduct and practice expected from those who

exercise those functions?.

Status of codes of practice

5.

Codes of practice are not statements of the law and there is no
penalty for failing to comply with them. It is not necessary for

all the provisions of a code of practice to be followed in every
circumstance. Any alternative approach to that appearing in the
code of practice will nevertheless need to meet the underlying legal
requirements, and a penalty may be imposed if these requirements
are not met. When determining whether the legal requirements
have been met, a court or tribunal must take any relevant provisions
of a code of practice into account?.

If there are grounds to issue an improvement notice?, the regulator
may issue a notice directing a person to take, or refrain from taking,
such steps as are specified in the notice. These directions may be

worded by reference to a code of practice issued by the regulator?.

This code of practice

7.

The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (the 2013 Act) introduces the
framework for the governance and administration of public service
pension schemes and provides an extended regulatory oversight by
the regulator.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 194

1
Section 5(1) of the
Pensions Act 2004.

2
Section 90A(1), ibid.

3
Section 90A(5), ibid.

4

Where the regulator
considers that legal
requirements are not
being met, or have
been contravened in
circumstances which
make it likely that the
breach will continue
or be repeated, it may
issue an improvement
notice under s13 of the
Pensions Act 2004.

5
Section 13(3) of the
Pensions Act 2004.



Introduction

8. The regulator is required to issue one or more codes of practice
covering specific matters relating to public service pension
schemes®. This code of practice sets out the legal requirements for
public service pension schemes in respect of those specific matters.
It contains practical guidance and sets out standards of conduct
and practice expected of those who exercise functions in relation to
those legal requirements.

9. The practical guidance sections in this code are not intended to
prescribe the process for every scenario. They do, however, provide
principles, examples and benchmarks against which scheme
managers and members of pension boards can consider whether
or not they have understood their duties and obligations and are
reasonably complying with them.

10. If scheme managers and the members of pension boards are, for
any reason, unable to act in accordance with the guidance set out
in this code, or an alternative approach that meets the underlying
requirements, they should consider their statutory duty under
section 70 of the Pensions Act 2004 to assess and if necessary report
breaches of the law’. For further information, see the section of this
code on ‘Reporting breaches of the law’.

At whom is this code directed?

11. This code relates to public service pension schemes within the
meaning of the Pensions Act 20048, These are schemes established
under the 2013 Act, new public body pension schemes and other
statutory pension schemes which are connected to those schemes.
It does not apply to schemes in the wider public sector, nor to any
scheme which is excluded from being a public service pension
scheme within the meaning of the Pensions Act 2004.

12. This code is particularly directed at scheme managers and the
members of pension boards of public service pension schemes
and connected schemes. Scheme managers must comply with
various legal requirements relating to the governance, management
and administration of public service pension schemes. Pension
boards must also comply with certain legal requirements, including

assisting scheme managers in relation to securing compliance
Sting gers! ! uring compi Section 90A() of the

with scheme regulations and other legislation relating to the Pensions Act 2004,
governance and administration of the scheme, any requirements

of the regulator and with any other matters specified in scheme 7

regulations. The role, responsibilities and duties of pension boards Section 70, ibid.
will vary. Where pension boards are not directly responsible for

undertaking particular activities, they remain accountable for 8

assisting the scheme manager in securing compliance with the Section 318, ibid.

scheme regulations and other legislation relating to the governance

and administration of the scheme, any requirements of the 7

. ,anyreq ) ) Section 5 of the Public
regulator and with any other matters for which they are responsible Service Pensions Act
under the scheme regulations’. 2013.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes e

Page 195



Introduction

13.

14.

15.

16.

In addition, the legal requirement to report breaches of the law
under section 70 of the Pensions Act 2004 applies to other persons
involved in public service pension schemes, so this code is also
directed at them.

Scheme managers and pension boards (where relevant) may be
able to delegate some activities to others, or outsource them,
although they will not be able to delegate their accountability

for complying with a legal requirement imposed on them. This
code should therefore be followed by anyone to whom activities
relating to the legal requirements covered by this code have been
delegated or outsourced.

Employers participating in public service pension schemes will also
find the code a useful source of reference. The role and actions of
employers can be critical in enabling scheme managers to meet
certain legal requirements 0,

Public service pension schemes are established primarily as defined
benefit (DB) schemes. Some of these schemes also enable members
to make additional voluntary contributions (AVCs) on either a DB
basis or to a separate defined contribution (DC) scheme. There are
also some DC schemes which are offered as alternatives to the DB
schemes. This code applies to any DC scheme which is a public
service pension scheme within the meaning of the Pensions Act 2004.

Terms used in this code

17.

18.

The 2013 Act — the Public Service Pensions Act 2013, which sets
out the arrangements for the creation of schemes for the payment
of pensions and other benefits. It provides powers to ministers

to create such schemes according to a common framework of
requirements.

Public service pension schemes'! — these are (a) new public service
pension schemes set up under section 1 of the 2013 Act (including
any scheme which has effect as such a scheme'?); (b) new public
body pension schemes (within the meaning of the 2013 Act) and (c)
any statutory pension schemes connected with a scheme described
in (a) or (b). Substantially, these are the schemes providing pension
benefits for civil servants, the judiciary, local government workers,
teachers, health service workers, fire and rescue workers, members
of police forces and the armed forces. Except where specified
otherwise, the legal requirements and practical guidance set out

in this code apply to any kind of public service pension scheme
within the meaning of the Pensions Act 2004, whether it is a scheme
established under section 1 of the 2013 Act, a new public body
scheme or a connected scheme.

10

Employers participating
in occupational public
service pension schemes
are under a statutory
duty to report breaches
of the law under s70 of
the Pensions Act 2004.

11

As defined in s318 of
the Pensions Act 2004.
Under s318(6) of that
Act, a scheme which
would otherwise fall
within the definition of
‘public service pension
scheme' in the Pensions
Act 2004 does not do
so if it is a scheme
providing only for
injury or compensation
benefits (or both), or

if it is specified in an
order made under that
section.

12
Section 28 of the 2013
Act.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes e

Page 196



Introduction

19.

20.

21.

22.

Connected scheme — a scheme established under section 1 of the
2013 Act and another statutory pension scheme, or a new public
body pension scheme and another statutory pension scheme are
connected if and to the extent that the schemes make provision in
relation to persons of the same description. Scheme regulations
may specify exceptionsB.

Responsible authority — the 2013 Act identifies secretaries of state/
ministers, each being the responsible authority for their schemes,
who have power to make the scheme regulations for the relevant
schemes'®. The responsible authority may also be the scheme
manager'>. In relation to a public body pension scheme, references

in the code to the responsible authority are to be read as references

to the public authority which established the scheme.

Scheme regulations — each new scheme made under section 1 of
the 2013 Act has scheme regulations which set out the detail of
the membership and benefits to be provided under the scheme1°.
The regulations must identify scheme managers and provide for
the establishment of pension boards and scheme advisory boards.
These regulations constitute the main rules of the scheme. In
addition to the scheme regulations, the rules of a scheme include:

e certain legislative provisions, to the extent that they override
provisions of the scheme regulations, or which have effect in
relation to a scheme and are not otherwise reflected in the
scheme regulations, and

®  any provision which the scheme regulations do not contain but
which the scheme rules must contain if it is to conform with the
requirements of Chapter 1 of Part 4 of the Pension Schemes
Act 1993 (preservation of benefit under occupational pension
schemes)!’.

Some connected schemes and new public body pension schemes

will not be established by regulations, so references in the code to

scheme regulations should be read as references to the rules of the

scheme in these cases.

Scheme manager — each public service pension scheme has one
or more persons responsible for managing or administering the
scheme8. Public service pension schemes can have different
persons acting as scheme manager for different parts of the
pension scheme. For the locally administered schemes'?, the
scheme managers may be the local administering authorities or a
person representing an authority or police force.

13
Section 4(6) and (7) of
the 2013 Act.

14
Section 2 and Schedule
2, ibid.

15
Section 4(3), ibid.

16
Section 3 and Schedule
3, ibid.

17
Section 318(2) of the
Pensions Act 2004.

18
Section 4 and s30 of the
2013 Act.

19

Locally administered
schemes include the
schemes for England,
and Wales, and Scotland
for local government
workers, and England
and Wales for fire and
rescue workers and
members of police
forces.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes o

Page 197



Introduction

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

Pension board — the scheme manager (or each scheme manager)
for a scheme has a pension board?? with responsibility for assisting
the scheme manager to comply with the scheme regulations and
other legislation relating to the governance and administration of
the scheme and any requirements imposed by the regulator. The
pension board must also assist the scheme manager with such other
matters as the scheme regulations may specify. It will be for scheme
regulations and the scheme manager to determine precisely what
the pension board's role, responsibilities and duties entail.

Scheme advisory board — each DB public service pension scheme
has a scheme advisory board?! with responsibility for providing
advice on the desirability of changes to the scheme, when
requested to do so by the responsible authority (or otherwise, in
accordance with scheme regulations). Where there is more than one
scheme manager the scheme regulations may also provide for the
scheme advisory board to provide advice (on request or otherwise)
to the scheme managers or the scheme’s pension boards on the
effective and efficient administration and management of the
scheme or any pension fund of the scheme.

Schemes - in this code the term ‘schemes’ is used throughout
where actions to comply with a legal requirement, standard or
expectation may be carried out by the scheme manager, pension
board or by another person(s) including those to whom activities
have been delegated or outsourced. The scheme manager or
pension board will be ultimately accountable, depending upon to
whom the legal obligation applies under the legislation.

Must — in this code the term ‘must’ is used where there is a legal
requirement.

Should - in this code the term ‘should’ is used to refer to practical
guidance and the standards expected by the regulator.

How to use this code

28.

29.

30.

The code is structured as a reference for scheme managers and
pension boards to use to inform their actions in four core areas of
scheme governance and administration: governing your scheme,
managing risks, administration and resolving issues.

Each core section includes practical guidance to help scheme
managers and pension boards to discharge their legal duties. The
regulator recognises that there may be alternative and justifiable
actions or approaches that scheme managers or pension boards
may wish to adopt, provided these meet the minimum legal
requirements.

Schemes will need to consider and apply the practical guidance to
suit their own particular characteristics and arrangements.

20

Section 5 and s30(1)

of the 2013 Act (in the
case of new public body
schemes, if the scheme
has more than one
member).

21

Section 7, ibid. This
requirement only applies
to schemes set up under
s1 of the 2013 Act.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 198



Introduction

Northern Ireland

31.

32.

References to the law that applies in Great Britain should be taken
to include corresponding legislation in Northern Ireland. References
to HM Treasury directions should be taken to be directions by the
Department of Finance and Personnel. The responsible authority for
each scheme is the relevant government department?2,

The appendix to this code lists the corresponding references to
Northern Ireland legislation.

22

Section 2 and Schedule
2 of the Public Service
Pensions Act (Northern
Ireland) 2014.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 199



Governing your scheme

33.

This part of the code covers:

e knowledge and understanding required by pension board
members

e conflicts of interest and representation, and

e publishing information about schemes.

Knowledge and understanding required
by pension board members

Legal requirements

34.

35.

36.

A member of the pension board of a public service pension scheme
must be conversant with:

e the rules of the scheme?3, and

e any document recording policy about the administration of the
scheme which is for the time being adopted in relation to the
scheme.

A member of a pension board must have knowledge and
understanding of:

e the law relating to pensions, and
e any other matters which are prescribed in regulations.

The degree of knowledge and understanding required is that
appropriate for the purposes of enabling the individual to properly
exercise the functions of a member of the pension board??.

Practical guidance

37.

38.

39.

The legislative requirements about knowledge and understanding
only apply to pension board members. However, scheme managers
should take account of this guidance as it will support them in
understanding the legal framework and enable them to help
pension board members to meet their legal obligations.

Schemes? should establish and maintain policies and
arrangements for acquiring and retaining knowledge and
understanding to support their pension board members. Schemes
should designate a person to take responsibility for ensuring that a
framework is developed and implemented.

However, it is the responsibility of individual pension board
members to ensure that they have the appropriate degree of
knowledge and understanding to enable them to properly exercise
their functions as a member of the pension board.

23

See paragraph 21 for the
definition of the 'rules of
the scheme’.

24
Section 248A of the
Pensions Act 2004.

25
See paragraph 25 for the
definition of ‘schemes’.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 200



Governing your scheme

Areas of knowledge and understanding required

40. Pension board members must be conversant with their scheme

41.

42.

rules, which are primarily found in the scheme regulations?®, and
documented administration policies currently in force for their
pension scheme?’. Being ‘conversant’ means having a working
knowledge of the scheme regulations and policies, so that pension
board members can use them effectively when carrying out their
duties.

They must also have knowledge and understanding of the law
relating to pensions (and any other matters prescribed in legislation)
to the degree appropriate for them to be able to carry out their
role, responsibilities and duties.

In terms of documented administration policies, specific documents
recording policy about administration will vary from scheme to
scheme. However, the following are examples of administration
policies which the regulator considers to be particularly pertinent
and would expect to be documented where relevant to a pension
scheme, and with which pension board members must therefore be
conversant where applicable?8. This list is not exhaustive and other
documented policies may fall into this category:

* any scheme-approved policies relating to:

conflicts of interest and the register of interests
- record-keeping

— internal dispute resolution

— reporting breaches

— maintaining contributions to the scheme

- the appointment of pension board members

* risk assessments/management and risk register policies for the
scheme

e scheme booklets, announcements and other key member and
employer communications, which describe scheme policies
and procedures

e the roles, responsibilities and duties of the scheme manager,
pension board and individual pension board members

e terms of reference, structure and operational policies of the
pension board and/or any sub-committee

® statements of policy about the exercise of discretionary
functions

26

See paragraph 21 for the
definition of the 'rules of
the scheme’.

27
Section 248A(2) of the
Pensions Act 2004.

28
Section 248A(2)(b) of the
Pensions Act 2004.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 201



Governing your scheme

43.

44,

45.

46.

e statements of policy about communications with members and
scheme employers

e the pension administration strategy, or equivalent??, and
e any admission body (or equivalent) policies.

For pension board members of funded pension schemes,
documents which record policy about the administration of the
scheme will include those relating to funding and investment
matters. For example, where relevant they must be conversant with
the statement of investment principles and the funding strategy
statement30,

Pension board members must also be conversant with any other
documented policies relating to the administration of the scheme.
For example, where applicable, they must be conversant with
policies relating to:

e the contribution rate or amount (or the range/variability where
there is no one single rate or amount) payable by employers
participating in the scheme

e statements of assurance (for example, assurance reports from
administrators)

e third party contracts and service level agreements

e  stewardship reports from outsourced service providers (for
example, those performing outsourced activities such as scheme
administration), including about compliance issues

e scheme annual reports and accounts

® accounting requirements relevant to the scheme

e audit reports, including from outsourced service providers, and
e  other scheme-specific governance documents.

Where DC or DC AVC options are offered, pension board
members should also be familiar with the requirements for the
payment of member contributions to the providers, the principles
relating to the operation of those arrangements, the choice of
investments to be offered to members, the provider's investment
and fund performance report and the payment schedule for such
arrangements.

Schemes should prepare and keep an updated list of the
documents with which they consider pension board members need
to be conversant. This will enable them to effectively carry out their
role. They should make sure that both the list and the documents
are available in accessible formats.

29
For the local

government pension

schemes, this might
include information
about the setting of

performance targets
or making agreements

about levels of
performance.

30
Section 248A(2)(b) o
Pensions Act 2004.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 202

f the



Governing your scheme

Degree of knowledge and understanding required

47. The roles, responsibilities and duties of pension boards and their
individual members will vary between pension schemes. Matters for
which the pension board is responsible will be set out in scheme
regulations3!. Clear guidance on the roles, responsibilities and
duties of pension boards and the members of those boards should
be set out in scheme documentation.

48. Schemes should assist individual pension board members to
determine the degree of knowledge and understanding that is
sufficient for them to effectively carry out their role, responsibilities
and duties as a pension board member.

49. Pension board members must have a working knowledge of their
scheme regulations and documented administration policies. They
should understand their scheme regulations and policies in enough
detail to know where they are relevant to an issue and where a
particular provision or policy may apply.

50. Pension board members must have knowledge and understanding
of the law relating to pensions (and any other prescribed matters)
sufficient for them to exercise the functions of their role. Pension
board members should be aware of the range and extent of the
law relating to pensions which applies to their scheme, and have
sufficient understanding of the content and effect of that law to
recognise when and how it impacts on their responsibilities and
duties.

51. Pension board members should be able to identify and where
relevant challenge any failure to comply with:

e the scheme regulations

e other legislation relating to the governance and administration
of the scheme

® any requirements imposed by the regulator, or

e any failure to meet the standards and expectations set out in
any relevant codes of practice issued by the regulator.

52. Pension board members’ breadth of knowledge and understanding
should be sufficient to allow them to understand fully and challenge
any information or advice they are given. They should understand
how that information or advice impacts on any issue or decision
relevant to their responsibilities and duties.

31

Section 5(2) of the 2013

Act.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 203



Governing your scheme

53. Pension board members of funded pension schemes should
ensure that they have the appropriate degree of knowledge and
understanding of funding and investment matters relating to their
scheme to enable them to effectively carry out their role. This
includes having a working knowledge of provisions in their scheme
regulations and administration policies that relate to funding and
investment, as well as knowledge and understanding of relevant law
relating to pensions.

54. All board members should attain appropriate knowledge so that
they are able to understand the relevant law in relation to their
scheme and role. The degree of knowledge and understanding
required of pension board members may vary according to the role
of the board member, as well as the expertise of the board member.
For example, a board member who is also a pensions law expert
(for instance, as a result of their day job) should have a greater level
of knowledge than that considered appropriate for board members
without this background.

Acquiring, reviewing and updating knowledge and
understanding

55. Pension board members should invest sufficient time in their
learning and development alongside their other responsibilities
and duties. Schemes should provide pension board members
with the relevant training and support that they require. Training
is an important part of the individual’s role and will help to ensure
that they have the necessary knowledge and understanding to
effectively meet their legal obligations.

56. Newly appointed pension board members should be aware that
their responsibilities and duties as a pension board member begin
from the date they take up their post. Therefore, they should
immediately start to familiarise themselves with the scheme
regulations, documents recording policy about the administration
of the scheme and relevant pensions law. Schemes should offer pre-
appointment training or arrange for mentoring by existing pension
board members. This can also ensure that historical and scheme-
specific knowledge is retained when pension board members
change.

57. Pension board members should undertake a personal training
needs analysis and regularly review their skills, competencies
and knowledge to identify gaps or weaknesses. They should use
a personalised training plan to document and address these

promptly.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 204



Governing your scheme

58. Learning programmes should be flexible, allowing pension board
members to update particular areas of learning where required and
to acquire new areas of knowledge in the event of any change. For
example, pension board members who take on new responsibilities
will need to ensure that they gain appropriate knowledge and
understanding relevant to carrying out those new responsibilities.

59. The regulator will provide an e-learning programme to help meet
the needs of pension board members, whether or not they have
access to other learning. If schemes choose alternative learning
programmes they should be confident that those programmes:

®  cover the type and degree of knowledge and understanding
required

e reflect the legal requirements, and

e are delivered within an appropriate timescale.

Demonstrating knowledge and understanding

60. Schemes should keep appropriate records of the learning activities
of individual pension board members and the board as a whole.
This will help pension board members to demonstrate steps they
have taken to comply with legal requirements and how they have
mitigated risks associated with knowledge gaps. A good external
learning programme will maintain records of the learning activities
of individuals on the programme or of group activities, if these have
taken place.

Conflicts of interest and representation

Legal requirements

61. A conflict of interest is a financial or other interest which is
likely to prejudice a person’s exercise of functions as a member
of the pension board. It does not include a financial or other
interest arising merely by virtue of that person being a member

of the scheme or any connected scheme for which the board is
established3?.

62. Inrelation to the pension board, scheme regulations must include 32
provision requiring the scheme manager to be satisfied: Section 5(5) of the 2013
Act defines a conflict
e that a person to be appointed as a member of the pension of interest in relation
board does not have a conflict of interest and to pension board
members and s7(5) of
e from time to time, that none of the members of the pension that Actin relation to
board has a conflict of interest33. scheme advisory board
members.
33

Section 5(4)(a), ibid.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 205



Governing your scheme

63.

64.

65.

66.

Scheme regulations must require each member or proposed
member of a pension board to provide the scheme manager with
such information as the scheme manager reasonably requires for
the purposes of meeting the requirements referred to above34.
Scheme regulations must include provision requiring the
pension board to include employer representatives and member
representatives in equal numbers3>.

In relation to the scheme advisory board, the regulations must also
include provision requiring the responsible authority to be satisfied:

e that a person to be appointed as a member of the scheme
advisory board does not have a conflict of interest and

e from time to time, that none of the members of the scheme
advisory board has a conflict of interest3.

Scheme regulations must require each member of a scheme
advisory board to provide the responsible authority with such
information as the responsible authority reasonably requires for the

purposes of meeting the requirements referred to above®’.

Practical guidance

67.

68.

69.

This guidance is to help scheme managers to meet the legal
requirement to be satisfied that pension board members do not
have any conflicts of interest. The same requirements apply to
responsible authorities in relation to scheme advisory boards,
(apart from the requirement regarding employer and member
representatives), but the regulator does not have specific
responsibility for oversight of scheme advisory boards.

Actual conflicts of interest are prohibited by the 2013 Act and
cannot, therefore, be managed. Only potential conflicts of interest
can be managed.

A conflict of interest may arise when pension board members:

e must fulfil their statutory role38 of assisting the scheme
manager in securing compliance with the scheme regulations,
other legislation relating to the governance and administration
of the scheme and any requirements imposed by the regulator
or with any other matter for which they are responsible, whilst

* having a separate personal interest (financial or otherwise),
the nature of which gives rise to a possible conflict with their
statutory role.

34

Section 5(4)(b) of the

2013 Act.

35

Section 5(4)(c), ibid.

36

Section 7(4)(a), ibid.

37

Section 7(4)(b), ibid.

38
Section 5(2), ibid.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 206



Governing your scheme

70. Some, if not all, of the ‘Seven principles of public life’ (formerly
known as the ‘Nolan principles’)3? will already apply to people
carrying out roles in public service pension schemes, for example
through the Ministerial code, Civil Service code or other codes of
conduct. These principles should be applied to all pension board
members in the exercise of their functions as they require the
highest standards of conduct. Schemes should incorporate the
principles into any codes of conduct (and across their policies and
processes) and other internal standards for pension boards.

71. Other legal requirements relating to conflicts of interest may
apply to pension board members and/or scheme advisory board
members®0. The regulator may not have specific responsibility for
enforcing all such legal requirements, but it does have a particular
role in relation to pension board members and conflicts of interest.
While pension board members may be subject to other legal
requirements, when exercising functions as a member of a pension
board they must meet the specific requirements of the 2013 Act and
are expected to satisfy the standards of conduct and practice set
out in this code.

72. ltis likely that some pension board members will have dual
interests, which may include other responsibilities. Scheme
managers and pension board members will need to consider all
other interests, financial or otherwise, when considering interests
which may give rise to a potential or actual conflict. For example,
a finance officer appointed as a pension board member can
offer their knowledge and make substantial contributions to the
operational effectiveness of the scheme, but from time to time

. . .. . 39
they may be myolved ina decision or matter which may be, or The Committee on
appear to be, in opposition to another interest. For instance, the Standards in Public
pension board may be required to take or scrutinise a decision Life has set out seven

principles of public life
which apply to anyone
who works as a public

which involves the use of departmental resources to improve
scheme administration, while the finance officer is at the same time

tasked, by virtue of their employment, with reducing departmental office holder or in
spending. A finance officer might not be prevented from being a Othbel‘r sectors delivering
member of a pension board, but the scheme manager must be Public services.

o . . ) S www.gov.uk/government/
satisfied that their dual interests are not likely to prejudice the publications/the-7-
pension board member in the exercise of any particular function. principles-of-public-life.

40

For example, local
government legislation
applicable to English
local authorities contains
legal requirements
relating to certain
people about standards
of conduct, conflicts of
interest and disclosure
of certain interests.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 207


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life

Governing your scheme

73.

74.

Scheme regulations will set out matters for which the pension
board is responsible®!. Schemes*? should set out clear guidance
on the roles, responsibilities and duties of pension boards and

the members of those boards in scheme documentation. This
should cover, for example, whether they have responsibility for
administering or monitoring the administration of the scheme;
developing, delivering or overseeing compliance with requirements
for governance and/or administration policies; and taking or
scrutinising decisions relating to governance and/or administration.
Regardless of their remit, potential conflicts of interest affecting
pension board members need to be identified, monitored and
managed effectively.

Schemes should consider potential conflicts of interest in relation
to the full scope of roles, responsibilities and duties of pension
board members. It is recommended that all those involved in the
management or administration of public service pension schemes
take professional legal advice when considering issues to do with
conflicts of interest.

A three-stage approach to managing potential
conflicts of interest

75.

76.

Conflicts of interest can inhibit open discussions and result in
decisions, actions or inactions which could lead to ineffective
governance and administration of the scheme. They may result in
pension boards acting improperly, or lead to a perception that they
have acted improperly. It is therefore essential that any interests,
which have the potential to become conflicts of interest or be
perceived as conflicts of interest, are identified and that potential
conflicts of interest (including perceived conflicts) are monitored
and managed effectively.

Schemes should ensure that there is an agreed and documented
conflicts policy and procedure, which includes identifying,
monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest. They
should keep this under regular review. Policies and procedures
should include examples of scenarios giving rise to conflicts
of interest, how a conflict might arise specifically in relation to
a pension board member and the process that pension board
members and scheme managers should follow to address a
situation where board members are subject to a potential or actual
conflict of interest.

41

Section 5(2) of the 2013
Act.

42
See paragraph 25 for the
definition of 'schemes’.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 208



Governing your scheme

77. Broadly, schemes should consider potential conflicts of interest in
three stages:

e  identifying
®*  monitoring, and

®* managing.

Identifying potential conflicts

78. Schemes should cultivate a culture of openness and transparency.
They should recognise the need for continual consideration of
potential conflicts. Disclosure of interests which have the potential
to become conflicts of interest should not be ignored. Pension
board members should have a clear understanding of their role and
the circumstances in which they may find themselves in a position
of conflict of interest. They should know how to manage potential
conflicts.

79. Pension board members, and people who are proposed to be
appointed to a pension board, must provide scheme managers with
information that they reasonably require to be satisfied that pension
board members and proposed members do not have a conflict of
interest®3.

80. Schemes should ensure that pension board members are appointed
under procedures that require them to disclose any interests,
including other responsibilities, which could become conflicts of
interest and which may adversely affect their suitability for the role,
before they are appointed.

81. All terms of engagement, for example appointment letters, should
include a clause requiring disclosure of all interests, including any
other responsibilities, which have the potential to become conflicts
of interest, as soon as they arise. All interests disclosed should be
recorded. See the section of this code on ‘Monitoring potential
conflicts’.

82. Schemes should take time to consider what important matters or
decisions are likely to be considered during, for example, the year
ahead and identify and consider any potential or actual conflicts of
interest that may arise in the future. Pension board members should
be notified as soon as practically possible and mitigations should
be put in place to prevent these conflicts from materialising.

43

Section 5(4)(b) of the
2013 Act and scheme
regulations.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes e

Page 209



Governing your scheme

Monitoring potential conflicts

83.

84.

85.

As part of their risk assessment process, schemes should identify,
evaluate and manage dual interests which have the potential to
become conflicts of interest and pose a risk to the scheme and
possibly members, if they are not mitigated. Schemes should
evaluate the nature of any dual interests and assess the likely
consequences were a conflict of interest to materialise.

A register of interests should provide a simple and effective means
of recording and monitoring dual interests and responsibilities.
Schemes should also capture decisions about how to manage
potential conflicts of interest in their risk registers or elsewhere.
The register of interests and other relevant documents should be
circulated to the pension board for ongoing review and published,
for example on a scheme's website.

Conflicts of interest should be included as an opening agenda

item at board meetings and revisited during the meeting, where
necessary. This provides an opportunity for those present to declare
any interests, including other responsibilities, which have the
potential to become conflicts of interest, and to minute discussions
about how they will be managed to prevent an actual conflict
arising.

Managing potential conflicts

86.

87.

88.

Schemes should establish and operate procedures which ensure
that pension boards are not compromised by potentially conflicted
members. They should consider and determine the roles and
responsibilities of pension boards and individual board members
carefully to ensure that conflicts of interest do not arise, nor are
perceived to have arisen.

A perceived conflict of interest can be as damaging to the
reputation of a scheme as an actual conflict of interest. It could
result in scheme members and interested parties losing confidence
in the way a scheme is governed and administered. Schemes should
be open and transparent about the way they manage potential
conflicts of interest.

When seeking to prevent a potential conflict of interest becoming
detrimental to the conduct or decisions of the pension board,
schemes should consider obtaining professional legal advice when
assessing any option.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes e

Page 210



Governing your scheme

Examples of conflicts of interest

89. Below are some examples of potential or actual conflicts of interest
which could arise, or be perceived to arise, in relation to public
service pension schemes. These will depend on the precise role,
responsibilities and duties of a pension board. The examples
provided are for illustrative purposes only and are not exhaustive.
They should not be relied upon as a substitute for the exercise of
judgement based on the principles set out in this code and any
legal advice considered appropriate, on a case-by-case basis.

a. Investing to improve scheme administration versus saving
money

An employer representative, who may be a Permanent Secretary,
finance officer or local councillor, is aware that system X would
help to improve standards of record-keeping in the scheme, but it
would be costly to implement. The scheme manager, for instance
a central government department or local administering authority,
would need to meet the costs of the new system at a time when
there is internal and external pressure to keep costs down. In order
to meet the costs of the new system, the scheme manager would
need to find money, perhaps by using a budget that was intended
for another purpose. This decision could prove unpopular with
taxpayers. A conflict of interest could arise where the employer
representative was likely to be prejudiced in the exercise of their
functions by virtue of their dual interests.

b. Outsourcing an activity versus keeping an activity in-house

In an extension of the previous example, a member representative,
who is also an employee of a participating employer, is aware

that system X would help to improve standards of record-keeping
in the scheme, but it would mean outsourcing an activity that

is currently being undertaken in-house by their employer. The
member representative could be conflicted if they were likely to
be prejudiced in the exercise of their functions by virtue of their
employment.

c. Representing the breadth of employers or membership versus
representing narrow interests

An employer representative who happens to be employed by the
administering authority and is appointed to the pension board

to represent employers generally could be conflicted if they only
serve to act in the interests of the administering authority, rather
than those of all participating employers. Equally, a member
representative, who is also a trade union representative, appointed
to the pension board to represent the entire scheme membership
could be conflicted if they only act in the interests of their union and
union membership, rather than all scheme members.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 211



Governing your scheme

d. Assisting the scheme manager versus furthering personal
interests

i. A pension board member, who is also a scheme adviser,
may recommend the services or products of a related party,
for which they might derive some form of benefit, resulting
in them not providing, or not being seen to provide,
independent advice or services

ii. A pension board member who is involved in procuring or
tendering for services for a scheme administrator, and who
can influence the award of a contract, may be conflicted
where they have an interest in a particular supplier, for
example, a family member works there.

e) Sharing information with the pension board versus a duty of
confidentiality to an employer

An employer representative has access to information by virtue

of their employment, which could influence or inform the
considerations or decisions of the pension board. They have to
consider whether to share this information with the pension board
in light of their duty of confidentiality to their employer. Their
knowledge of this information will put them in a position of conflict
if it is likely to prejudice their ability to carry out their functions as a
member of the pension board.

Representation on pension boards

90. While scheme regulations must require pension boards to have an

91.

equal number of employer and member representatives*, there is
flexibility to design arrangements which best suit each scheme.

Arrangements should be designed with regard to the principles

of proportionality, fairness and transparency, and with the aim

of ensuring that a pension board has the right balance of skills,
experience and representation (for example, of membership
categories and categories of employers participating in the
scheme). Those responsible for appointing members to a pension
board should also consider the mix of skills and experience needed
on the pension board in order for the board to operate effectively in
light of its particular role, responsibilities and duties.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 212

44

Section 5(4)(c) of the

2013 Act.



Governing your scheme

Publishing information about schemes

Legal requirements

92.

93.

The scheme manager for a public service scheme must publish

information about the pension board for the scheme(s) and keep

that information up-to-date®?.

The information must include:
e who the members of the pension board are
® representation on the board of members of the scheme(s), and

e the matters falling within the pension board’s responsibility*®.

Practical guidance

Publication of pension board information

94.

95.

96.

Scheme members will want to know that their scheme is being
efficiently and effectively managed. Public service pension schemes
should have a properly constituted, trained and competent pension
board, which is responsible for assisting the scheme manager to
comply with the scheme regulations and other legislation relating to
the governance and administration of the scheme and requirements
imposed by the regulator.

Scheme managers must publish the information required about
the pension board and keep that information up-to-date®’. This
will ensure that scheme members can easily access information
about who the pension board members are, how pension
scheme members are represented on the pension board and the
responsibilities of the board as a whole.

When publishing information about the identity of pension board
members, the representation of scheme members and matters
for which the board is responsible, schemes* should also publish
useful related information about the pension board such as:

e the employment and job title (where relevant) and any other

relevant position held by each board member 45
Section 6(1) of the 2013
e the pension board appointment process Act.
e who each pension board member represents 46

e the full terms of reference for the pension board, including Section 6(2), ibid.

details of how it will operate, and 4

* any specific roles and responsibilities of individual pension Section &(1), ibid.

board members.
48

See paragraph 25 for the
definition of 'schemes’.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 213



Governing your scheme

97.

98.

Schemes should also consider publishing information about
pension board business, for example board papers, agendas and
minutes of meetings (redacted to the extent that they contain
confidential information and/or data covered by the Data Protection
Act 1998). They should consider any requests for additional
information to be published, to encourage scheme member
engagement and promote a culture of transparency.

Scheme managers must ensure that information published about
the pension board is kept up-to-date®?. Schemes should have
policies and processes to monitor all published data on an ongoing
basis to ensure it is accurate and complete.

Other legal requirements

99.

Scheme managers (or any other person specified in legislation)
must comply with any other legal requirements relating to the
publication of information about governance and administration. In
particular, HM Treasury directions may require the scheme manager
or responsible authority of a public service pension scheme to
publish scheme information, including information about scheme
administration and governance and may specify how and when
information is to be published®.

49
Section 6(1) of the 2013
Act.

50
Section 15, ibid.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 214



Managing risks

100.

This part of the code covers the requirement for scheme managers
to establish and operate adequate internal controls.

Internal controls

Legal requirements

101.

102.

The scheme manager of a public service pension scheme must
establish and operate internal controls. These must be adequate
for the purpose of securing that the scheme is administered and
managed in accordance with the scheme rules and in accordance
with the requirements of the law.

For these purposes ‘internal controls” means:

® arrangements and procedures to be followed in the
administration and management of the scheme

e systems and arrangements for monitoring that administration
and management, and

e arrangements and procedures to be followed for the safe

custody and security of the assets of the scheme®'.

Practical guidance

103.

104.

105.

Internal controls are systems, arrangements and procedures that
are put in place to ensure that pension schemes are being run in
accordance with the scheme rules (which for most public service
pension schemes are set out in the scheme regulations) and other
law. They should include a clear separation of duties, processes
for escalation and decision making and documented procedures
for assessing and managing risk, reviewing breaches of law and
managing contributions to the scheme.

Good internal controls are an important characteristic of a well-run
scheme and one of the main components of the scheme manager's
role in securing the effective governance and administration of

the scheme. Internal controls can help protect pension schemes
from adverse risks, which could be detrimental to the scheme and
members if they are not mitigated.

Scheme managers must establish and operate internal controls®2.
These should address significant risks which are likely to have a
material impact on the scheme. Scheme managers should employ a
risk-based approach and ensure that sufficient time and attention is
spent on identifying, evaluating and managing risks and developing
and monitoring appropriate controls. They should seek advice, as
necessary.

51
Section 249A(5) and

s249B of the Pensions

Act 2004.

52
Section 2498, ibid.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 215



Managing risks

Identifying risks

106. Before implementing an internal controls framework, schemes®3

should carry out a risk assessment. They should begin by:
e  setting the objectives of the scheme

e  determining the various functions and activities carried out in
the running of the scheme, and

e  identifying the main risks associated with those objectives,
functions and activities.

107. An effective risk assessment process will help schemes to identify
a wide range of internal and external risks, which are critical to the
scheme and members. When identifying risks, schemes should
refer to relevant sources of information, such as records of internal
disputes and legislative breaches, the register of interests, internal
and external audit reports and service contracts.

108. Once schemes have identified risks, they should record them in
a risk register and review them regularly. Schemes should keep
appropriate records to help scheme managers demonstrate steps
they have taken to comply, if necessary, with legal requirements.

Evaluating risks and establishing adequate internal
controls

109. Not all risks will have the same potential impact on scheme
operations and members or the same likelihood of materialising.
Schemes should consider both these areas when determining the
order of priority for managing risks and focus on those areas where
the impact and likelihood of a risk materialising is high.

110. Many pension schemes will already have adequate internal controls
in place, some of which may apply to a variety of the functions of
the administering authority. Schemes should review their existing
arrangements and procedures to determine whether they can
prevent and detect errors in scheme operations and help mitigate
pension scheme-related risks. For example, schemes could obtain
assurance about their existing controls through direct testing
or by obtaining reports on controls. Any such review should be
appropriate to the outcome of the risk evaluation.

111. Schemes should consider what internal controls are appropriate
to mitigate the main risks they have identified and how best to
monitor them. For example, the scheme manager(s) for a funded
scheme should establish and operate internal controls that regularly
assess the effectiveness of investment-related decision making.
Scheme managers for all pension schemes should establish and 53
operate internal controls that regularly assess the effectiveness of See paragraph 25 for the
data management and record-keeping. definition of ‘schemes’.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 216



Managing risks

Managing risks by operating internal controls

112. Schemes should consider a number of issues when designing
internal controls to manage risks. The examples provided are for
illustrative purposes only and are not exhaustive. They should not
be relied upon as a substitute for the exercise of judgement, based
on the principles set out in this code and any advice considered
appropriate, particularly in light of any problems experienced in
the past.

a. How the control is to be implemented and the skills of the
person performing the control

For example, schemes should ensure that new employers
participating in the scheme understand what member data are
required and the process for supplying it. Where employers fail
to supply the correct data or do not follow the correct process,
schemes should ensure that the employer identifies the cause of
the error and that appropriate action is taken to avoid recurrence,
for example remedying a systemic error or providing the relevant
training.

b. The level of reliance that can be placed on information
technology solutions where processes are automated

For example, where scheme administration processes use an
automated system, internal or external auditors could audit the
system on an annual basis to assess whether it is capable of
performing a required function and report any issues that are

identified.

c. Whether a control is capable of preventing future recurrence or
merely detecting an event that has already happened

For example, schemes should ensure that their systems support the
maintenance and retention of good member records. This includes
implementing procedures and controls which identify where
systems are not fit for purpose, there are gaps in the data, the data
are of a poor quality and/or there has been a loss of data.

d. The frequency and timeliness of a control process

For example, schemes should ensure that data are complete. They

should undertake a data-cleansing or member-tracing exercise and
review this on a regular basis (at least annually or at regular intervals
that they consider appropriate for the scheme).

e. How the control will ensure that data are managed securely
For example, schemes should ensure that all staff, including
temporary or contract staff, complete information management
training before they are given access to sensitive data.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes e

Page 217



Managing risks

f. The process for flagging errors or control failures, and approval
and authorisation controls

For example, schemes should ensure that member communications
such as member information booklets are reviewed regularly,
particularly where there are changes to the scheme. All relevant
parties should be aware of how they should flag errors and the
authorisation required before any changes are made to the
communications.

Monitoring controls effectively

113.

114.

115.

116.

117.

Risk assessment is a continual process and should take account of
a changing environment and new and emerging risks, including
significant changes in or affecting the scheme and employers who
participate in the scheme.

For example, where relevant, schemes should put in place systems
and processes for making an objective assessment of the strength
of an employer’s covenant (which should include analysis of their
financial position, prospects and ability to pay the necessary
employer contributions).

An effective risk assessment process will provide a mechanism to
detect weaknesses at an early stage. Schemes should periodically
review the adequacy of internal controls in:

*  mitigating risks

e  supporting longer-term strategic aims, for example relating to
investments

e identifying success (or otherwise) in achieving agreed
objectives, and

e providing a framework against which compliance with the
scheme regulations and legislation can be monitored.

Internal or external audits and/or quality assurance processes
should ensure that adequate internal controls are in place and
being operated effectively. Reviews should take place when
substantial changes take place, such as changes to pension scheme
personnel, implementation of new administration systems or
processes, or where a control has been found to be inadequate.

A persistent failure to put in place adequate internal controls may
be a contributory cause of an administrative breach. Where the
effect and wider implications of not having in place adequate
internal controls are likely to be ‘materially significant’, the regulator
would expect to receive a whistleblowing report that outlines
relevant information relating to the breach. For more information,
see the ‘Reporting breaches of the law’ section of this code.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 218



Managing risks

118. Ultimately, the legal responsibility for establishing and operating
adequate internal controls rests with the scheme manager®?.
Scheme regulations or other documents may delegate
responsibilities to pension board members or others — for
example identifying, evaluating and managing risks, developing
and maintaining appropriate controls and providing assurance
to the scheme manager about any controls in place. However,
accountability for those controls and the governance of policies,
procedures and processes will reside with the scheme manager.

Outsourcing services

119. The legal requirements relating to internal controls apply equally
where schemes outsource services connected with the running
of the scheme. Providers should be required to demonstrate
that they will have adequate internal controls in their tenders for
delivering services. The requirements should be incorporated in
the terms of engagement and contract between the scheme and
service provider. Outsourced services may include, for example,
the maintenance of records and data, calculation of benefits and
investment management services. Where services are outsourced,
scheme managers should be satisfied that internal controls
associated with those services are adequate and effective.

120. An increasing number of service providers are obtaining
independent assurance reports to help demonstrate their ability
to deliver quality administration services. Schemes should ask their
service providers to demonstrate that they have adequate internal
controls relating to the services they provide. It is vital that schemes
ensure they receive sufficient assurance from service providers.

For example, the information from providers should be sufficiently
detailed and comprehensive and the service level agreements
should cover all services that are outsourced. Schemes should also
consider including provisions in contracts for outsourced services
requiring compliance with appropriate standards. This should help
to ensure effective administration.

54

Section 249B of the

Pensions Act 2004.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 219



Administration

121. This part of the code covers:
* scheme record-keeping
®*  maintaining contributions, and

e providing information to members.

Scheme record-keeping

Legal requirements

122. Scheme managers must keep records of information relating to:

e memberinformation®

56

e  transactions>®, and

e pension board meetings and decisions”’.

123. The legal requirements are set out in the Public Service Pensions
(Record Keeping and Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations
2014 ('the Record Keeping Regulations’).

Practical guidance

124. Failure to maintain complete and accurate records and put in place
effective internal controls to achieve this can affect the ability of
schemes8 to carry out basic functions. Poor record-keeping can
result in schemes failing to pay benefits in accordance with scheme
regulations, processing incorrect transactions and ultimately paying
members incorrect benefits. For funded schemes, it may lead to
schemes managing investment risks ineffectively. There is also the

potential for the maladministration of members’ contributions and 55

failure to identify any misappropriation of assets. Schemes should Regulation 4 of the
be able to demonstrate to the regulator, where required, that they Record Keeping
keep accurate, up-to-date and enduring records to be able to Regulations.
govern and administer their pension scheme efficiently. "

125. Scheme managers must establish and operate adequate internal Regulation 5, ibid.

controls®, which should include processes and systems to support

d-keepi : d hat th ffecti >/
recora- eeplng requwements and ensure that t ey are eftrective at Regulation 6, ibid.
all times.

58

See paragraph 25
for the definition of
‘schemes’.

59
Section 249B of the
Pensions Act 2004.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 220



Administration

Records of member information

126.

127.

128.

129.

130.

Scheme managers must ensure that member data across

all membership categories specified in the Record Keeping
Regulations is complete and accurate®®. Member data should be
subject to regular data evaluation.

Scheme managers must keep specific member data®’, which

will enable them to uniquely identify a scheme member and
calculate benefits correctly. This is particularly important with the
establishment of career average revalued earnings (CARE) schemes.
Scheme managers must be able to provide members with accurate
information regarding their pension benefits (accrued benefits to
date and their future projected entitlements) in accordance with
legislative requirements®?, as well as pay the right benefits to the
right person (including all beneficiaries) at the right time.

Schemes should require participating employers to provide them
with timely and accurate data in order for the scheme manager

to be able to fulfil their legal obligations. Schemes should seek

to ensure that processes are established by employers which
enable the transmission of complete and accurate data from the
outset. Processes will vary from employer to employer, depending
on factors such as employee turnover, pay periods, number of
employees who are members and the timing and number of payroll
processing systems.

Schemes should seek to ensure that employers understand the
main events which require information about members to be
passed from the employer to the scheme and/or another employer,
such as when an employee:

® joins or leaves the scheme

e changes their rate of contributions

e changes their name, address or salary

e changes their member status, and

e transfers employment between scheme employers.

Schemes should ensure that appropriate procedures and timescales
are in place for scheme employers to provide updated information
when member data changes, for checking scheme data against
employer data and for receiving information which may affect

the profile of the scheme. If an employer fails to act according to
the procedures set out above, meaning that they and/or scheme
managers may not be complying with legal requirements, those
under a statutory duty to report breaches of the law to the regulator
under section 70 of the Pensions Act 2004 should assess whether
there has been a relevant breach and take action as necessary.

60

Section 16 and s30 of
the 2013 Act. Regulation
4 of the Record Keeping
Regulations specifies
member records which
must be kept. The Data
Protection Act 1998
requires personal data
to be accurate and up-
to-date.

61

Regulation 4 of the
Record Keeping
Regulations.

62

Legislative requirements
include s14 of the

2013 Act, HM Treasury
directions made under
that section, and the
Occupational and
Personal Pension
Schemes (Disclosure of
Information) Regulations
2013.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 221



Administration

Records of transactions

131. Schemes should be able to trace the flow of funds into and out of
the scheme and reconcile these against expected contributions and
scheme costs. In doing so, they will have clear oversight of the core
scheme transactions and should be able to mitigate risks swiftly.

132. Scheme managers must keep records of transactions made to and
from the scheme and any amount due to the scheme which has
been written off®3. They should be able to demonstrate that they
do so.

Records of pension board meetings and decisions

133. Scheme managers must keep records of pension board meetings
including any decisions made®*. Schemes should also keep records
of key discussions, which may include topics such as compliance
with policies relating to administration of the scheme.

134. Scheme managers must also keep records relating to any decision
taken by members of the pension board other than at a pension
board meeting, or taken by a committee/sub-committee, which has
not been ratified by the pension board. The records must include
the date, time and place of the decision and the names of board
members participating in that decision®. This will ensure that
there is a clear and transparent audit trail of the decisions made in
relation to the scheme.

Retention of scheme records

135. Schemes should retain records for as long as they are needed. It
is likely that data will need to be held for long periods of time and
schemes will need to retain some records for a member even after
that individual has retired, ensuring that pension benefits can be
properly administered over the lifetime of the member and their
beneficiaries. Schemes should have in place adequate systems and
processes to enable the retention of records for the necessary time
periods.

Ongoing monitoring of data

136. Schemes should have policies and processes that monitor data on
an ongoing basis to ensure it is accurate and complete, regardless
of the volume of scheme transactions. This should be in relation

63
to all membership categories, including pensioner member data Regulation 5 of the
where queries may arise once the pension is being paid. Record Keeping

Regulations.
137. Schemes should adopt a proportionate and risk-based approach to

monitoring, based on any known or historical issues that may have 64

occurred in relation to the scheme’s administration. This is particularly Regulation 6, ibid.
important for the effective administration of CARE pension schemes,

which requires schemes to hold significantly more data than needed |6b51d.

for final salary schemes.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 222



Administration

Data review exercise

138. Schemes should continually review their data and carry out a data
review exercise at least annually. This should include an assessment
of the accuracy and completeness of the member information
data held. Schemes should decide the frequency and nature of the
review in light of factors such as the level of data quality, any issues
identified and key scheme events.

139. Where the management of scheme data has been outsourced, it is
vital that schemes understand and are satisfied that the controls in
place will ensure the integrity of scheme member data. They should
ensure that the administrator has assessed the risks that poor or
deficient member records may present to the scheme and has taken
the necessary steps to mitigate them, where applicable.

140. Where there has been a change of administrator or the
administration system/platform, schemes should review and cleanse
data records and satisfy themselves that all data are complete and
accurate.

Data improvement plan

141. Where schemes identify poor quality or missing data, they should
put a data improvement plan in place to address these issues.
The plan should have specific data improvement measures which
schemes can monitor and a defined end date within a reasonable
timeframe when the scheme will have complete and accurate data.

Reconciliation of member records

142. Schemes should ensure that member records are reconciled with
information held by the employer, for example postal address
or electronic address (email address) changes and new starters.
Schemes should also ensure that the numbers of scheme members
is as expected based on the number of leavers and joiners since
the last reconciliation. Schemes should be able to determine those
members who are approaching retirement, those who are active
members and those who are deferred members.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 223



Administration

Data protection and internal controls

143.

144.

Schemes must ensure that processes that are created to manage
scheme member data meet the requirements of the Data Protection
Act 1998 and the data protection principles.

Schemes should understand:

* their obligations as data controllers and who the data
processors are in relation to the scheme

e the difference between personal data and sensitive personal
data (as defined in the Data Protection Act 1998)

e how data are held and how they should respond to data
requests from different parties

e the systems which need to be in place to store, move and
destroy data, and

*  how data protection affects member communications.

Other legal requirements

145.

146.

In addition to the requirements set out in the Record Keeping
Regulations, there are various other legal requirements that relate
to record-keeping in public service pension schemes. Those
requirements apply variously to managers, administrators and
employers. Not all requirements apply to all public service pension
schemes, but some of the key requirements are set out under the
following legislation:

e  Pensions Act 1995 and 2004

e  Pensions Act 2008 and the Employers’ Duties (Registration and
Compliance) Regulations 2010%6

e  Occupational Pension Schemes (Scheme Administration)
Regulations 1996

e Registered Pension Schemes (Provision of Information)
Regulations 2006

e Data Protection Act 1998, and
e  Freedom of Information Act 2000.

Where applicable, schemes should be able to demonstrate that
they keep records in accordance with these and any other relevant
legal requirements. Schemes should read the relevant legislation
and any guidance in conjunction with this code where applicable.

66
See the regulator’s
guidance about

automatic enrolment
for more information
about record-keeping
requirements under this

legislation.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 224



Administration

Maintaining contributions

Legal requirements

147.

148.

149.

Employer contributions must be paid to the scheme in accordance
with any requirements in the scheme regulations. Where employer
contributions are not paid on or before the date they are due
under the scheme and the scheme manager has reasonable cause
to believe that the failure is likely to be of material significance to
the regulator in the exercise of any of its functions, the scheme

manager must give a written report of the matter to the regulator as

soon as reasonably practicable®’.

Where employee contributions are deducted from a member’s pay,
the amount deducted must be paid to the managers of the scheme
at the latest by the 19th day of the month following the deduction,
or by the 22nd day if paid electronically (the ‘prescribed period’)8,
or earlier if required by scheme regulations. References to ‘days’
means all days. References to ‘working days’ do not include
Saturdays, Sundays or Bank Holidays.

Where employee contributions are not paid within the prescribed
period, if the scheme manager®? has reasonable cause to believe
that the failure is likely to be of material significance to the regulator
in the exercise of any of its functions, they must give notice of the
failure to the regulator and the member within a reasonable period
after the end of the prescribed period’%. Where there is a failure to
pay employee contributions on an earlier date in accordance with
scheme regulations, schemes should also consider their statutory
duty under section 70 of the Pensions Act 2004 to assess and if
necessary report breaches of the law. For more information about
reporting breaches of the law, see this section of the code.

Practical guidance

150.

151.

As part of the requirement to establish and operate adequate
internal controls, scheme managers should ensure that there are
effective procedures and processes in place to identify payment
failures that are — and are not — of material significance to the
regulator. A ‘payment failure’ is where contribution payments are
not paid to the scheme by the due date(s), or within the prescribed
period and a ‘'materially significant payment failure’ refers to a
payment failure which is likely to be of material significance to the
regulator in the exercise of its functions.

Schemes’! should monitor pension contributions, resolve payment
issues and report payment failures, as appropriate, so that the
scheme is administered and managed in accordance with the
scheme regulations and other legal requirements.

67
Section 70A of the
Pensions Act 2004.

68

Section 49(8) of the
Pensions Act 1995 and
regulation 16 of the
Occupational Pension
Schemes (Scheme
Administration)
Regulations 1996.

69

The legal requirement to
report late payments of
employee contributions
is imposed on the
‘managers’ of a
scheme, which the
regulator generally
takes to be the ‘scheme
manager’ identified in
scheme regulations in
accordance with the
2013 Act.

70
Section 49(9) of the
Pensions Act 1995.

71
See paragraph 25 for the
definition of ‘schemes’.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 225



Administration

152.

153.

Adequate procedures and processes are likely to involve:

e developing a record to monitor the payment of contributions
*  monitoring the payment of contributions

®* managing overdue contributions, and

® reporting materially significant payment failures.

These procedures and processes should help scheme managers
to meet their statutory duty to report materially significant
payment failures to the regulator, as well as ensuring the effective
management of scheme contributions and payment of the right
pension.

Developing a record for monitoring the payment of
contributions

154.

155.

156.

157.

There are legislative requirements for managers of DB schemes to
keep a schedule of contributions; and for DC schemes, a payment
schedule, which allows managers to monitor contributions to their
scheme. There are various exemptions from these requirements
including for DB and DC schemes which are established by or under
an enactment and which are guaranteed by a Minister of the Crown
or other public authority, and for DB schemes which are pay-as-you-
go schemes’2.

Public service pension schemes which meet these exemptions
should nonetheless develop a record for monitoring the payment
of contributions to the scheme (a contributions monitoring record,
which must reflect any requirements in scheme regulations where
relevant). Schemes should prepare the contributions monitoring
record in consultation with employers.

A contributions monitoring record will enable schemes to check
whether contributions have been paid on time and in full, and,
if they have not, provide a trigger for escalation for schemes to
investigate the payment failure and consideration of whether
scheme managers need to report to the regulator and, where
relevant, members.

A contributions monitoring record should include the following
information:

e  contribution rates

e the date(s) on or before which employer contributions are to be
paid to the scheme

e the date by when, or period within which, the employee
contributions are to be paid to the scheme

* the rate or amount of interest payable where the payment of
contributions is late.

72

Exemptions from

the requirement to
secure a schedule

of contributions in
respect of DB schemes
under s227 of the
Pensions Act 2004 are
in regulation 17 of the
Occupational Pension
Schemes (Scheme
Funding) Regulations
2005. Exemptions
from the requirement
to secure a payment
schedule in respect of
DC schemes under s87
of the Pensions Act
1995 is in regulation

17 of the Occupational
Pension Schemes
(Scheme Administration)
Regulations 1996.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 226



Administration

158.

159.

160.

The date when employer contributions must be paid is the date on

or before which they are due under the scheme in accordance with

the scheme regulations (or other scheme documentation). Schemes
should assess the timing of payments against the date specified.

While there is a legal requirement for employee contributions to

be paid to the scheme by the 19th day of the month following
deduction, or by the 22nd day if paid electronically, this does not
override any earlier time periods required by the scheme regulations.
There are special rules for the first deduction of contributions on
automatic enrolment under the Pensions Act 200873

A contributions monitoring record should help schemes to identify
any employers who are not paying contributions on time and/

or in full, support schemes to ensure that contributions are paid
and employers to develop and implement new processes, as
appropriate. The contributions monitoring record should provide
schemes with information to maintain records of money received
and will be useful for schemes to ensure that their member records
are kept up-to-date.

Monitoring the payment of contributions

161.

162.

163.

164.

Schemes should monitor contributions on an ongoing basis for all the
membership categories within the scheme. Schemes should regularly
check payments due against the contributions monitoring record.

Schemes should apply a risk-based and proportionate approach to
help identify employers and situations which present a higher risk
of payment failures occurring and which are likely to be of material
significance and require the scheme manager to intervene.

Schemes should be aware of what is to be paid in accordance with
the contributions monitoring record or other scheme documentation,
which may be used by the pension scheme. Schemes should also
have a process in place to identify where payments are late or have
been underpaid, overpaid or not paid at all.

For schemes to effectively monitor contributions they will require
access to certain information. Employers will often provide the
payment information that schemes need to monitor contributions
at the same time as they send the contributions to the scheme,
which may be required under the scheme regulations. Payment
information may include:

e the employer and employee contributions due to be paid,
which should be specified in the scheme regulations and/or

other scheme documentation 73

Regulation 16 of the
Occupational Pension
Schemes (Scheme
Administration)
Regulations 1996.

* the pensionable pay that contributions are based upon (where
required), and

e due date(s) on or before which payment of contributions and
other amounts are to be made.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 227



Administration

165.

166.

167.

Schemes should have adequate internal controls in place to monitor
the sharing of payment information between the employer, pension
scheme and member. Where the necessary payment information

is not automatically available or provided by employers, schemes
should request the additional information they need. Schemes may
not need to obtain payment information as a matter of course, only
where it is required for effective monitoring.

Scheme managers must record and retain information on
transactions, including any employer and employee contributions
received and payments of pensions and benefits’4, which will
support them in their administration and monitoring responsibilities.

Where the administration of scheme contributions is outsourced to
a service provider, schemes should ensure that there is a process in
place to obtain regular information on the payment of contributions
to the scheme and a clear procedure in place to enable them to
identify and resolve payment failures which may occur.

Managing overdue contributions

168.

169.

When schemes identify or are notified of a problem, they should
assess whether a payment failure has occurred before taking steps
to resolve and, if necessary, report it. During their assessment,
schemes should take into account:

* legitimate agreed payments made directly by an employer
for scheme purposes, ie where the scheme has agreed that a
contributions payment can be made late due to exceptional
circumstances

e legitimate agreed payment arrangements made between
an employee and employer, ie where the employer has
agreed that a contribution payment can be made late due to
exceptional circumstances

e contributions paid directly to a pension provider, scheme
administrator or investment manager

e any AVGs included with an employer’s overall payment.

Where schemes identify a payment failure, they should follow a
process to resolve issues quickly. This should normally involve the
following steps:

a. Investigate any apparent employer failure to pay contributions
in accordance with the contributions monitoring record or legal
requirements.

b. Contact the employer promptly to alert them to the payment 74

failure and to seek to resolve the overdue payment. Regulation 5 of the
Record Keeping

Regulations.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 228



Administration

170.

171.

172.

c. Discuss it further with the employer as soon as practicable to find
out the cause and circumstances of the payment failure.

d. Ask the employer to resolve the payment failure and take steps
to avoid a recurrence in the future.

Schemes should maintain a record of their investigation and
communications between themselves and the employer. Recording
this information will help to provide evidence of schemes’ effective
monitoring processes and could help to demonstrate that the
scheme manager has met the legal requirement to establish

and operate adequate internal controls. It will also form part of

the decision of whether or not to report a payment failure to the
regulator and, where relevant, members.

The regulator recognises that a monitoring process based on
information provided by employers may not be able to confirm
deliberate underpayment or non-payment, or fraudulent behaviour
by an employer. Schemes should review current processes or
develop a new process which is able to detect situations where
fraud may be more likely to occur and where additional checks may
be appropriate.

Ultimately, schemes have flexibility to design their own procedures
so that they can obtain overdue payments and rectify administrative
errors in the most effective and efficient way for their particular
scheme.

Reporting payment failures which are likely to be of
material significance to the regulator

173.

174.

175.

Scheme managers must report payment failures which are likely
to be of material significance to the regulator within a reasonable
period, in the case of employee contributions; and as soon as
reasonably practicable in the case of employer contributions’>.

Where schemes identify a payment failure, they should attempt
to recover contributions within 90 days from the due date or
prescribed period having passed without full payment of the
contribution.

While schemes are not expected to undertake a full investigation
to establish materiality or investigate whether an employer has
behaved fraudulently, schemes should ask the employer:

e the cause and circumstances of the payment failure

e what action the employer has taken as a result of the payment 75
failure, and Section 49(9)(b) of the
) ) ) ) ) ) Pensions Act 1995 and
e the wider implications or impact of the payment failure. s70A of the Pensions Act
2004.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 229



Administration

176. When reaching a decision about whether to report, schemes should
consider these points together and establish whether they have
reasonable cause to report.

177. Having reasonable cause means more than merely having a
suspicion that cannot be substantiated. Schemes should investigate
the payment failure and use their judgement when deciding
whether to report to the regulator.

178. Schemes may choose to take an employer’s response to their
enquiries at face value if they have no reason to believe it to be
untrue or where their risk-based process indicates that there is
a low risk of continuing payment failure. Where they receive no
response, schemes may infer that an employer is unwilling to pay
the contributions due.

179. Examples of payment failures that are likely to be of material
significance to the regulator include:

* where schemes have reasonable cause to believe that the
employer is neither willing nor able to pay contributions,
for example in the event of a business failure or where an
employer becomes insolvent and is unable to make pension
payments

e where there is a payment failure involving possible dishonesty
or a misuse of assets or contributions, for example where
schemes have concerns that an employer is retaining and
using contributions to manage cash flow difficulties or where
schemes have become aware that the employer has transferred
contributions elsewhere other than to the pension scheme,
which may be misappropriation

e where the information available to schemes may indicate that
the employer is knowingly concerned with fraudulently evading
their obligation to pay employee contributions

e  where schemes become aware that the employer does not
have adequate procedures or systems in place to ensure the
correct and timely payment of contributions due and the
employer does not appear to be taking adequate steps to
remedy the situation, for example where there are repetitive
and regular payment failures, or

e any event where contributions have been outstanding for 90
days from the due date, unless the payment failure was a one-
off or infrequent administrative error that had already been
corrected on discovery or is thereafter corrected as soon as
possible.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 230



Administration

180.

181.

182.

183.

184.

185.

Examples of payment failures which are not likely to be of material
significance to the regulator include:

*  where a payment arrangement is being met by an employer for
the recovery of outstanding contributions, or

®  where there are infrequent one-off payment failures or
administrative errors such as where employees leave or join
the scheme and those occasional failures or errors have been
corrected within 90 days of the due date.

Schemes should identify and report to the regulator, as appropriate,
any payment failures that may not be of material significance taken
individually, but which could indicate a systemic problem. For
example, an employer consistently failing to pay contributions by
the due date or within the prescribed period, but paying within

90 days, may be due to inefficient scheme systems and processes.
Schemes may also need to report payment failures that occur
repeatedly and are likely to be materially significant to the regulator,
depending on the circumstances.

Reporting payment failures of employer contributions as soon

as ‘reasonably practicable’ means within a reasonable period
from the scheme manager having reasonable cause to believe
that the payment failure is likely to be of material significance to
the regulator. Schemes should also consider whether it may be
appropriate to report a payment failure of employer contributions
to scheme members.

A reasonable period for reporting would be within ten working
days from having reasonable cause to believe that the payment
failure is likely to be of material significance. This will depend

upon the seriousness of the payment failure and impact on the
scheme. A written report should be preceded by a telephone call, if
appropriate.

In the case of an employer failing to pay employee contributions

to the pension scheme, if the scheme manager has reasonable
cause to believe that the payment failure is likely to be of material
significance to the regulator, the failure must be reported to the
regulator’® and members within a reasonable period after the end
of the prescribed period’”. A reasonable period for reporting to the
regulator would be within ten working days and to members within
30 days of having reported to the regulator.

Reports relating to payment failures of employer contributions must
be made in writing (preferably using our Exchange online service)’®.
In exceptional circumstances the scheme manager could make a
telephone report.

76

Reporting to the
regulator does not affect
any responsibility to
report to another person
or organisation.

77

549(8) and (9) of the
Pensions Act 1995 and
regulation 16 of the
Occupational Pension
Schemes (Scheme
Administration)
Regulations 1996. Where
there is a failure to pay
employee contributions
on an earlier date

in accordance with
scheme regulations,
schemes should also
consider their statutory
duty under s70 of the
Pensions Act 2004 to
assess and if necessary
report breaches of the
law.

78
Section 70A of the
Pensions Act 2004.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 231



Administration

186. The regulator has standardised reporting procedures and
expectations regarding content, format and channel. For more
information, see the section of this code on ‘Reporting breaches of
the law'.

Providing information to members

Legal requirements

187. The law requires schemes’? to disclose information about benefits
and scheme administration to scheme members and others. This
section summarises the legal requirements relating to benefit
statements and certain other information which must be provided
and should be read alongside the requirements in the 2013 Act,
HM Treasury directions® and the Occupational and Personal
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) Regulations 2013 (‘the
Disclosure Regulations 2013’). In addition to these duties, there are
other legal requirements relating to the provision of information to
members and others under other legislation. See paragraph 211 for
further details.

Benefit statements

For active members of DB schemes under the 2013 Act

188. Scheme regulations must require scheme managers to provide an
annual benefit information statement to each active member of
a DB scheme established under the 2013 Act or new public body
scheme®!. The statement must include a description of the benefits

earned by a member in respect of their pensionable service®2.

189. The first statement must be provided no later than 17 months after
the scheme regulations establishing the scheme come into force.
Subsequent statements must be provided at least annually after
that date®3.

190. Statements must also comply with HM Treasury directions in terms
of any other information which must be included and the manner in

which they must be provided to members84.

For active, deferred or pension credit members of any DB public
service pension scheme under the Disclosure Regulations 2013

191. Managers® of a scheme must also provide a benefit statement
following a request by an active, deferred or pension credit member
of a DB scheme if the information has not been provided to that
member in the previous 12 months before that request8.

79
See paragraph 25 for the
definition of ‘schemes’.

80
Section 14 of the 2013
Act.

81

Section 14(1) and s30(1)
of the 2013 Act.

82

Section 14(2)(a), ibid.

83
Section 14(4) and (5),
ibid.

84
Section 14(2)(b) and (6),
ibid.

85

The Occupational
Pension Schemes
(Managers) Regulations
1986 specify who is to be
treated as the ‘'manager’
(in certain occupational
public service pension
schemes) for the
purpose of providing
information under
specified legislation,
including the Disclosure
Regulations 2013,

which may differ from
the person who is the
‘scheme manager’.

86

Regulation 16 of the
Disclosure Regulations
2013.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 232



Administration

192. These benefit statements must include information about the
amount of benefits by reference to a particular date and how they
are calculated®’. The full details depend on the type of member
making the request.

193. The information must be given as soon as practicable but no more
than two months after the date the request is made®.

For members of a DC public service pension scheme under the
Disclosure Regulations 2013

194. Managers of a scheme must provide a benefit statement to a
member of a DC public service pension scheme, who is not an
‘excluded person’, within 12 months of the end of the scheme
year®?. An ‘excluded person’ is a member or beneficiary whose
present postal address and email address is not known to the
scheme because the correspondence has been returned (in the
case of postal correspondence) or has not been delivered (in the
case of electronic correspondence)‘?o.

195. The information which must be provided includes the amount of
contributions (before any deductions are made) credited to the
member during the immediately preceding scheme year?, the
value of the member’s accrued rights under the scheme at a date
specified by the managers of the scheme?? and a statutory money
purchase illustration?3. The full detail of the information that must
be provided is set out in the Disclosure Regulations 2013.

Other information about scheme administration

196. Under the Disclosure Regulations 2013, managers of a scheme
must provide other information to members and others in certain
circumstances (for example, on request). The Regulations set out
the information which must be given, the timescales for providing
such information and the methods that may be used. Not all
information must be provided in respect of all public service
pension schemes (there are some exemptions for specified public
service schemes or according to the type of benefit offered), but
information which scheme managers may need to provide includes:

e  basic scheme information
e information about the scheme that has materially altered
e information about the constitution of the scheme

e annual report (this requirement will generally not apply to
unfunded DB public service pension schemes and DB schemes
for local government workers?)

87
Regulation 16 and
Schedule 5 of the

Disclosure Regulations
2013.

88
Regulation 16(3), ibid.

89
Regulation 17, ibid.

90
Regulation 2, ibid.

91
‘Scheme year' is defined
in Regulation 2, ibid.

92
Regulation 17 and
Schedule 6, ibid.

93

Paragraph 6 and
Schedule 6, ibid. There
are certain exceptions
to the requirements to
provide this information.

94
Regulation 4, ibid.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 233



Administration

e information about funding principles, actuarial valuations and
payment schedules (these requirements will generally not
apply to unfunded DB public service pension schemes and DB
schemes for local government workers?)

e information about transfer credits

e information about lifestyling (this requirement will not apply in
respect of DB benefits in public service pension schemes?®)

e information about accessing benefits, and
e information about benefits in payment.

197. The detail of the information that must be provided to scheme
members and others and any exemptions are set out in the
Disclosure Regulations 2013. Managers must provide the required
information, along with confirmation that members may request
further information and the postal and email addresses to which a
person should send those requests and enquiries”’.

Who is entitled to information

198. Managers of a scheme must ensure that scheme members and
others are given information in accordance with the Disclosure
Regulations 2013, unless they are an ‘excluded person’ (as defined
above).

199. The Disclosure Regulations 2013 make provision for scheme
members and others to receive information that is relevant to their
pension rights and entitlements under the scheme. The categories
of people who are entitled to receive information vary according to
the different types of information, and there are exemptions where
information has already been provided in a specified period. The
detail of who is entitled to any particular type of information is set
out in the Disclosure Regulations 2013 but may include any of the
following (‘a relevant person’):

e  active members
e deferred members
®  pensioner members

®  prospective members
95

*  spouses or civil partners of members or prospective members Regulation 4 of the
. Disclosure Regulations

*  other beneficiaries, and 2013,

* recognised trade unions. 0%

Regulation 18(1), ibid.

97
Regulation 4(7), ibid.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 234



Administration

When basic scheme information must be provided

200. Managers must disclose certain basic information about the scheme
and the benefits it provides to a prospective member (if practicable
to do so) or a new member?. Where the manager has received
jobholder information?? for the member or prospective member
they must provide the information within a month of the jobholder
information being received'%. Where they have not received
jobholder information, they must provide the information within two
months of the date the person became an active member of the
scheme'01,

201. Managers must also provide the information on request to a
relevant person within two months of the request being made,
except where the same information was provided to the same
person or trade union in the 12 months before the request'02.

What information must be disclosed on request

202. In addition to the basic scheme information, pension scheme
members and other relevant persons are entitled to request certain
scheme information or scheme documents including:

e information about the constitution of the pension scheme, and

e information about transfer credits'03,

How benefit statements and other information must
be provided

203. Generally, schemes may choose how they provide information to
scheme members, including by post, electronically (by email or by
making it available on a website) or by any other means permitted
by the law. For benefit statements issued under the 2013 Act,

HM Treasury directions may specify how the information must be
provided. Where schemes wish to provide information required
under the Disclosure Regulations 2013 by electronic means there
are important steps and safeguards that must first be met'%*. These
include:

* scheme members and beneficiaries being provided with the
option to opt out of receiving information electronically by
giving written notice to the scheme

*  managers being satisfied that the electronic communications
have been designed:

— so that the person will be able to access and either store or
print the relevant information and

- taking into account the requirements of disabled people

98
Regulation 6 of the

Disclosure Regulations
2013.

99

Specified in regulation
3 of the Occupational
and Personal Pension
Schemes (Automatic
Enrolment) Regulations
2010.

100
Regulation 6(5) of the

Disclosure Regulations
2013.

101
Regulation 6(6), ibid.

102
Regulation 6(4) and (7),
ibid.

103

Regulations 11, 14
and Parts 1 and 4 of
Schedule 3, ibid.

104
Regulation 26, ibid.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 235



Administration

204.

205.

e  ensuring that members and beneficiaries who were members
or beneficiaries of the public service pension scheme on
1 December 2010 (where the scheme had not provided
information electronically prior to that date) has been sent a
written notice (other than via email or website), informing
them that:

— itis proposed to provide information electronically in the
future and

— scheme members and beneficiaries may opt out of
receiving information electronically by sending written
notice.

Where schemes make information or a document available on
a website for the first time, they must give notice (other than via
a website) to the recipient'9®. They must ensure that the notice
includes:

®  astatement advising that the information is available on the
website

e the website address

e  details of where on the website the information or document
can be read, and

®  an explanation of how the information or document may be
read on the website%.

When any subsequent information is made available on a website,
managers of a scheme must give a notice (other than via a website)
to recipients informing them that the information is available on the
website'%”. This notice will not be required where'08:

e atleast two documents have been given to the recipient by
hand or sent to the recipient’s last known postal address

e each of those letters asks the recipient to give their electronic
(email) address to the scheme and informs the recipient of their
right to request (in writing) that information or documents are
not to be provided electronically 105
Regulation 27(1) and

(5) of the Disclosure
Regulations 2013.

e  athird letter has been given to the recipient by hand or sent
to the recipient’s last known postal address and includes a
statement that further information will be available to read on

the website and that no further notifications will be sent to the 106
recipient and Regulation 27(2), ibid.
* the managers of the scheme do not know the recipient’s 107
email address and have not received a written request that Regulation 27(3) and (5),
information or documents are not to be provided to the ibid.

recipient electronically.
108
Regulation 28, ibid.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 236



Administration

206. In some cases, the Disclosure Regulations 2013 specify that
information must be made available by one of the following
methods10:

* available to view free of charge, at a place that is reasonable
having regard to the request

e published on a website (in which case the procedure to be
followed before making information available on a website
does not apply, except that the person or trade union must be
notified of certain details)

e given for a charge that does not exceed the expense incurred
in preparing, posting and packing the information, or

e publicly available elsewhere.

Practical guidance

207. Schemes should design and deliver communications to scheme
members in a way that ensures they are able to engage with
their pension provision. Information should be clear and simple
to understand as well as being accurate and easily accessible. It
is important that members are able to understand their pension
arrangements and make informed decisions where required.

208. Schemes should attempt to make contact with their scheme
members and, where contact is not possible, schemes should carry
out a tracing exercise to locate the member and ensure that their
member data are up-to-date.

209. Where a person has made a request for information, schemes
should acknowledge receipt if they are unable to provide the
information at that stage. Schemes may encounter situations
where the time period for providing information takes longer than
expected. In these circumstances, schemes should notify the person
and let them know when they are likely to receive the information.
Scheme managers and managers (where different) must provide
information in accordance with the time periods specified in the
2013 Act and Disclosure Regulations 2013.

210. To promote transparency, schemes should make information
readily available at all times to ensure that prospective and existing
members are able to access information when they require it.

Other legal requirements

211. Managers (or any other person specified in legislation) must
comply with other legislation requiring information to be provided
to members of public service pension schemes in certain 109
circumstances. Not all requirements apply to all public service Regulation 29 of the

. o . Disclosure Regulations
pension schemes and some may only arise in limited circumstances. 2013,

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 237



Administration

Some of the requirements that schemes may need to be aware of
are set out in or under the following legislation!°:

e  Occupational Pension Schemes (Contracting-out)
Regulations 1996

e Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values)
Regulations 1996

e  Occupational Pension Schemes (Winding up etc.)
Regulations 2005

e Occupational Pension Schemes (Internal Dispute Resolution
Procedures Consequential and Miscellaneous Amendments)
Regulations 2008 (the requirements of these regulations
are covered in the section of this code on ‘Internal dispute
resolution’).

110

The legislation identified
in this list is made under
section 113 of the
Pension Schemes Act
1993. There are other
requirements that relate
to providing information
to members which arise
under other legislation
and which may be
relevant to public
service pension schemes
(for example, under
legislation relating to
automatic enrolment
and early leavers).

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 238



Resolving issues

212. This part covers:
e internal dispute resolution, and

® reporting breaches of the law.

Internal dispute resolution

Legal requirements

213. Scheme managers'!! must make and implement dispute resolution

arrangements that comply with the requirements of the law and
help resolve pensions disputes between the scheme manager
and a person with an interest in the scheme. ‘Pension disputes’!
cover matters relating to the scheme between the managers and
one or more people with an interest in the scheme. These exclude
‘exempted disputes’.

12

214. There are certain ‘exempted disputes’ to which the internal dispute
resolution procedure will not apply''3. This includes disputes where
proceedings have commenced in any court or tribunal, or where
the Pensions Ombudsman has commenced an investigation into
it. Certain other prescribed disputes, for instance medical-related
disputes that may arise in relation to police and fire and rescue
workers, are also ‘exempted disputes’ 4.

215. A person has an interest in the scheme if they:

e are a member or surviving non-dependant beneficiary of a
deceased member of the scheme

e are a widow, widower, surviving civil partner or surviving
dependant of a deceased member of the scheme

®  are a prospective member of the scheme

® have ceased to be a member, beneficiary or prospective
member or

e claim to be in one of the categories mentioned above and the
dispute relates to whether they are such a person.

216. Dispute resolution arrangements may require people with an
interest in the scheme to first refer matters in dispute to a ‘specified
person’ in order for that person to consider and give their decision
on those matters. The specified person’s decision may then be
confirmed or replaced by the decision taken by the scheme
manager after reconsideration of the matters' 2.

111

Legal requirements
relating to the internal
dispute resolution
provisions are imposed
on the ‘'managers’ of

a scheme, which the
regulator generally
takes to be the ‘scheme
manager’ identified in
scheme regulations in
accordance with the
2013 Act.

112
Section 50(3) of the
Pensions Act 1995.

113
Section 50(9), ibid.

114

Regulation 4 of

the Occupational
Pension Schemes
(Internal Dispute
Resolution Procedures
Consequential

and Miscellaneous
Amendments)
Regulations 2008.

115
Section 50(4A) of the
Pensions Act 1995.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes e

Page 239



Resolving issues

217. Scheme managers and specified persons (if used as part of a

scheme’s procedure) must take the decision required on the matters

in dispute within a reasonable period of receiving the application.
They must notify the applicant of the decision within a reasonable
period of having taken it'10,

218. Internal dispute resolution procedures must state the manner in
which an application for the resolution of a pension dispute is to be
made, the particulars which must be included in such an application
and the manner in which any decisions required in relation to such
an application are to be reached and given'"”. The procedure must

specify a reasonable period within which applications must be made

by certain people8.

219. Scheme managers must provide information about the scheme’s
dispute resolution procedure as well as information about The
Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS) and the Pensions Ombudsman to
certain people at certain stages”g.

Practical guidance

220. Scheme members expect their pension scheme to be managed
effectively. Where a person with an interest in the scheme is not
satisfied with any matter relating to the scheme (for example a
decision which affects them), they have the right to ask for that
matter to be reviewed.

221. Internal dispute resolution arrangements provide formal procedures
and processes for pension scheme disputes to be investigated and
decided upon quickly and effectively. They play a key role in the
effective governance and administration of a scheme.

222. Schemes'?0 can operate a two-stage procedure with a ‘specified
person’ undertaking the first-stage decision. Alternatively, they
may adopt a single-stage procedure if they consider that is more
appropriate for their scheme.

223. With the exception of certain matters outlined below, the law
does not prescribe the detail of the dispute resolution procedure.
Schemes should decide on this and ensure it is fit for purpose.

116
Section 50(5) of the
Pensions Act 1995.

117
Section 50B(4), ibid.

118
Section 50B(3)(a), ibid.

119

Regulation 6 of, and Part
1 of Schedule 2 to, the
Disclosure Regulations
2013 and regulation 2
of the Occupational
Pension Schemes
(Internal Dispute
Resolution Procedures)
(Consequential

and Miscellaneous
Amendments)
Regulations 2008.

120
See paragraph 25 for the
definition of ‘schemes’.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes e

Page 240



Resolving issues

When applications should be submitted

224. Schemes may choose to specify time limits within which the
following people must apply for a dispute to be resolved’?':

e scheme members

e widows, widowers, surviving civil partners or surviving
dependants of deceased scheme members

®  surviving non-dependant beneficiaries of deceased scheme
members, and

®  prospective scheme members.

225. If schemes decide to specify time limits, they should publish and
make those time limits readily available to ensure that those with
an interest in the scheme are aware that they must submit an
application within a prescribed time limit.

226. Scheme managers must ensure their scheme’s procedure specifies
a reasonable period within which applications by the following
people must be made'?2:

® aperson who has ceased to be within the categories in
paragraph 224 above

e aperson who claims that they were a person within the
categories in paragraph 224 above and has ceased to be such
a person, and the dispute relates to whether they are such a
person.

227. A reasonable period would be six months beginning immediately
after the date on which the person ceased to be, or claims they
ceased to be, a person with an interest in the scheme. However,
schemes have the flexibility to exercise their judgement and take an
application outside a specified time period, if appropriate.

When decisions should be taken

228. Managers and specified persons (where applicable) must decide
the matter in dispute within a reasonable period of receiving the
application. A reasonable period is within four months of receiving
the application. In the case of a two-stage dispute resolution
procedure, the reasonable period applies to each stage separately.
Where a dispute is referred to scheme managers for a second-stage
decision, the reasonable period begins when the managers receive
the referral. However, there may be cases where it will be possible

121
to process an application sooner than the reasonable time given. Section 50B(3)(b) of the
Where this is the case, there should not be a delay in taking the Pensions Act 1995.
decision.

122

Section 50B(3)(a) of the
Pensions Act 1995.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 241



Resolving issues

229.

230.

There may be exceptional circumstances of a particular dispute
which may prevent the process being completed within the
reasonable time period stated above. For instance, where

the dispute involves unusually complex and labour-intensive
calculations or research, or delays occur that are outside the control
of the scheme manager (or specified person), or because they need
to obtain independent evidence.

The regulator recognises that the circumstances of each dispute are
different and decision times may vary. Schemes should be satisfied
that the time taken to reach a decision is appropriate to the
situation and be able to demonstrate this, if necessary.

When applicants should be informed of a decision

231.

232.

Applicants must be notified of the decision made by a scheme
manager and specified person (where applicable) within a
reasonable time period after the decision has been made'23.
Schemes should usually notify applicants of the decision no later
than 15 working days after the decision has been made. However,
there may be cases where it is possible to notify an applicant sooner
than the reasonable time given. Where this is the case, there should
not be a delay in notifying them of the decision.

Schemes should provide the applicant with regular updates on the
progress of their investigation. They should notify the applicant
where the time period for a decision is expected to be shorter or
longer than the reasonable time period and let them know when
they are likely to receive an outcome.

Implementing the procedure and processes

233.

234.

235.

Scheme regulations or other documents recording policy about
the administration of the scheme should specify internal dispute
resolution arrangements. Schemes should focus on educating and
raising awareness of their internal dispute resolution arrangements
and ensuring that they are implemented.

Schemes should ensure that the effectiveness of the arrangements
is assessed regularly and be satisfied that those following the
process are complying with the requirements set, which includes
effective decision making. This is particularly important where

the arrangements require employers participating in the pension
scheme to carry out duties as part of the process, for example
where schemes have implemented the two-stage procedure and
employers are acting as the specified person for the first stage.

Schemes should confirm and communicate their arrangements to
members, for example, in the joining booklet. Schemes should
make their arrangements accessible to potential applicants, for

example by publishing them on a scheme website. 123
Section 50(5) of the

Pensions Act 1995.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 242



Resolving issues

236.

237.

238.

239.

Scheme managers must provide the following information
about the procedure and processes the scheme has in place for
the internal resolution of disputes to certain people in certain
circumstances'24:

®  prospective members, if it is practicable to do so

® any scheme members who have not already been given the
information

e  certain relevant people who request the information and
who have not been given that information in the previous 12
months, and

*  members or prospective members when schemes receive
jobholder information, or when a jobholder becomes an active
member, in connection with automatic enrolment.

Scheme managers must also provide the postal or email address
and job title of the person to contact in order to make use of the
internal dispute arrangements.

In addition, scheme managers must provide information about
TPAS and the Pensions Ombudsman at certain stages'2>. Upon
receiving an application for the resolution of a pension dispute,
scheme managers (or the specified person) must make the
applicant aware as soon as reasonably practicable that TPAS is
available to assist members and beneficiaries of the scheme and
provide contact details for TPAS. When notifying the applicant of
the decision, scheme managers must also inform the applicant that
the Pensions Ombudsman is available to investigate and determine
complaints or disputes of fact or law relating to a public service
pension scheme and provide the Pension Ombudsman’s contact
details.

Schemes can decide what information they need from applicants to
reach a decision on a disputed matter and how applications should
be submitted. Schemes should ensure they make the following
information available to applicants:

124
® the procedure and processes to apply for a dispute to be Regulation 6 of, and Part
resolved 1 of Schedule 2 to, the
Disclosure Regulations
e the information that an applicant must include 2013.
® the process by which any decisions are reached, and 125

Regulation 2 of

the Occupational
Pension Schemes
(Internal Dispute
Resolution Procedures)
(Consequential

and Miscellaneous
Amendments)
Regulations 2008.

e an acknowledgement once an application has been received.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 243



Resolving issues

240.

When reviewing an application, scheme managers and specified
persons (where relevant) should ensure that they have all the
appropriate information to make an informed decision. They
should request further information if required. Scheme managers
and specified persons should be satisfied that the times taken to
reach a decision and notify the applicant are appropriate to the
situation and that they have taken the necessary action to meet
the reasonable time periods. Scheme managers should be able to
demonstrate this to the regulator if required.

Reporting breaches of the law
Legal requirements

241.

242.

243.

Certain people are required to report breaches of the law to the
regulator where they have reasonable cause to believe that:

e alegal duty'? which is relevant to the administration of the

scheme has not been, or is not being, complied with

e the failure to comply is likely to be of material significance to
127

the regulator in the exercise of any of its functions'<”.
For further information about reporting late payments of employee
or employer contributions, see the section of this code on
‘Maintaining contributions’.

People who are subject to the reporting requirement (‘reporters’)
for public service pension schemes are:

d scheme managers128

®  members of pension boards

® any person who is otherwise involved in the administration of a
public service pension scheme

e employers'??: in the case of a multi-employer scheme, any

participating employer who becomes aware of a breach
should consider their statutory duty to report, regardless of
whether the breach relates to, or affects, members who are its
employees or those of other employers

e professional advisers'39 including auditors, actuaries, legal

advisers and fund managers: not all public service pension
schemes are subject to the same legal requirements to appoint
professional advisers, but nonetheless the regulator expects
that all schemes will have professional advisers, either resulting
from other legal requirements or simply as a matter of practice

® any person who is otherwise involved in advising the managers
of the scheme in relation to the scheme'3!.

The report must be made in writing as soon as reasonably
practicable'32. See paragraph 263 for further information about how
to report breaches.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 244

126

The reference to a

legal duty is to a duty
imposed by, or by virtue
of, an enactment or rule
of law (s70(2)(a) of the
Pensions Act 2004).

127
Section 70(2) of the
Pensions Act 2004.

128

The legal requirement
to report breaches of
the law under section
70(1)(a) is imposed

on the 'managers’ of
a scheme, which the
regulator generally
takes to be the ‘'scheme
manager’ identified in
scheme regulations in
accordance with the
2013 Act.

129
As defined in s318 of the
Pensions Act 2004.

130
As defined in s47 of the
Pensions Act 1995.

131
Section 70(1) of the
Pensions Act 2004.

132
Section 70(2), ibid.



Resolving issues

Practical guidance

244,

Schemes'33 should be satisfied that those responsible for reporting
breaches are made aware of the legal requirements and this
guidance. Schemes should provide training for scheme managers
and pension board members. All others under the statutory duty
to report should ensure they have a sufficient level of knowledge
and understanding to fulfil that duty. This means having sufficient
familiarity with the legal requirements and procedures and
processes for reporting.

Implementing adequate procedures

245.

246.

Identifying and assessing a breach of the law is important

in reducing risk and providing an early warning of possible
malpractice in public service pension schemes. Those people with a
responsibility to report breaches, including scheme managers and
pension board members, should establish and operate appropriate
and effective procedures to ensure that they are able to meet

their legal obligations. Procedures should enable people to raise
concerns and facilitate the objective consideration of those matters.
It is important that procedures allow reporters to decide within an
appropriate timescale whether they must report a breach. Reporters
should not rely on waiting for others to report.

Procedures should include the following features:

®  aprocess for obtaining clarification of the law around the
suspected breach where needed

®  aprocess for clarifying the facts around the suspected breach
where they are not known

®  aprocess for consideration of the material significance of the
breach by taking into account its cause, effect, the reaction
to it, and its wider implications, including (where appropriate)
dialogue with the scheme manager or pension board

®  aclear process for referral to the appropriate level of seniority
at which decisions can be made on whether to report to the
regulator

®  an established procedure for dealing with difficult cases

® atimeframe for the procedure to take place that is appropriate
to the breach and allows the report to be made as soon as
reasonably practicable

®  asystem to record breaches even if they are not reported to
the regulator (the record of past breaches may be relevant in
deciding whether to report future breaches, for example it may

.. 133
reveal a systemic issue), and

See paragraph 25
for the definition of

®  aprocess for identifying promptly any breaches that are so ‘schemes’

serious they must always be reported.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 245



Resolving issues

Judging whether a breach must be reported

247.

Breaches can occur in relation to a wide variety of the tasks normally
associated with the administrative function of a scheme such as
keeping records, internal controls, calculating benefits and, for
funded pension schemes, making investment or investment-related
decisions.

Judging whether there is ‘reasonable cause’

248.

249.

250.

251.

252.

Having ‘reasonable cause’ to believe that a breach has occurred
means more than merely having a suspicion that cannot be
substantiated.

Reporters should ensure that where a breach is suspected, they
carry out checks to establish whether or not a breach has in fact
occurred. For example, a member of a funded pension scheme may
allege that there has been a misappropriation of scheme assets
where they have seen in the annual accounts that the scheme'’s
assets have fallen. However, the real reason for the apparent loss

in value of scheme assets may be due to the behaviour of the

stock market over the period. This would mean that there is not
reasonable cause to believe that a breach has occurred.

Where the reporter does not know the facts or events around the
suspected breach, it will usually be appropriate to check with the
pension board or scheme manager or with others who are in a
position to confirm what has happened. It would not be appropriate
to check in cases of theft, suspected fraud or other serious

offences where discussions might alert those implicated or impede
the actions of the police or a regulatory authority. Under these
circumstances the reporter should alert the regulator without delay.

If the reporter is unclear about the relevant legal provision, they
should clarify their understanding of the law to the extent necessary
to form a view.

In establishing whether there is reasonable cause to believe that a
breach has occurred, it is not necessary for a reporter to gather all
the evidence which the regulator may require before taking legal
action. A delay in reporting may exacerbate or increase the risk of
the breach.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 246



Resolving issues

Judging what is of ‘material significance’ to the regulator

253.

254.

In deciding whether a breach is likely to be of ‘material significance’
to the regulator. It would be advisable for those with a statutory
duty to report to consider the:

e cause of the breach

e effect of the breach

®  reaction to the breach, and

e wider implications of the breach.

When deciding whether to report, those responsible should
consider these points together. Reporters should take into account
expert or professional advice, where appropriate, when deciding
whether the breach is likely to be of material significance to the
regulator.

Cause of the breach

255.

The breach is likely to be of material significance to the regulator
where it was caused by:

e dishonesty

®  poor governance or administration

e slow or inappropriate decision making practices
e incomplete or inaccurate advice, or

e acting (or failing to act) in deliberate contravention of the law.

256. When deciding whether a breach is of material significance, those

257.

responsible should consider other reported and unreported
breaches of which they are aware. However, historical information
should be considered with care, particularly if changes have been
made to address previously identified problems.

A breach will not normally be materially significant if it has arisen
from an isolated incident, for example resulting from teething
problems with a new system or procedure, or from an unusual or
unpredictable combination of circumstances. But in such a situation,
it is also important to consider other aspects of the breach such

as the effect it has had and to be aware that persistent isolated
breaches could be indicative of wider scheme issues.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 247



Resolving issues

Effect of the breach

258. Reporters need to consider the effects of any breach, but with the
regulator’s role in relation to public service pension schemes and
its statutory objectives in mind, the following matters in particular
should be considered likely to be of material significance to the
regulator:

pension board members not having the appropriate degree
of knowledge and understanding, which may result in pension
boards not fulfilling their roles, the scheme not being properly
governed and administered and/or scheme managers
breaching other legal requirements

pension board members having a conflict of interest, which

may result in them being prejudiced in the way that they carry
out their role, ineffective governance and administration of the
scheme and/or scheme managers breaching legal requirements

adequate internal controls not being established and operated,
which may lead to schemes not being run in accordance with
their scheme regulations and other legal requirements, risks not
being properly identified and managed and/or the right money
not being paid to or by the scheme at the right time

accurate information about benefits and scheme administration
not being provided to scheme members and others, which may
result in members not being able to effectively plan or make
decisions about their retirement

appropriate records not being maintained, which may result in
member benefits being calculated incorrectly and/or not being
paid to the right person at the right time

pension board members misappropriating any assets of the
scheme or being likely to do so, which may result in scheme
assets not being safeguarded, and

any other breach which may result in the scheme being poorly
governed, managed or administered.

259. Reporters need to take care to consider the effects of the breach,
including any other breaches occurring as a result of the initial
breach and the effects of those resulting breaches.

Reaction to the breach

260. Where prompt and effective action is taken to investigate and
correct the breach and its causes and, where appropriate, notify any
affected members, the regulator will not normally consider this to
be materially significant.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 248



Resolving issues

261. A breach is likely to be of concern and material significance to the
regulator where a breach has been identified and those involved:

® do not take prompt and effective action to remedy the breach
and identify and tackle its cause in order to minimise risk of
recurrence

e  are not pursuing corrective action to a proper conclusion, or
e fail to notify affected scheme members where it would have

been appropriate to do so.

Wider implications of the breach

262. Reporters should consider the wider implications of a breach when
they assess which breaches are likely to be materially significant
to the regulator. For example, a breach is likely to be of material
significance where the fact that the breach has occurred makes it
appear more likely that other breaches will emerge in the future. This
may be due to the scheme manager or pension board members
having a lack of appropriate knowledge and understanding to
fulfil their responsibilities or where other pension schemes may be
affected. For instance, public service pension schemes administered
by the same organisation may be detrimentally affected where a
system failure has caused the breach to occur.

Submitting a report to the regulator

263. Reports must be submitted in writing and can be sent by post
or electronically, including by email or by fax. Wherever possible
reporters should use the standard format available via the Exchange
online service on the regulator’s website.

264. The report should be dated and include as a minimum:
e full name of the scheme
e  description of the breach or breaches
e any relevant dates
® name of the employer or scheme manager (where known)
®* name, position and contact details of the reporter, and
® role of the reporter in relation to the scheme.
265. Additional information that would help the regulator includes:

® the reason the breach is thought to be of material significance
to the regulator

e  the address of the scheme

e the contact details of the scheme manager (if different to the
scheme address)

* the pension scheme’s registry number (if available), and

e whether the concern has been reported before.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 249



Resolving issues

266.

267.

268.

269.

270.

271.

Reporters should mark urgent reports as such and draw attention
to matters they consider particularly serious. They can precede a
written report with a telephone call, if appropriate.

Reporters should ensure they receive an acknowledgement for
any report they send to the regulator. Only when they receive an
acknowledgement can the reporter be confident that the regulator
has received their report.

The regulator will acknowledge all reports within five working days
of receipt, however it will not generally keep a reporter informed
of the steps taken in response to a report of a breach as there are
restrictions on the information it can disclose.

The reporter should provide further information or reports of further
breaches if this may help the regulator to exercise its functions. The
regulator may make contact to request further information.

Breaches should be reported as soon as reasonably practicable,
which will depend on the circumstances. In particular, the time taken
should reflect the seriousness of the suspected breach.

In cases of immediate risk to the scheme, for instance, where there
is any indication of dishonesty, the regulator does not expect
reporters to seek an explanation or to assess the effectiveness

of proposed remedies. They should only make such immediate
checks as are necessary. The more serious the potential breach and
its consequences, the more urgently reporters should make these
necessary checks. In cases of potential dishonesty the reporter
should avoid, where possible, checks which might alert those
implicated. In serious cases, reporters should use the quickest
means possible to alert the regulator to the breach.

Whistleblowing protection and confidentiality

272.

273.

The Pensions Act 2004 makes clear that the statutory duty to
report overrides any other duties a reporter may have such as
confidentiality and that any such duty is not breached by making a
report. The regulator understands the potential impact of a report
on relationships, for example, between an employee and their
employer.

The statutory duty to report does not, however, override ‘legal
privilege'13*. This means that oral and written communications
between a professional legal adviser and their client, or a person
representing that client, while obtaining legal advice, do not have
to be disclosed. Where appropriate a legal adviser will be able to
provide further information on this.
134

Section 311 of the
Pensions Act 2004.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 250



Resolving issues

274. The regulator will do its best to protect a reporter’s identity (if

275.

desired) and will not disclose the information except where lawfully
required to do so. It will take all reasonable steps to maintain
confidentiality, but it cannot give any categorical assurances as the
circumstances may mean that disclosure of the reporter’s identity
becomes unavoidable in law. This includes circumstances where the
regulator is ordered by a court to disclose it.

The Employment Rights Act 1996 (ERA) provides protection for
employees making a whistleblowing disclosure to the regulator.
Consequently, where individuals employed by firms or another
organisation having a statutory duty to report disagree with a
decision not to report to the regulator, they may have protection
under the ERA if they make an individual report in good faith. The
regulator expects such individual reports to be rare and confined to
the most serious cases.

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 251



Appendix

Corresponding Northern Ireland legislation

GB legislation

NI legislation

Pension Schemes Act 1993 (c. 48)

- Chapter 1 of Part 4
- section 113

Pension Schemes (Northern Ireland) Act 1993
(c. 49)

- Chapter 1 of Part 4

- section 109

Pensions Act 1995 (c. 26)

- section 47
- section 49
- section 50
- section 50B
- section 87

Pensions (Northern Ireland) Order 1995 (S|
1995/3213 (NI 22))

- Article 47

- Article 49

- Article 50

- Article 50B

- Article 85

Employment Rights Act 1996 (c. 18)

Employment Rights (Northern Ireland) Order
1996 (SI 1996/1919 (NI 16))

Data Protection Act 1998 (c. 29)

Data Protection Act 1998 (c. 29)

Freedom of Information Act 2000 (c.36)

Freedom of Information Act 2000 (c.36)

Pensions Act 2004 (c. 35)

- section 5

- section 13

- section 70

- section 70A
- section 90A
- Part 3

- section 227

- section 248

- section 248A
- section 249A
- section 249B
- section 311

- section 318

Pensions (Northern Ireland) Order 2005 (S
2005/255 (NI 1))

- Article 4

- Article 9

- Article 65

- Article 65A
- Article 85A
-Part4

- Article 206

- Article 225

- Article 225A
- Article 226A
- Article 226B
- Article 283

- Article 2

Pensions Act 2008 (c. 30)

Pensions (No. 2) Act (Northern Ireland) 2008
(c. 13)

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes

Page 252




Appendix

GB legislation

NI legislation

Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (c. 25)

- section 1

- section 2

- section 3

- section 4

- section 5

- section 6

- section 7/

- section 14
- section 15
- section 16
- section 28
- section 30
- Schedule 2
- Schedule 3

Public Service Pensions Act (Northern Ireland)
2014 (c. 2)

- section 1

- section 2

- section 3

- section 4

- section 5

- section 6

- section 7/

- section 14
- section 15
- section 16
- section 28
- section 31
- Schedule 2
- Schedule 3

Occupational Pension Schemes (Managers)
Regulations 1986 (SI 1986/1718)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Managers)
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1986 (SR 1986
No. 320)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Contracting-
out) Regulations 1996 (SI 1996/1172)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Contracting-
out) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1996 (SR
1996 No. 493)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Scheme
Administration) Regulations 1996 (SI
1996/1715)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Scheme
Administration) Regulations (Northern Ireland)
1997 (SR 1997 No. 94)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer
Values) Regulations 1996 (SI 1996/1847)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer
Values) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1996 (SR
1996 No. 619)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Winding up
etc.) Regulations 2005 (S 2005/706)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Winding up,
etc.) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2005 (SR
2005 No. 171)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Scheme
Funding) Regulations 2005 (SI 2005/3377)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Scheme
Funding) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2005
(SR 2005 No. 568)

Registered Pension Schemes (Provision of
Information) Regulations 2006 (SI 2006/567)

Registered Pension Schemes (Provision of
Information) Regulations 2006 (SI 2006/567)

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 253



Appendix

GB legislation

NI legislation

Occupational Pension Schemes (Internal
Dispute Resolution Procedures Consequential
and Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations
2008 (S 2008/649)

Occupational Pension Schemes (Internal
Dispute Resolution Procedures Consequential
and Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations
(Northern Ireland) 2008 (SR 2008 No. 116)

Employers’ Duties (Registration and
Compliance) Regulations 2010 (SI 2010/5)

Employers’ Duties (Registration and
Compliance) Regulations (Northern Ireland)
2010 (SR 2010 No. 186)

Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes
(Automatic Enrolment) Regulations 2010 (SI
2010/772)

Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes
(Automatic Enrolment) Regulations (Northern
Ireland) 2010 (SR 2010 No. 122)

Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes
(Disclosure of Information) Regulations 2013 (SI
2013/2734)

Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes
(Disclosure of Information) Regulations
(Northern Ireland) 2014 (SR 2014 No. 79)

Public Service Pensions (Record Keeping and
Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2014

Public Service Pensions (Record Keeping and
Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations
(Northern Ireland) 2014

Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes @

Page 254



How to contact us

Napier House
Trafalgar Place
Brighton
BN14DW

T 0845 600 0707
F 08702411144
E customersupport@thepensionsregulator.gov.uk

www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk

Page 255

The Pensions
Regulator


www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk
mailto:customersupport@thepensionsregulator.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 16

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 257



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 261



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 18

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 309



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	8 Grant Thornton - Shropshire County Pension Fund Audit Plan 2016/17 and Audit Risk Assessment for the Shropshire County Pension Fund 2016/17
	Informing the Audit Risk Assessment - Shropshire County Pension Fund 2016-17 (PDF)

	9 Funding Strategy Statement
	Appendix A FSS Final

	10 Investment Strategy Statement
	Appendix A ISS Final

	11 Pension Fund Treasury Strategy 2017-18
	170317 Pension Fund Spec Investments Appendix A

	12 Schedule of Committee and Other Meetings 2017/18
	Appendix A Schedule of Meetings 2017-18

	13 Corporate Governance Monitoring
	Manager Voting (Oct-Dec 16) Appendix A
	REO Activity Report (Oct-Dec 16) Appendix B

	14 Pensions Administration Monitoring report
	17.03.17 Admin Appendix A
	17.03.17 Admin Appendix B
	17.03.17 Admin Appendix C Pensions Regulators Code of Practice 14
	Code of practice no. 14 Governance and administration of public service pension schemes
	Contents
	Introduction
	Status of codes of practice
	This code of practice
	At whom is this code directed?
	Terms used in this code
	How to use this code
	Northern Ireland

	Governing your scheme
	Knowledge and understanding required by pension board members
	Legal requirements
	Practical guidance
	Areas of knowledge and understanding required
	Degree of knowledge and understanding required
	Acquiring, reviewing and updating knowledge and understanding
	Demonstrating knowledge and understanding


	Conflicts of interest and representation
	Legal requirements
	Practical guidance
	A three-stage approach to managing potential conflicts of interest
	Identifying potential conflicts
	Monitoring potential conflicts
	Managing potential conflicts
	Examples of conflicts of interest

	Representation on pension boards

	Publishing information about schemes
	Legal requirements
	Practical guidance
	Publication of pension board information

	Other legal requirements


	Managing risks
	Internal controls
	Legal requirements
	Practical guidance
	Identifying risks
	Evaluating risks and establishing adequate internal controls
	Managing risks by operating internal controls
	Monitoring controls effectively
	Outsourcing services



	Administration
	Scheme record-keeping
	Legal requirements
	Practical guidance
	Records of member information
	Records of transactions
	Records of pension board meetings and decisions
	Retention of scheme records
	Ongoing monitoring of data
	Data review exercise
	Data improvement plan
	Reconciliation of member records
	Data protection and internal controls

	Other legal requirements

	Maintaining contributions
	Legal requirements
	Practical guidance
	Developing a record for monitoring the payment of contributions
	Monitoring the payment of contributions
	Managing overdue contributions
	Reporting payment failures which are likely to be of material significance to the regulator


	Providing information to members
	Legal requirements
	Benefit statements
	For active members of DB schemes under the 2013 Act
	For active, deferred or pension credit members of any DB public service pension scheme under the Disclosure Regulations 2013
	For members of a DC public service pension scheme under the Disclosure Regulations 2013

	Other information about scheme administration
	Who is entitled to information
	When basic scheme information must be provided
	What information must be disclosed on request
	How benefit statements and other information must be provided

	Practical guidance
	Other legal requirements


	Resolving issues
	Internal dispute resolution
	Legal requirements
	Practical guidance
	When applications should be submitted
	When decisions should be taken
	When applicants should be informed of a decision
	Implementing the procedure and processes


	Reporting breaches of the law
	Legal requirements
	Practical guidance
	Implementing adequate procedures
	Judging whether a breach must be reported
	Judging whether there is ‘reasonable cause’
	Judging what is of ‘material significance’ to the regulator
	Cause of the breach
	Effect of the breach
	Reaction to the breach
	Wider implications of the breach

	Submitting a report to the regulator
	Whistleblowing protection and confidentiality



	Appendix
	How to contact us



	16 Exempt Minutes (Exempted by Categories 2 and 3)
	17 Investment Monitoring Report (Exempted by Category 3)
	Appendix A Investment Monitoring Report Dec 16
	Appendix B Manager Questions - Investec

	18 Record of Breaches (Exempted by Category 3)
	17.03.17 Breaches Log Oct 16 - Dec 16




